**University of Alberta** 

## MOLECULAR MECHANISMS MEDIATING LY49 SPECIFICITY FOR CLASS I MAJOR HISTOCOMPATIBILITY MOLECULES

by



**KERRY JO LAVENDER** 

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of **DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY** 

in

## IMMUNOLOGY

## DEPARTMENT OF MEDICAL MICROBIOLOGY AND IMMUNOLOGY

Edmonton, Alberta

Spring 2007

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.



Library and Archives Canada

Published Heritage Branch

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque et Archives Canada

Direction du Patrimoine de l'édition

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

> Your file Votre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-29704-9 Our file Notre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-29704-9

## NOTICE:

The author has granted a nonexclusive license allowing Library and Archives Canada to reproduce, publish, archive, preserve, conserve, communicate to the public by telecommunication or on the Internet, loan, distribute and sell theses worldwide, for commercial or noncommercial purposes, in microform, paper, electronic and/or any other formats.

The author retains copyright ownership and moral rights in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission.

## AVIS:

L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque et Archives Canada de reproduire, publier, archiver, sauvegarder, conserver, transmettre au public par télécommunication ou par l'Internet, prêter, distribuer et vendre des thèses partout dans le monde, à des fins commerciales ou autres, sur support microforme, papier, électronique et/ou autres formats.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur et des droits moraux qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

In compliance with the Canadian Privacy Act some supporting forms may have been removed from this thesis.

While these forms may be included in the document page count, their removal does not represent any loss of content from the thesis. Conformément à la loi canadienne sur la protection de la vie privée, quelques formulaires secondaires ont été enlevés de cette thèse.

Bien que ces formulaires aient inclus dans la pagination, il n'y aura aucun contenu manquant.





To all of you who participated in and brought light to the adventure ...

#### ABSTRACT

Murine Ly49 receptors exhibit allele specific recognition for their polymorphic MHC I ligands. However, the site of interaction on MHC I consists of highly conserved solvent exposed amino acids in both rat and mouse alleles, leaving it unclear how allele specificity occurs. We identify a rat classical MHC I molecule, RT1-A1<sup>c</sup>, as a xenogeneic ligand for the mouse inhibitory Ly49G and activating Ly49W receptors that allows us to identify motifs conserved between these two species that mediate xeno-recognition. The motif shared between ligands for Ly49G, W and the rat inhibitory receptor Ly49i2, which is the syngeneic receptor for RT1-A1<sup>c</sup>, is a common supertype. MHC I molecules typically belong to one of about nine or ten different supertypes defined by the residues in the bound peptide that act to anchor the peptide into specific pockets of the MHC I peptide-binding groove. Through mutagenesis, we show that the supertype-defining Bpocket of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> specifically influences recognition by syngeneic and xenogeneic Ly49. Our findings suggest that the supertype-defining B-pocket dictates the conformation of conserved solvent exposed residues at the Ly49 interaction site below both directly and through the binding of specific peptide anchor residues. Additional mutagenesis studies indicate that both rat and mouse Ly49/MHC I allele combinations rely on solvent exposed residues at three site 2 subsites. These include conserved interactions with residues below the more conserved anchor binding F-pocket as well as differential interactions with residues below the polymorphic anchor binding B-pocket and with residues in the  $\alpha$ 3 domain of MHC I. These mutagenesis studies demonstrate that both rat and mouse Ly49 interact at site 2 of MHC I and allow us to propose a

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

comprehensive model for how polymorphic Ly49 mediate allele specificity for MHC I at a highly conserved interaction site based on supertype defined conformations that are shared across divergent species. This may allow NK cells to sense whether expression of specific MHC I supertypes capable of antigen presentation to T cells are expressed, and if lacking, would target a cell for elimination, suggesting a supertype-mediated link between innate and adaptive immunity.

## **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

## CHAPTER

## PAGE

## I. INTRODUCTION

A. NK Cells and Their Function	1
B. NK Cell Receptors and Their Ligands	4
Receptors of the LRC	4
Receptors of the NKC	6
C. The Murine Ly49 Receptor Repertoire	8
D. Class I MHC	
E. Allele Specific Ly49 Recognition of Class I MHC	
F. Background and Rationale	
G. References	

# II. THE RAT RT1-A1<sup>C</sup> MHC MOLECULE IS A XENOGENEIC LIGAND RECOGNIZED BY THE MOUSE ACTIVATING LY-49W AND INHIBITORY LY-49G RECEPTORS

A. Introduction	
B. Materials and Methods	
Animals	
Hybridomas and antibodies	
Cell lines	
Mutagenesis of Ly-49W and Ly-49P	53
RNA preparation and cDNA synthesis	
Generation of YB2/0 target cells expressing rat class I MHC-	EGFP
fusion proteins	
Flow cytometric analysis	
Generation of Con A T cell blasts	
Cytotoxicity assays	

C.	Resul	lts
----	-------	-----

Con A blasts from the PVG rat strain are recognized by Ly-49W and the	
ectodomain of the BALB/c allele of Ly-49G	55
RT1 <sup>av1/c</sup> intra-MHC recombinants identify the classical class I region of the	
$RT1^{c}$ haplotype as essential for recognition by Ly-49W and Ly-49WG <sup>BALB/c</sup>	57
The classical rat class I MHC molecule, RT1-A1 <sup>c</sup> , is a xenogeneic ligand for	
the murine Ly-49W and Ly-49G <sup>BALB/c</sup> receptors	58
Mutagenesis of Ly-49P $\beta$ 4- $\beta$ 5 loop residues to corresponding residues of	
Ly-49W and Ly-49 $G^{BALB/c}$ receptors confers specificity for a ligand in the	
PVG rat	60
D. Discussion	61
E. Acknowledgements	66
F. Author Contribution to Data	66
G. References	76
III. CROSS-SPECIES DEPENDENCE OF LY49 RECOGNITION ON THE	
SUPERTYPE DEFINING B-POCKET OF A CLASS I MHC MOLECULE	
A. Introduction	84
B. Materials And Methods	
Hybridomas and monoclonal antibodies	86
Cell lines	86
Cloning and transfection of Ly49i2	87
Mutagenesis of RT1-A1 <sup>c</sup>	87
Flow cytometric analysis	87
Cytotoxicity assays	88
Peptide elutions	88
C. Results	
RT1-A1 <sup>c</sup> recognition by a syngeneic rat inhibitory receptor and xenogeneic	
mouse inhibitory and activating receptors expressed on RNK-16 cells	89
Xenogeneic mouse and syngeneic rat Ly49 recognition of RT1-A1 <sup>c</sup> follows	
a pattern similar to mouse syngeneic recognition	90

Xenogeneic and syngeneic Ly49 recognition is sensitive to changes in $B$ -	
pocket residues of RT1-A1 <sup>c</sup>	91
Xenogeneic and syngeneic recognition of RT1-A1 <sup>c</sup> is not sensitive to	
alterations of non B-pocket residues along the length of the peptide-	
binding groove	93
B-pocket mutants that disrupt syngeneic recognition are loaded with fewer	
peptides having proline at P2 while xenogeneic recognition can be disrupted	
without a change in P2 preference	94
D. Discussion	95
E. Acknowledgments	102
F. Author Contribution to Data	102
G. References	109

# IV. RAT AND MOUSE LY49 RECEPTORS USE VARIABLE RESIDUES AT THREE SUBSITES AT SITE 2 FOR ALLELE SPECIFIC RECOGNITION OF CLASS I MHC MOLECULES

A. Introduction	115
B. Materials and Methods	
Hybridomas and monoclonal antibodies	118
Cell lines	118
Cloning and transfection of Ly49i2	118
Mutagenesis of MHC I	119
Flow cytometric analysis	119
Cytotoxicity Assays	120
C. Results	
Ly49G recognition of $H$ -2D <sup>d</sup> is disrupted by mutagenesis of single residues	
articulating with anchor binding pockets at subsite B whereas Ly49i2	
recognition of RT1-A1 <sup>c</sup> is unaffected	120
Ly49i2 and Ly49G both exhibit sensitivity to alterations in solvent exposed	
residues below and articulating with the F-pockets of RT1-A1 <sup>c</sup> and H-2D <sup>d</sup>	
at subsite F	123

completely abolish Ly49G recognition of H-2D <sup>d</sup> , whereas Ly49i2 recognition of RT1-A1 <sup>c</sup> is relatively unaffected	
of RT1-A1 <sup>c</sup> is relatively unaffected	
	24
Ly49i2 recognition of RT1-A1 <sup>c</sup> is sensitive to combined alanine mutations at	
two different subsites	25
Ly49i2 recognition of RT1-A1 <sup>c</sup> is sensitive to double alanine mutations at	
each individual subsite	26
D. Discussion	28
E. Acknowledgments	37
F. Author Contribution to Data	37
G. References	48

# **V. DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION**

A. Summary of Contributions	155
B. Xeno-transplantation	158
C. Orphan Ly49 Receptors	161
Viral Ligands	161
Rat Ly49 Ligands	
D. Convergent Evolution	
Ly49 Receptor Surveillance and CTL Function	165
Functional Divergence in Rodents	169
E. Future Directions	
Xeno-transplantation Studies	
Peptide Loading Studies	
Rat Studies	
F. Conclusion	
G. References	

## LIST OF TABLES

Table	Description	Page
3-1	P2 residues of peptides eluted from wild-type and mutant RT1-A1 <sup>c</sup>	
	molecules	108

## LIST OF FIGURES

Figure	Description	Page
1-1	NK cell receptor genes in the LRC and NKC of human, mouse and rat	22
1-2	Activating and inhibitory Ly49 structure and signaling pathways	23
1-3	Comparison of the human, mouse and rat MHC Complexes	24
1-4	Crystal structures depicting the H-2D <sup>d</sup> MHC I molecule and its association	
	at two distinct sites with Ly49A	25
2-1	Xenogeneic recognition of Con A blasts from the PVG rat strain by the mouse	e
	Ly-49W activating receptor and Ly-49WG <sup>BALB/c</sup> activating chimera	67
2-2	The rat major histocompatibility complex and haplotypes of selected rat	
	strains	68
2-3	Lysis of $RT1^{av1/c}$ intra-MHC recombinant targets identifies the classical class	
	I region of the RT1 <sup>c</sup> haplotype as essential for recognition by Ly-49W and	
	Ly-49WG <sup>BALB/c</sup>	69
2-4	Expression of rat MHC-EGFP fusion proteins on transfected rat YB2/0 cells.	70
2-5	Ly-49W and the Ly-49WG <sup>BALB/c</sup> chimera recognize RT1-A1 <sup>c</sup> , a classical	
	class I MHC molecule from the PVG rat strain	71
2-6	The inhibitory Ly-49G <sup>BALB/c</sup> receptor recognizes RT1-A1 <sup>c</sup>	72
2-7	Mutagenesis of the Ly-49P $\beta4\text{-}\beta5$ loop to express the Ly-49W motif DCGK	
	confers specificity for a ligand in the PVG rat strain	73
2-8	The Ly-49P and Ly-49W $\beta$ 4- $\beta$ 5 loop mutants recognize RT1-A <sup>c</sup> encoded	
	ligand(s)	74
2-9	Dendrogram comparing the nucleotide sequences of five known and ten	
	predicted rat Ly-49 receptors to eight mouse Ly-49 receptors	75
3-1	The rat classical class I MHC molecule, RT1-A1 <sup>c</sup> , is a xenogeneic ligand for	
	mouse Ly49G <sup>BALB/c</sup> and Ly49W and a syngeneic ligand for Ly49i2	103
3-2	Xenogeneic and syngeneic Ly49 recognition of RT1-A1 <sup>c</sup> is at site 2	104

3-3	Xenogeneic and syngeneic Ly49 recognition of RT1-A1 <sup>c</sup> is sensitive to
	alterations in the anchor residue binding B-pocket of the MHC I molecule 105
3-4	Xenogeneic and syngeneic Ly49 recognition of RT1-A1 <sup>c</sup> is not sensitive to
	alterations in the peptide-binding groove outside of the anchor binding B-
	pocket of the MHC I molecule
3-5	Alterations in the polymorphic and supertype defining B-pocket of RT1-A1 <sup>c</sup>
	disrupts interaction with Ly49 receptors, possibly by altering the conformation
	of solvent exposed residues at site 2107
4-1	Designation of site 2 subsites and MHC I recognition by Ly49i2 and
	Ly49G138
4-2	Mutagenesis of single residues at three MHC I subsites differentially effect
	Ly49i2 and Ly49G recognition of their ligands
4-3	Ly49i2 recognition of RT1-A1 <sup>c</sup> is unaffected by single B-subsite mutants
	whereas Ly49G recognition of $H-2D^d$ is disrupted by single mutants beneath
	the anchor binding B- and C-pockets at the B-subsite140
4-4	Single residue mutagenesis at the F-subsite completely disrupts Ly49G
	recognition of H-2D <sup>d</sup> and partially disrupts Ly49i2 recognition of RT1-A1 <sup>c</sup>
	when at residue D122141
4-5	RT1-A1 <sup>c</sup> recognition by Ly49i2 is relatively unaffected by single C-subsite
	mutations, while Ly49G recognition of H-2D <sup>d</sup> is sensitive to specific C-subsite
	point mutations142
4-6	Recognition of RT1-A1 <sup>c</sup> by Ly49i2 is completely disrupted by combined
	mutations at any two subsites
4-7	Ly49i2 recognition of RT1-A1 <sup>c</sup> relies on each individual subsite at site 2,
	relying on a Ly49A/C hybrid-type residue usage at the C-subsite
4-8	Double mutants at each subsite show that Ly49i2 recognition of RT1-A1 <sup>c</sup> is
	completely dependent on subsite-F, less so on residues at the B-subsite and
	occurs in a unique manner at the C-subsite

4-9	Location of key residues discussed in this study that were previously	
	identified as mediating recognition in the Ly49A/H-2D <sup>d</sup> and Ly49C/H-2K <sup>b</sup>	
	co-crystals	.146
4-10	Polymorphisms in the anchor binding pocket(s) of MHC I may affect Ly49	
	recognition through conformational changes in solvent exposed residues	
	that articulate simultaneously with the anchor binding pocket(s) of MHC I	
	and with conserved $\beta$ 2m residues that affect its orientation on MHC I	. 147

5-1	Cartoon depiction of how conformational changes in the $\alpha 1 \alpha 2$ domains,
	particularly in the supertype-defining B-pocket, may alter MHC I recognition
	by allele specific Ly49 at a highly conserved interaction site
5-2	Creation of xenogeneic mixed chimeras177
5-3	T cell receptor (TCR) interaction with MHC I178

## LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

ADCC	antibody dependent cellular cytotoxicity
AICL	activation induced C-type lectin
AIDS	acquired immunodeficiency syndrome
ALC	allogeneic lymphocyte cytotoxicity
APC	antigen presenting cell
β2m	beta-2 microglobulin
CD	cluster of differentiation
cDNA	complementary deoxyribonucleic acid
CDR	complimentarity determining region
CHO	Chinese hamster ovary cells
Clr	C-type lectin related molecule
CMV	cytomegalovirus
ConA	concavalin A
<sup>51</sup> Cr	Na <sup>51</sup> CrO <sub>4</sub>
CRD	carbohydrate recognition domain
CTL	cytotoxic T lymphocyte
CTL D	C type lectin like domain
DC	dendritic cell
EGFP	enhanced green fluorescent protein
E:T`	effector to target cell ratio
FACS	fluorescence activated cell sorter
FasL	Fas ligand
FCS	foetal calf serum
FITC	fluorescein isothiocyanate
G-CSF	granulocyte-colony stimulating factor
GM-CSF	granulocyte macrophage-colony stimulating factor
GVHD	graft versus host disease
GvL	graft versus leukemia
HCMV	human cytomegalovirus
HLA	human leukocyte antigen
HSC	haematopoietic stem cells
HSCT	haematopoietic stem cell transplantation
IFN	interferon
Ig	immunoglobulin

IL	interleukin
ILT2	immunoglobulin-like transcript-2
ITIM	immuno-receptor tyrosine based inhibitory motif
ITAM	immuno-receptor tyrosine based activation motif
KIR	killer cell immunoglobulin-like receptor
KLRF	killer cell lectin-like recentor
LAIR	leukocyte-associated immunoglobulin-like receptor
LILR	leukocyte immunoglobulin-like receptor
LLT1	lectin-like transcript-1
LRC	leukocyte receptor complex
LTα	lymphotoxin-a
MCMV	murine cytomegalovirus
M-CSF	macrophage-colony stimulating factor
MHC	major histocompatibility complex
MHC I	class I MHC
MIP-1	macrophage inflammatory protein-1
mRNA	messenger ribonucleic acid
NCD	natural autotovicity recentor
NUC	natural killer gang complex
NKC	natural killer collipiex
NA CEII	
NOD	nonobese diabetic
NOR	non-odese resistant
PIR	paired immunoglobulin-like receptor
rADCC	reverse antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity
Rae-1	retinoic acid early-1 protein
RANTES	regulated upon activation, normal T cell expressed and secreted
SHIP	SH2 domain containing inositol-5 phosphatase
SHP	src homology 2 domain-containing tyrosine phosphatase
ТАР	transporter for antigen presentation
TBI	total body irradiation
TCP	T cell recentor
TI	thymic irradiation
TNF	tumor necrosis factor
ΤΡΔΠ	tumor necrosis factor-related apontosis_inducing ligand
	tamor necrosis ractor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand
ULBP	UL16 binding protein

### **CHAPTER I**

#### **INTRODUCTION**

#### **A. NK Cells and Their Function**

Natural killer cells (NK cells) are large granular lymphocytes (1) that, along with cells of the myeloid lineage such as monocytes/macrophages, dendritic cells (DC) and granulocytes, participate in mediating innate immune responses. In contrast to B and T lymphocytes, the mediators of adaptive immunity, NK cells can mediate spontaneous effector functions without prior antigen sensitization, do not undergo genetic rearrangement and somatic mutation of their recognition receptors and do not display memory for antigen. Developed in the bone marrow (2, 3), mature NK cells make up approximately 5-20% of peripheral lymphocytes in the spleen, liver and peripheral blood and are also found in smaller proportions in the thymus, lymph nodes and bone marrow (4). They function as killers, cytokine producers and regulators of adaptive immunity (5).

NK cell killing occurs via two main cytolytic pathways, either granule exocytosis (6) or through the activation of death receptors (7-9). The cytotoxic granules within NK cells contain perforin and a family of serine proteases known as granzymes, which are released by an attacking NK cell and act respectively to disrupt the cell membrane and to induce apoptosis of an engaged target cell (10). Death receptors on NK cells include Fas ligand (FasL), tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL) and lymphotoxin- $\alpha$  (LT $\alpha$ ) (7-9), with some receptors, such as TRAIL, being found primarily on certain NK subsets or upon NK activation by cytokines such as IL-15 and IFN $\gamma$  (7). These receptors trigger apoptosis of target cells upon engagement with ligands containing cytoplasmic death domains and have important functions, including the control of tumor growth (11).

Cytokines and chemokines also have an essential role in NK effector functions. NK cells secrete GM-CSF, G-CSF, M-CSF, TNF $\alpha$ , IL-5, IL-10, IL-13, IFN $\gamma$ , (12) and numerous chemokines including MIP-1 and RANTES (13) in the regulation of hematopoiesis, tumor growth, inflammation, viral responses, and in priming effectors important for adaptive immunity. Equally, NK cells respond to a myriad of cytokines

1

including IL-2, IL-12, IL-15, IL-18, IL-21, and type I interferons affecting their development, activation, cytokine secretion, cytotoxicity and proliferation (4). In particular, NK cell responses are enhanced by interactions with DC, which present antigen to T cells in adaptive immunity, responding optimally upon DC stimulation through a combination of soluble mediators and cell-to-cell contact. This "cross-talk" between NK cells and DC is reciprocal with NK cells playing an important role in the regulation of DC function, by facilitating DC maturation when the NK to DC ratio is low and eliminating immature DC in situations where the NK to DC ratio is high, likely through the engagement of death receptors on the NK cell (14). In this fashion, NK cells not only play an important role in directly mediating innate effector responses but also are intrinsic to the regulation and development of adaptive immunity.

NK cells were first recognized for their ability to lyse leukaemia cells without prior activation (15) and are vital to tumour control through their ability to respond to cells with either abnormal class I major histocompatibility (MHC I) molecule expression (16) or "stress ligand" expression (17) associated with cellular transformation. NK depletion experiments have highlighted the importance of NK cells in tumour control (18, 19) and NK cells are considered crucial in the control of human and murine cancer, both through their unique ability to detect and reject malignant cells directly in the absence of inflammatory stimuli (16, 20), and through their activation of adaptive immunity (21).

Viral immunity is also an key function of NK cells, demonstrated most compellingly by the shortened lifespan due to viral disease in individuals lacking NK cells (22, 23). Additionally, both humans and mice expand specific NK cell populations in response to cytomegalovirus (CMV) (24, 25) and in response, CMV mutates in response to NK cell pressures (26, 27) and encodes proteins specifically oriented to evade NK cells (28). NK cell activation and cytokine secretion play important roles in the control of numerous other viruses, including Sendai (29), Influenza A (29), Human Immunodeficiency (30), Ebola (31) and Epstein-Barr (32). Roles are also now being described for NK cells in the control of bacterial and parasitic disease including malaria (33), tuberculosis (34), trypanosomiasis (35) and shigellosis (36).

NK cells also have a role in pregnancy, making up ~70% of lymphocytes found in the decidua. This phenotypically distinct NK cell subset appears to play a role in

controlling the invading trophoblast along with protecting the developing foetus from maternal immunity and possibly from disease (37). Pathology in pregnancy such as preeclampsia (38) and recurrent miscarriage (39) have been associated with unfavourable combinations of foetal MHC I and MHC I-dependent NK cell receptors on maternal NK cells. Non-pregnancy related pathology related to NK cells has also been described, including roles in inflammatory disease such as atopy (40), asthma (41) and autoimmunity (42) primarily through the effects of NK cell derived cytokines. For example, in the autoimmune disease multiple sclerosis, periods of remission have been associated with NK cell secretion of IL-5 while periods of active disease are associated with high levels of NK cell derived IFNγ (12, 43).

Beyond the natural function of NK cells in pregnancy and disease, they also are of considerable importance for transplantation. The phenomenon of "hybrid resistance" where alloreactive recipient NK cells reject homozygous parental bone marrow transplanted into heterozygous F<sub>1</sub> recipients is the archetypal demonstration of the role of NK cells in transplantation biology (44). NK cells have a significant role in the failure of both allogeneic (45, 46) and xenogeneic (47, 48) bone marrow transplants primarily through the absense of MHC I alleles on the donor graft capable of being recognized by inhibitory receptors on NK cells in the recipient. Conversely, some mismatch of MHC I and inhibitory NK receptors, during haematopoietic stem cell transplantation (HSCT), has proven beneficial. The mismatch confers to NK cells in the graft the ability to eliminate unwanted malignant hematopoietic cells remaining in patients receiving therapeutic bone marrow transplant for leukaemia, a phenomena known as graft versus leukaemia (GvL). Additionally, NK cells are thought to reduce the likelihood of graft versus host disease (GvHD) and graft rejection in HSCT through slight mismatches that allow clearance of recipient DC and T cells, respectively (49).

The role of NK cells in mediating acute allogeneic organ rejection is relatively insignificant although they are found in the organ infiltrate and can be mediators of chronic rejection. They do, however, play a potent role in mediating hyperacute rejection of xenogeneic tissue as demonstrated in porcine to primate xenogeneic systems (50), primarily through the engagement of xenoreactive antibodies by NK cell Fc receptors inducing antibody dependent cellular cytotoxicity (ADCC) (51) and through NK cell receptor interaction with carbohydrates (52) and complement bound to donor endothelial cells (53). Xenogeneic tissue also triggers NK cell motility and cytokine release (54) making NK cells important mediators of chronic rejection even after hyperacute rejection has been controlled (50). The induction of mixed chimerism, introduction of donor bone marrow into a T cell depleted host prior to tissue transplantation by the same donor, has proven to be an effective mechanism by which to facilitate both allogeneic and xenogeneic graft acceptance (55). Despite the success of mixed chimerism in eliminating the acute rejection of tissue grafts in concordant species without the use of immunosuppressive drugs, the absence of MHC I recognizable by inhibitory receptors on NK cells ultimately results in chronic rejection and loss of the tissue graft (48).

#### **B. NK Cell Receptors and Their Ligands**

NK cell functions are effected through the activation of a myriad of cell surface receptors including receptors for cytokines, immunoglobulin complex binding to CD16 (Fc $\gamma$ RIII), inducing ADCC, and through adhesion molecule binding to LFA-1 and Mac-1 (56). In addition to these receptors, NK cells also express a number of receptors for MHC I and pathogen and tumour ligands. The majority of these receptors are encoded in two specific gene complexes known as the Leukocyte Immunoglobulin-like Receptor Complex (*LRC*) and the Natural Killer Gene Complex (*NKC*) (Fig. 1-1), primarily as inhibitory and activating pairs, that act in balance to control NK activation (57, 58).

#### Receptors of the LRC

The *LRC* is found on chromosome 19 of humans, chromosome 7 of mice and chromosome 1 of rats (Fig. 1-1*A*) and encodes in each species, NK cell receptors that belong to an immunoglobulin-domain containing receptor superfamily. While this receptor complex is shared between rodents and primates it contains many more NK cell receptors in primate lineages. Despite this, there are some NK cell receptors in common, including the Nkp46 natural cytotoxicity receptor (NCR), which is found exclusively on NK cells, both in the resting and activated state (59-61). Nkp46 was originally identified for its ability to trigger lysis of both normal and transformed autologous, allogeneic and

xenogeneic cells (59, 62). Recently, hemagglutinin of Influenza virus and hemagglutininneuraminidase of Sendai virus have also been demonstrated as ligands for Nkp46 (63). The rodent and primate *LRC* also share in common the genes for the DAP12 and DAP10 adapter molecules that associate with activating receptors on NK cells, through charged residues found in their transmembrane domains, facilitating receptor expression and containing the signaling motifs required for activating receptor function (56). Lastly, all three species encode the leukocyte-associated immunoglobulin-like receptor–1 (*LAIR1*) gene that functions as an inhibitory receptor (64-66) and is associated with chronic Epstein-Barr virus infection in humans (67)

Although there are similarities between the rodent and primate LRC, with an overall syntenic gene organization, through the course of evolution primate and rodent lineages have diverged in the use of the *LRC* for encoding NK cell receptors. An ancestral *LRC* likely contained both *Nkp46* and a common ancestor to what are now the paired immunoglobulin-like receptor (*PIR*) genes in rodents and the *LAIR* and leukocyte immunoglobulin-like receptor (*LILR*) genes found in all three species (68). The *PIR* genes do not appear to function as receptors on mouse NK cells (69) but may have a member on rat NK cells (70) while only LAIR1 and LILRB1 (also known as ILT2) within the extensive LILR family, are expressed on NK cells in humans. LILRB1, also an inhibitory receptor, binds the human CMV (HCMV) MHC I "decoy" homologue, UL18 (71) and a number of HLA class I alleles through their conserved  $\alpha$ 3 domain and  $\beta$ 2-microglobulin ( $\beta$ 2m) (72). LILRB1 is also highly expressed on NK cells of the decidua where it interacts with HLA-G and dampens NK cell activation (73).

Additionally, the gp49A and B activating and inhibitory receptor pair are found in rodents although they are encoded outside of the *LRC* on chromosome 10 of mice (74). These receptors also belong to the immunoglobulin-domain containing receptor superfamily, are found on activated NK cells and are found to be specifically upregulated following IL-2 stimulation or murine CMV (MCMV) infection (75).

The most extensive and primary NK cell expressed gene family found in the primate *LRC* is the killer-cell immunoglobulin-like receptors (*KIR*), which are found in activating and inhibitory pairs and, unlike rodent lineages, are the predominant allele specific receptors found in primate species for classical MHC I ligands (76, 77). The

5

primate KIR gene family has undergone extensive tandem duplication and diversification events to produce marked polymorphism at both the receptor level (78) and within haplotypes, creating variability in the number, type and allelic representation of KIR genes within individuals (78, 79). Despite this, two main KIR haplotypes, A and B, can be identified (80-82) with each individual haplotype consisting of certain common genes interspersed with variable regions displaying plasticity of content (78, 79). It is thought that this marked expansion and diversification within the KIR receptor family is driven through evolutionary pressure from their highly polymorphic MHC I ligands. KIR receptors are the functional equivalent to the C-type lectin like Ly49 receptors, which are the allele specific receptors for classical MHC I in rodents and the horse (83), although they are completely different gene families (immunoglobulin-like versus lectin-like), encoded within separate NK cell gene clusters (LRC versus NKC) and share no common ancestor in evolution (84). Within mammals, KIR receptors appear to be the predominant NK cell MHC I specific receptors having been expanded in cow, cat, dog and pig (85). Despite the presence of one KIR gene in the rat LRC and two on the Xchromosome of mice, that may be functional on NK cells, KIR are not a major NK cell receptor family in rodents (86). There has been some KIR expansion in the horse but all equine KIR genes identified to date are non-functional (83).

In addition to the numerous immunoglobulin-like receptors encoded in the *LRC*, two additional immunoglobulin-like activating NCR receptors, NKp30 and NKp44 are worth mentioning. Both receptors are expressed in humans, and Nkp30 is found on a subset of rat NK cells (87) while mice express Nkp44 but have only a *NKp30* pseudogene. NKp30 and 44 appear to complement NKp46 in the recognition and clearance of transformed cells by NK cells (88).

### Receptors of the NKC

Like the *LRC*, the *NKC* is encoded on different chromosomes in humans versus rodents, being found on human chromosome 12, mouse chromosome 6 (56) and rat chromosome 4 (89). (Fig. 1-1*B*) Unlike the *LRC*, both primate and rodent species encode a number of common NK cell receptors within the *NKC*. The NK cell receptors encoded in the *NKC* are all members of the C-type lectin receptor superfamily (90, 91), are type II

transmembrane proteins and are expressed as disulfide linked dimers on NK cells (92-94). Like receptors found in the *LRC*, *NKC* receptors are commonly found as inhibitory and activating pairs, with inhibitory signals typically dominating over activating signals, in balancing NK cell responses to potential targets (57, 58, 95).

One of the first *NKC* receptor types to be identified was the activator NKR-P1 on rat NK cells (94, 96). Numerous Nkrp1 receptors are found in mice. Some Nkrp1 gene products react with the PK136 antibody and are equivalent to the commonly used NK cell marker, NK1.1. (97). Nkrp1c, Nkrp1a and f have been identified as activating receptors whereas Nkrp1d and b are inhibitory receptors (98, 99) variably expressed on NK cells and NKT cells (100) between inbred strains of mice. Ligands for some Nkrp1 have been identified as C-type lectin related (Clr) molecules, which are also encoded in the *NKC* and are expressed on NK cells, DC, macrophages and osteoclasts (101). Since Clr are functional receptors themselves, engagement of Nkrp1 receptors with Clr may not only regulate NK cell function but also the function of the cell expressing the Clr ligand (102). In contrast, only the NKRP1A receptor, which interacts with the Clr-like, lectin-like transcript-1 (LLT1) on target cells (103) and is also encoded in the *NKC*, has been identified in human and is expressed on subsets of NK and T cells (104).

The NKG2 family was first identified in human (105) as heterodimeric receptors coupled with CD94 (106). The NKG2A/CD94 receptor acts as an inhibitory receptor (107), whereas the NKG2C/CD94 receptor is activating (108). Found in both human and mouse, these receptors recognize the non-classical MHC I ligands HLA-E and Qa-1<sup>b</sup>, respectively, which present peptides derived from the leader sequences of classical MHC I, presumably allowing NK cells to survey for the global expression of classical MHC I. Like other NK cell receptor pairs, the inhibitory NKG2 molecule signaling dominates over activating molecule signaling on the same NK cell, thereby preserving tolerance (109).

The NKG2D receptor, while sharing similar nomenclature, is not closely related to other NKG2 molecules and is expressed as an activating homodimer on NK cells, NKT cells,  $\gamma\delta$  T cells, activated CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells and macrophages (17, 110, 111). It primarily recognizes ligands upregulated through activation of the DNA damage response pathway, which commonly occurs in infected or transformed cells (112), including in

7

humans, MHC class I chain related proteins A and B (MIC-A and MIC-B) and UL16 binding proteins (ULBPs) (17, 113) and in mice, the minor histocompatibility molecule, H-60, members of the retinoic acid early transcript-1 family (Rae-1) (110, 111) and the ULBP-like molecule, Mult-1 (114). All the ligands for NKG2D are MHC I-like and appear to be inducible under conditions of "stress" or pathology (115, 116). Both HCMV and MCMV are known to encode viral proteins capable of interfering with NKG2D ligands (113, 117).

Additionally, numerous less well described NK cell receptors have been identified in the *NKC*, including the killer cell lectin-like receptor subfamily F1 and G1 receptors (KLRF1, KLRG1), LLT1/Clr, activation induced C-type lectin (AICL), and CD69 (118).

Lastly, the NKC of rodents and the horse encode the *Ly49* gene family, which, like the *KIR* gene family in primates, serves as the predominant allele specific receptors for MHC I. Since Ly49 receptor genes exist as only a single copy in cat, dog, pig and in primate species including humans (85, 119), it appears that only rodents and the horse have expanded the *Ly49* gene cluster. This *Ly49* expansion has occurred through a complex series of duplications, deletions and conversion events, remarkably similar to but completely independent of the genetic expansion of *KIR* receptor genes in primates, to maintain receptors capable of interacting with their highly polymorphic classical MHC I ligands (120-122) in what appears to be a remarkable display of convergent evolution between species. It is this highly polymorphic and polygenic Ly49 receptor family within rats and mice, and their allele specific interaction with classical MHC I, that form the major focus for this body of work.

#### C. The Murine Ly49 Receptor Repertoire

Ly49 receptors are encoded in the *NKC* of mice and rats and appear to have arisen from a common ancestral *Ly49* cluster (123), although so much expansion and diversification of the cluster has occurred since speciation ~20 million years ago, that only a single ortholog, Ly49B in mice and Ly49i13 in rat, can be identified between these two species (124). Both rat and mouse Ly49 are type II transmembrane proteins (58, 125) expressed at the cell surface as disulfide bonded homodimers and each 40-45kD subunit is made up of a cytoplasmic, transmembrane, stalk and C-type lectin-like domain (CTLD) (92, 126, 127) (Fig. 1-2). The Ly49 CTLD is similar to the carbohydrate recognition domain (CRD) of C-type lectin receptors and can bind carbohydrate, but Ly49 do not conserve the residues required for calcium binding found in typical C-type lectins and typically interact with MHC I in a carbohydrate independent manner (128). Activating and inhibitory forms of Ly49 exist in both rat and mouse and, like KIR2DL4 identified in humans (129), rat also contains bifunctional Ly49 receptors capable of both activating and inhibitory function (124). Bifunctional receptors are absent in the mouse strains examined to date (120, 121, 130).

Activating and inhibitory Ly49 share sequence homology in their extracellular stalk and CTLD domains, with many highly homologous activating/inhibitory receptor pairs being identified in both species (131, 132). Inhibitors differ from activating receptors by the presence of an immunoreceptor tyrosine-based inhibitory motif (ITIM) (125) in their cytoplasmic tail that becomes tyrosine phosphorylated upon receptor ligation. The phosyphorylated ITIM then recruits src homology 2 domain-containing tyrosine phosphatase - 1 or 2 (SHP-1 or SHP-2) (133) or SH2 domain containing inositol-5 phosphatase (SHIP) (134) resulting in the desphosphorylation of substrates required for NK cell activation, thereby dampening or eliminating NK effector responses. Which phosphatase is recruited may depend on the activation pathways being modulated (135) (Fig. 1-2). In contrast, activating Ly49 do not contain an ITIM motif in their cytoplasmic domain but instead, contain an arginine residue in their transmembrane domain facilitating association with the ~12kD signaling adapter protein DAP12 through an aspartic acid residue within its transmembrane domain (136). The DAP12 signaling adapter is also a disulfide bonded homodimer and contains immunoreceptor tyrosinebased activation motifs (ITAM) in the cytoplasmic domain of each subunit (136). The DAP12 adapter is required both for activating Ly49 receptor function and for optimal expression. Upon receptor ligation, it is the ITAM motifs in the DAP12 homodimer that become phosphorylated on tyrosine, recruiting syk tyrosine kinase and inducing phosphorylation of key substrates such as phospholipase C and c-Cbl, ultimately leading to the activation of the MAPK cascade and NK cell activation (137) (Fig. 1-2)

Numerous activating and inhibitory Ly49 receptors have been identified in the rat and mouse. More than 20 *Ly49* genes have been described in mouse, 13 of which are

inhibitory (Ly49a, b, c, e, f, g, i, j, o, q, s, t, v) and eight that are activating (Ly49d, h, l, m, p, r, u, w) (136). Even more Ly49 have been identified in rat, 34 to date, including nine pseudogenes, 13 inhibitory (Ly49i1 – i13), eight activating (Ly49s1–s8) and five bifunctional receptors (Ly49si1 – si5). The bifunctional receptors contain both an ITIM and a charged transmembrane domain for interaction with DAP12 (124). Not all Ly49 genes are present within the NKC of different rat and mouse strains. The NKC of the C57BL/6 mouse strain contains 16 Ly49 genes whereas the BALB/c strain contains only nine, and 19 genes are found in the NKC of 129/Sv mice (120, 121, 130). Although all three strains similarly encode Ly49q, e, i, g, c and a in what appears to be 'framework'' positions of the NKC, similar to the framework KIR3DL3, 2DL4 and 3DL2 genes found in the human LRC, each framework region is interspersed with a variable number and type of Ly49. These variable Ly49 haplotypes found between strains can also contain different strain specific alleles of similar genes (123).

In the rat, only the BN strain's NKC has been fully sequenced (138) and like known mouse NKC haplotypes, contains a number of both functional and non-functional Ly49. A non-functional Ly49 gene found in one strain may be found as a functional transcript in another and these Ly49, along with other Ly49 pseudogenes, appear to be both the casualties of and the breeding grounds for the extremely rapid evolution of this receptor family in both species (123). Despite the absence of more than one fully sequenced rat NKC, there is strong evidence that inbred rat strains also differ in their *NKC* haplotypes, evidence that originated in studies of allogeneic lymphocyte cytotoxicity (ALC), which is mediated by NK cells (139), and has been confirmed by restriction fragment length polymorphism analysis (140) and amplification of Ly49 receptors from different rat stains (124). Interestingly, PVG strain rats that are known to be strong NK cell alloresponders are now also known to have haplotypes that contain a large number of activating Ly49 genes, whereas low alloresponding strain haplotypes contain few or no activating Ly49. We now know that the originally defined Nka locus, that mapped to the distal portion of the NKC and defined rat NK cell alloreactivity (141), encodes all of the purely activating Ly49 found in rat (124).

This extensive diversity between species and strains appears to have arisen from the need of NK cell receptors, which cannot rearrange like the receptors of adaptive immunity, to "keep up" with the highly diverse MHC I alleles that act as their ligands and possibly also in response to MHC I homologues encoded by viruses (124). Phylogenetic examination of Ly49 in rat and mouse indicates that rapid expansion and diversification has occurred in both species through multiple duplication, homogenization by gene conversion and deletion events (89, 121, 124). It is also evident that activating Ly49 appeared after the evolution of inhibitory Ly49, most of which derive from a common activating domain that may have appeared after Murinae separated from other rodent lineages ~31-34 million years ago. The bifunctional receptors found in rat, along with the rat Ly49s3 receptor, segregate in an independent cluster indicative of a possible second emergence of an activating domain in this species and gives credence to the hypothesis that inhibitors first obtain an activating domain and then later lose their cytoplasmic ITIM motifs (142).

Expression of activating and inhibitory Ly49 receptors is heterogeneous and results in subsets of NK cells expressing partially overlapping repertoires of usually one to six of the Ly49 from the given *NKC* haplotype. Ly49 expression, for the most part (143), appears to be stochastic and independent (144, 145) even for alleles (146) although the expression of one inhibitory receptor capable of recognizing an autologous MHC I allele can down regulate or prevent the expression of a second inhibitor with similar allelic specificity for MHC I. Variegated expression of Ly49 is controlled by the presence of a bidirectional promoter that acts as a "probabilistic switch" in immature NK cells (147, 148). Since inhibitory Ly49 receptor interaction with self MHC I appears to affect the expression of other Ly49 (149, 150), the sequential expression of Ly49 from probabilistic promoters may occur until NK cells express at least one inhibitory Ly49 capable of recognizing a self MHC I allele, thereby maintaining tolerance to self (149-153).

#### **D. Class I MHC**

Major histocompatibility molecules (MHC) exist in all vertebrates, with the exception of agnathans (jawless fish) (154), and are co-dominantly expressed on virtually all nucleated cells in the body. The *MHC* complex is encoded on chromosome 20 in the rat as the *RT1* complex, is represented by the mouse *H*-2 complex on chromosome 17 and

11

by the *HLA* complex on chromosome 6 of humans (155) (Fig. 1-3). All three species contain *MHC I, MHC II* and *MHC III* genes within their respective *MHC* complexes. Mouse and rat have an orthologous arrangement of genes at this locus starting with a centromeric region of *MHC I*, followed by a region containing *MHC II* genes, a region containing *MHC III* genes and finally a large telomeric region of numerous additional *MHC I* genes. The human complex is similar with the exception of the centromeric *MHC I* region (155). Although genes within all three regions play important roles in mediating immune responses it is solely the *MHC I* gene products that serve as ligands for NK cell receptors.

MHC I molecules can be classified into two major subgroups, classical Ia molecules (MHC Ia) and non-classical Ib molecules (MHC Ib). MHC Ia are highly polymorphic and important for antigen presentation to and recognition by CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells (156). They include *H-2K* centromeric to the *MHC II* genes and *H-2D* and *L* telomeric to the *MHC III* genes in the mouse and *RT1-A* genes found only centromeric to the *MHC II* genes in the rat (155). The *MHC Ia* loci within the *MHC* complex each code for an MHC I heavy chain which non-covalently associates with the small globular and relatively invariant  $\beta$ 2-microglobulin ( $\beta$ 2m) molecule, an association that is required both for proper folding of the heavy chain and expression at the cell surface. The MHC I heavy chain consists of 3 domains,  $\alpha$ 1,  $\alpha$ 2 and  $\alpha$ 3. The  $\alpha$ 1 and  $\alpha$ 2 domains each consist of four anti-parallel  $\beta$ -strands followed by one long  $\alpha$ -helix. These domains associate to form a  $\beta$ -sheet platform bordered by parallel  $\alpha$ -helices creating a groove within the MHC I that can bind short peptides for presentation to CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells. The  $\alpha$ 3 domain is membrane proximal to the peptide-binding groove, and along with residues below the peptidebinding platform, forms contacts with  $\beta$ 2m (157) (Fig. 1-4)

MHC Ib also consist of a heavy chain encoded in the *MHC* complex. Some of these molecules associate with  $\beta$ 2m while others do not, and only a few non-classical molecules have been shown to bind peptide (155). The *MHC Ib* regions in rat and mouse are large and diverse and genes encoding MHC Ib are found in clusters interspersed between regions of non-*MHC I* framework genes in the telomeric *MHC I* region of both species (142). In contrast to the ubiquitiously expressed and highly polymorphic MHC Ia, MHC Ib molecules tend to be monomorphic or oligomeric, have more restricted

expression profiles and tend to have specialized functions in immunity. Although rat does not contain *MHC Ia* genes in its telomeric *MHC* region like mice, the most proximally encoded *MHC I* genes in the rat *MHC Ib* complex are Ia-like (158, 159). At least one rat *MHC Ib* allele has been shown to present peptide to  $CD8^+$  T cells (160) and the *RT1-U* Ib locus has been shown to mediate cytotoxic T lymphocyte (CTL) responses to alloantigens (161). Despite this, these *MHC Ia*-like genes are not orthologous to mouse *H-2D/L* and are not major loci for CTL responses compared to *H-2K/D/L* and *RT1-A*.

Mouse and rat do share a number of MHC lb orthologs including H2-T like genes in the second Ib cluster (162), and the H2-M like genes in the third and fourth Ib clusters (162, 163). For example, rat RT.BM1, found in the second Ib cluster is directly orthologous not only to mouse Qa-1<sup>b</sup> but also to human HLA-E and similarly presents peptides derived from the leader sequences of MHC Ia molecules (164). Despite the presence of some MHC Ib orthologs between mouse and rat, and even human, there are no orthologs present among the highly polymorphic MHC Ia molecules. This is surprising considering the close evolutionary relationship between rats and mice, and was under debate for some time regarding the MHC Ia genes encoded centromerically to the MHC II region, primarily because these genes appear to have derived via a translocation event from the telomeric MHC I region into identical insertion points (155). Regardless, due to the rapid evolution of the MHC I genes in rats and mice, involving multiple nonsynonymous mutations, amplification and deletion events (165-168), no clear ortholog is seen between rat and mouse MHC Ia alleles. As an example of this extensive diversification, only one MHC Ia gene, H-2K, is encoded in the centromeric region of mouse, while between one and three RT1-A genes can be encoded in this region in rat, depending on the inbred strain (158, 169). Similarly, in inbred mouse strains, not all strains encode H-2L in the telomeric MHC Ia locus (170).

This strain difference at the *RT1-A* and *H-2L* loci highlights the diversity of rat and mouse MHC Ia genes; not only a diversity in gene number but also of allelic forms of genes resulting in different MHC haplotypes in inbred strains. Because MHC Ia are important for the binding and presentation of peptides to CTL in mediating adaptive immune responses, it is understandable that a great deal of polymorphism would be generated in the peptide binding groove of MHC Ia molecules, facilitating the binding of the greatest diversity of peptide fragments to ensure that immunodominant peptides capable of eliciting productive responses by CTL can be presented. This has resulted in a large number of MHC Ia alleles in mouse and rat (171). The overall MHC gene content found within inbred rat and mouse strains therefore, have each been assigned an allelic designation that denotes the gene number, type and allelic variations of each strain's MHC complex. For example, the BN strain rat contains three RT1-A genes, a variable number of MHC Ib genes and polymorphic versions of each that have collectively been denoted as the RT1<sup>n</sup> haplotype. Conversely, the RT1<sup>c</sup> haplotype contains two RT1-A genes, again variable MHC Ib gene content and polymorphic versions of each that differ from the BN strain. Similarly, haplotypes such as H-2<sup>b</sup> in the C57BL/6 mouse distinguishes its MHC I allele products from those found in the BALB/c mouse, which has a H- $2^{d}$  haplotype. Non-*MHC I* genes can also have allelic variances, in particular the MHC II genes which present peptides to CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, and notably in the case of the rat, the transporter for antigen presentation (TAP) genes, which exist as both TAP-A and TAP-B alleles, and function differentially in rat strains in their ability to transport peptides into the endoplasmic reticulum for loading into newly formed MHC I (172).

The peptide binding properties of MHC I molecules has allowed further classification of MHC I alleles into what are known as supertypes. Supertypes were first identified in human vaccine studies that aimed at identifying peptides motifs that could be bound by a wide range of HLA MHC I alleles. MHC I molecules do not rely equally on every peptide residue to bind it into the groove, instead forming strong associations with two or three anchor residues in the peptide, binding them deeply into anchor binding pockets. Typically, MHC I bind the second (P2) and last (P9) residues of peptide although P4 and P5 residues can act as anchors in some alleles. In the examination of peptide binding preferences of hundreds of HLA alleles, and now of other primate, mouse and rat MHC I alleles (173) it appears that MHC I from each species can be categorized into about nine or 10 different supertypes based on their anchor binding preferences. The presence of identical supertypes in species that do not share any MHC Ia orthologs precludes that supertype motifs have been conserved from a common ancestor but are instead likely a result of convergent evolution. Why MHC I alleles from divergent species have all evolved to have about 10 different binding specificities may be

14

due to advantages to MHC I stability (174), pressure to maintain MHC I molecules capable of binding peptides generated by peptide loading machinery (175) and/or pressure to present immunodominant peptides in a context that is recognizable by MHC restricted T cells. The overriding pressure and importance to maintain MHC I molecules that are recognizable by T cells and capable of binding an enormous repertoire of peptide antigens may also be the driving force behind the evolution of the extremely large and diverse innate repertoires of MHC I allele specific NK cell receptors, particularly KIR in human and Ly49 in rat and mouse, capable of recognizing cells deficient in MHC I expression.

#### E. Allele Specific Ly49 Recognition of Class I MHC

MHC I present both self and non-self peptides on the surface of body cells. The presentation of self-peptides is important in the education of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells to remain self-tolerant while the presentation of non-self peptides, from intracellular viruses and parasites, induces T cell activation and CTL activity. Tumour cells, while derived from self, can also present an altered peptide repertoire recognized as non-self by CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells due to altered biosynthesis and over or inappropriate expression of proteins in ontogeny, for example, expression of foetal genes in an adult malignancy. In an attempt to evade recognition by CTL, pathogens have evolved means to disrupt normal assembly and transport of MHC I while tumorigenic cells often evade CTL detection by dysregulation of gene expression resulting in loss of MHC I (77). This loss of MHC I can be total or allele specific (176, 177). The expression of receptors for MHC I allows NK cells of innate immunity to recognize and eliminate these cells with altered MHC I expression. While the NKG2/CD94 family plays a partial role in this surveillance through the recognition of global MHC I loss, allele specific Ly49 receptors can detect not only the total loss of MHC I but also the selective down regulation of particular MHC I alleles.

Both the activating and inhibitory Ly49 expressed on NK cells are MHC I allele specific. Of the rodent Ly49 characterized to date, many have only one or a few MHC I alleles that they can recognize. For example in the mouse, the inhibitory Ly49G has been demonstrated to recognize  $H-2D^d$ ,  $L^d$  and  $D^k$  and the inhibitory Ly49A has been shown to recognize  $H-2D^d$ ,  $D^p$  and  $D^k$  (178) while in the rat, Ly49i2 has been shown to recognize RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> (179). Other inhibitory Ly49 exhibit a broader range of recognition, for example, mouse Ly49C, which can recognize H-2K<sup>b</sup>, K<sup>d</sup>, K<sup>k</sup>, D<sup>d</sup> and D<sup>b</sup> (178). Allelic differences in the same receptor can also affect MHC I allele specificity, for example, the BALB/c allele of Ly49G can recognize both H-2D<sup>d</sup> and D<sup>k</sup>, whereas the C57BL/6 allele recognizes only H-2D<sup>d</sup> (180). Under normal circumstances, the signals from these inhibitory Ly49, upon recognition of MHC I alleles on potential target cells, dominate over the activating signals from virtually all other receptors on NK cells (123, 181, 182). Therefore, NK cells maintain tolerance to cells that express normal levels of at least one MHC I allele that can be recognized by an inhibitory Ly49 receptor on the NK cell surface. Upon the down regulation of self MHC I by pathogenically altered cells, this dominant inhibition is released, triggering target cell elimination through activating Ly49 and other activating receptors on the cell surface. This phenomenon was first described by Karre's group and is known as the "missing self hypothesis" (183). The allele specificity demonstrated by Ly49 for MHC I products is particularly advantageous in that it allows for the detection of the selective down regulation of specific allele products. This would, for example, prevent the escape of viruses that selectively down regulate an MHC I allele that is particularly effective at presenting viral peptide for CTL recognition and clearance, but leave normal expression of other MHC I alleles at the cell surface for NK cell recognition (184).

Activating Ly49 receptors can also recognize MHC I and show allele specificity, recognizing only one or a few MHC I alleles (178). For example, mouse Ly49P<sup>NOD</sup> recognizes H-2D<sup>d</sup> while Ly49W recognizes H-2D<sup>d</sup> and D<sup>k</sup> (185, 186). No conclusive ligand has yet been demonstrated for a rat activating Ly49 but strong evidence exists to indicate that rat activating Ly49 recognize specific alleles expressed from the *MHC-Ia* like, *MHC Ib* locus. For example, BN strain NK allorecognition of WF targets is mediated by the *RT1-E<sup>u</sup>* locus, and like the dominating effects of inhibitory Ly49 in mouse, could be inhibited by the co-expression of RT1-A1<sup>n</sup> on RT1-E<sup>u</sup> expressing cells (187). While not conclusively mediated by a specific Ly49 in the rat, these effects do map to the NKC and along with extensive ALC work implicating rat Ly49 in the allele specific recognition of MHC I (139, 140, 188), indicates that rat Ly49 systems are subject to the same allelic specificity as mouse systems.

Mouse and rat Ly49 also appear to recognize xenogeneic MHC I in an allele specific manner, a phenomenon first recognized in the production of xenogeneic bone marrow chimeras for transplantation (189-191). Xenogeneic recognition has primarily been examined for the mouse activating receptor Ly49D. First identified as the *CHOK* locus capable of mediating cytolysis against Chinese hamster ovary cells (CHO), it is now known that *CHOK* encodes Ly49D (192) which specifically recognizes the hamster Hm1-C4 allele of MHC I (193). Ly49A and G additionally recognize a currently unidentified ligand within CHO cells (194). Furthermore, Ly49D recognizes MHC I targets specifically of the rat RT1<sup>IvI</sup> and RT1<sup>1</sup> MHC I haplotypes and not other haplotypes (195). We too have shown that the BALB/c and C57BL/6 allele products of Ly49G differentially recognize rat cells from different MHC I haplotypes, with the BALB/c allele recognizing RT1<sup>c</sup> and RT1<sup>1</sup> expressing targets and the B6 allele recognizing only RT1<sup>c</sup> targets (180).

How and why a system of paired activating and inhibitory receptors exists in rodents for the allele specific recognition of MHC I has been an issue of considerable debate. Particularly since many activating and inhibitory Ly49 pairs share extremely high homology in their CTLD (132) and recognize identical MHC I allelic repertoires. For example, Ly49G<sup>BALB/c</sup> and W, that have 97.6% identity in their CTLD both recognize H- $2D^{d}$  and  $D^{k}$  (185). It is comprehensible that since inhibitory Ly49 dominate over activating Ly49 on the same NK cell, that if the MHC I allele recognized by the inhibitory receptor was lost and an MHC I allele recognized by the activator remained, that NK cell activation would ensue. In reality, the Ly49 expression patterns seen on NK cells would indicate that for every activator expressed there is at least one inhibitor with an overlapping ligand repertoire capable of modulating its activity (196) and within inbred strains typically only allo-reactive activating Ly49 are found (120, 121, 130, 178, 185, 186), bringing into question how often such a scenario would occur. Upon closer inspection, this system of paired activators and inhibitors appears to be finely tuned to alterations in ligand density in the context of paracrine indicators of immune activation (181, 197). For example, H-2D<sup>d</sup> induced Ly49D activation can overcome Ly49G inhibition through the same ligand in the presence of IL-12 or 18, which appear to act as a "second signal" much like is required for T cell activation (181). Activators may also

play a crucial role in the recognition of viral MHC I homologues, which could otherwise act as "decoys" for inhibitory Ly49 by viruses that down regulate MHC I. For example, Ly49I from the MCMV susceptible 129/Sv strain of mice recognizes the MCMV MHC I homologue m157, whereas the Ly49I allele from resistant C57BL/6 mice does not (198). Additionally, MCMV resistant C57BL/6 mice encode the Ly49H activating receptor, which also recognizes m157 (198), triggering clearance of infected cells and vigorous IFNy secretion promoting effective adaptive responses (198-201). It is suggested that activating Ly49, which make up a large percentage of the non-functional genes in the NKC, may undergo a particularly rapid birth and death rate in that they would be selected in the presence of a viral threat but deselected due to their predilection for auto-MHC I responses once such a threat has passed (202). Currently, it is under debate whether activating Ly49 evolved specifically for their role in detecting subtle variations in allelic MHC I expression or whether they first appeared through the introduction of an activating domain into an inhibitory Ly49 capable of recognizing a viral homologue, thereby maintaining residual cross reactivity for self MHC I alleles and resulting in the highly homologous activating and inhibitory pairs found within inbred mouse strains (202).

Regardless, the allele specific nature of Ly49 recognition allows far greater immune fitness in situations where only a particular subset of MHC I alleles are down regulated as well as providing a way for immediate recognition of pathology without the need for de novo synthesis of recognition receptors or ligands. The unlinked mingling of diverse Ly49 receptor haplotypes, expressed stochastically and independently, with diverse MHC I haplotypes may also provide a means by which activating Ly49 specific for viral MHC I homologues could be expressed with reduced threat of self-reactivity and autoaggression.

#### **F. Background and Rationale**

A great deal of work has been done to try to explain the allele specific molecular interaction between mouse Ly49 and their MHC I ligands while nothing is known of the molecular interaction between rat Ly49 and MHC I. Very early mouse work isolated MHC I recognition to the CTLD of Ly49 (203) and showed that Ly49 recognition of

MHC I was peptide dependent but not selective (204). This was followed by work implicating the  $\alpha 1 \alpha 2$  domains through antibody blocking assays (204-206) and domain substitution experiments (128, 207, 208). Since recognition appeared to be mapping to the residues defining the peptide binding groove, others made mutations within the groove that, in combination, could disrupt recognition (209). This reintroduced the possibility that like KIR, some Ly49 receptors could be influenced by the bound peptide, something that Franksson et al. confirmed by loading H-2K<sup>b</sup> with different peptides with equal capacity to stabilize K<sup>b</sup> but with drastically different capacities to trigger inhibition through Ly49C (210). Other groups focussed on the role of carbohydrates in mediating recognition (128, 211) and identified residues in Ly49 that altered their ability to recognize panels of MHC I ligands (212).

All of this work made respectable headway into describing the Ly49/MHC I interface and much of it was confirmed upon solving of the first Ly49/MHC I co-crystal structure of Ly49A bound to H-2D<sup>d</sup> (213). This crystal structure while answering some questions, also introduced a new question since the Ly49A dimer was found to bind at two different sites on H-2D<sup>d</sup> and it was unclear which, or if both sites, were biologically relevant (Fig. 1-4A). Site 1 was located at the end of the peptide-binding groove near the N-terminal portion of the peptide, was only about 1000A<sup>2</sup> but had exquisite ionic complimentarity. This site was initially favoured as the biologically relevant site for interaction with Ly49 as it was highly polymorphic and thereby capable of mediating allele specificity, involved the carbohydrate attachment site shown previously to influence recognition (211) and was the most plausible site explaining the loss of recognition upon mutagenesis of the  $\alpha 1$  and  $\alpha 2$  domains.

In contrast, site 2 was considered a possible artefact of crystallization. The site was quite large,  $3400A^2$ , had poor shape complementarity, encompassed a highly conserved area involving solvent exposed residues below the peptide-binding groove, in the  $\alpha 3$  domain and on  $\beta 2m$  and was bound primarily through polar bonds and H<sub>2</sub>0 molecules (214). Additionally, it was considered improbable that such a conserved site could mediate allele specific interactions with Ly49. Therefore, work ensued to establish which site, 1 or 2, or both, were biologically relevant.

Additional mutagenesis in the  $\alpha 1\alpha 2$  domains, including the peptide binding groove appeared to support site 1 for Ly49A and D recognition of H-2D<sup>d</sup> (215) and it was not until 2001 that Matsumoto et al. (216) demonstrated unequivocally that site 2 was the relevant interaction site, involving residues in all three domains of the H-2D<sup>d</sup> heavy chain and involved  $\beta 2m$ . Other groups proceeded to describe more fully the interaction required with  $\beta 2m$  (217-219) and the polymorphisms found in the Ly49 that influenced specificity for MHC I (219-222). Upon the crystallization of Ly49C with H-2K<sup>b</sup> (223), showing a single binding mode at site 2 (Fig. 1-4*B*), it became accepted that site 2 was the biologically relevant site for interaction with MHC I.

The question as to how different Ly49 exhibit such diverse allele specificity for a ligand at a site which is virtually identical in all rodent MHC I is still an issue of considerable debate. Work by Matsumoto (224) and Nakamura (225) et al. continued to hint at a mechanism related to the conformations of the  $\alpha 1\alpha 2$  domains but no concrete model explaining allele specificity at this conserved site has been proposed. Although differential modes of dimerization, seen in crystal structures of Ly49C (223) and Ly49I (226) compared to Ly49A (213) was once considered as an explanation for the wide range of MHC alleles recognized by these receptors compared to the more restricted Ly49A, the recent crystallization of Ly49A in a dimerization state similar to Ly49C and I (227) has now drawn question to this hypothesis.

Despite all of this work, the molecular basis of mouse Ly49 allele specificity for MHC I remains unsolved. Additionally, there is an ever-growing repertoire of allele specific Ly49 being found in the rat (89, 124, 228). This repertoire has evolved independently of the mouse Ly49 repertoire and shows allele specificity for MHC I ligands that have also significantly diverged from mouse MHC I, bringing into question whether rat Ly49 also interact with MHC I at site 2 and what the molecular basis of allele specificity is in this species.

Since xenogeneic recognition had previously been demonstrated between mouse Ly49 and rat cells expressing specific MHC I haplotypes (195), including some of my own work (180), we considered that by identifying the MHC I ligands for these xenoreactive Ly49 it may be possible to identify a recognition motif shared between the two species that mediates allele specific recognition. The considerable divergence of rat

20

and mouse MHC I being an aid in making this conserved recognition motif on MHC I 'stand out' against otherwise divergent species-specific motifs unrelated to Ly49 recognition. Chapter I describes the identification of such a rat xenoligand for mouse Ly49 receptors, which along with being a relevant finding for rat/mouse mixed chimerism experiments, allowed us to propose a hypothesis describing what we believed to be the shared motif mediating both mouse xenorecognition and rat syngeneic recognition of a rat MHC I molecule. Chapter II then investigates this hypothesis that Ly49 receptors distinguish between MHC I alleles based on polymorphisms specifically found in the supertype-defining and anchor-binding pockets of MHC I. Lastly, chapter III, for the first time, describes in detail the molecular interaction between a rat Ly49 receptor and its MHC I ligand and maps out the variable usage of conserved residues on MHC I for both a new mouse and a rat Ly49/MHC I allele combination compared to the known Ly49A/H-2D<sup>d</sup> and Ly49C/H-2K<sup>b</sup> interactions. By comparing the variable usage of residues on MHC I by different Ly49/MHC I allelic pairs, in the context of our findings that the conformation of the polymorphic anchor binding pocket(s) affect recognition, we propose a comprehensive model of how Ly49 receptors may mediate allele specific recognition at a conserved interaction site of MHC I as defined by conformational differences in the  $\alpha 1\alpha 2$  domains.


**FIGURE 1-1.** NK cell receptor genes in the LRC and NKC of human, mouse and rat. *A*, Comparative LRC gene arrangement of human, mouse and rat. Signalling adapter molecules used by NK cell receptors are in green, receptors known to be expressed on NK cells in blue and red and the functional homologues to Ly49 receptors, KIR, in red. *B*, Comparative NKC gene arrangement of human, mouse and rat. All genes shown are expressed on NK cells with the exception of the single  $Ly49\psi$  in humans. Light and dark green genes are known to act as receptor/ligand pairs, light and dark blue genes are expressed as heterodimers. Variably sized Ly49 gene clusters are shown in red. Although numerous Clr genes exist in the mouse and are intermingled with Nkrp1 genes, a single locus is shown for simplicity and to represent the synteny found between species.



FIGURE 1-2. Activating and inhibitory Ly49 structure and signaling pathways. Both kinds of Ly49 are type II, disulphide bonded homodimers with similar structure in the stalk and CTLD. Upon ligand engagement, inhibitory Ly-49 receptors become phosphorylated on tyrosine within ITIM motifs in the cytoplasmic tail of the receptor and recruits phosphatases such as SHP-1, leading to suppression of NK-cell activation. In contrast, activating Ly-49 receptors associate with the signaling adapter protein DAP12/KARAP through charged residues in their transmembrane domains, arginine (R) and aspartic acid (D), respectively. As a consequence of ligand binding by activating Ly-49 receptors, the associated DAP12/KARAP becomes phosphorylated on tyrosines within ITAM motifs and recruits Syk kinase, leading to NK cell activation. Adapted from Kane K. P., Lavender K. J. and B. J. Ma. 2004. Ly-49 receptors and their functions. *Crit. Rev. Immunol.* 24(5): 321-348.



**FIGURE 1-3.** Comparison of the human, mouse and rat MHC Complexes. Genes are shown in the order they are found on the chromosome from centromere to telomere. The classical class Ia regions are in red, class II region in blue, class III region in green and non-classical class Ib region in orange. Representative genes from each region are listed above the chromosome. Framework genes marking some of the orthologous MHC I boundaries between species are listed in lowercase below the chromosome.



**FIGURE 1-4.** Crystal structures depicting the H-2D<sup>d</sup> MHC I molecule and its association at two distinct sites with Ly49A. *A*, The MHC I heavy chain is made up of three domains,  $\alpha 1$  (*blue*),  $\alpha 2$  (*green*) and  $\alpha 3$  (*yellow*). The heavy chain non-covalently associates with  $\beta 2$ -microglobulin (*purple*) and the  $\alpha 1\alpha 2$  domains form a groove that binds peptide (*red spheres*). *B*, The co-crystal of H-2D<sup>d</sup> (*blue ribbon*) with two Ly49A homodimers, one interacting at site 1 (*purple ribbon*) and one at site 2 (*teal ribbon*).

# **G. References**

- Roder, J. C., and H. F. Pross. 1982. The biology of the human natural killer cell. J. Clin. Immunol. 2: 249-263.
- 2. Farag, S. S., and M. A. Caligiuri. 2006. Human natural killer cell development and biology. *Blood Rev. 20: 123-137*.
- 3. Lian, R. H., and V. Kumar. 2002. Murine natural killer cell progenitors and their requirements for development. *Semin. Immunol.* 14: 453-460.
- Wallace, M. E., and M. J. Smyth. 2005. The role of natural killer cells in tumor control--effectors and regulators of adaptive immunity. *Springer Semin*. *Immunopathol.* 27: 49-64.
- 5. Orange, J. S., and Z. K. Ballas. 2006. Natural killer cells in human health and disease. *Clin. Immunol. 118: 1-10.*
- 6. Lowin, B., M. C. Peitsch, and J. Tschopp. 1995. Perforin and granzymes: crucial effector molecules in cytolytic T lymphocyte and natural killer cell-mediated cytotoxicity. *Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunol.* 198: 1-24.
- 7. Smyth, M. J., K. Takeda, Y. Hayakawa, J. J. Peschon, M. R. van den Brink, and
  H. Yagita. 2003. Nature's TRAIL--on a path to cancer immunotherapy. *Immunity* 18: 1-6.
- 8. Chua, H. L., Y. Serov, and Z. Brahmi. 2004. Regulation of FasL expression in natural killer cells. *Hum. Immunol.* 65: 317-327.
- von Albertini, M., C. Ferran, C. Brostjan, F. H. Bach, and D. J. Goodman. 1998. Membrane-associated lymphotoxin on natural killer cells activates endothelial cells via an NF-kappaB-dependent pathway. *Transplantation 66: 1211-1219*.
- 10. Lieberman, J. 2003. The ABCs of granule-mediated cytotoxicity: new weapons in the arsenal. *Nat. Rev. Immunol. 3: 361-370*.
- 11. Cappello, P., F. Novelli, G. Forni, and M. Giovarelli. 2002. Death receptor ligands in tumors. *J. Immunother.* 25: 1-15.
- Peritt, D., S. Robertson, G. Gri, L. Showe, M. Aste-Amezaga, and G. Trinchieri.
   1998. Differentiation of human NK cells into NK1 and NK2 subsets. *J. Immunol.* 161: 5821-5824.

- Robertson, M. J. 2002. Role of chemokines in the biology of natural killer cells. J. Leukoc. Biol. 71: 173-183.
- Walzer, T., M. Dalod, E. Vivier, and L. Zitvogel. 2005. Natural killer celldendritic cell crosstalk in the initiation of immune responses. *Expert Opin. Biol. Ther. 5 Suppl. 1: S49-59.*
- Kiessling, R., G. Petranyi, G. Klein, and H. Wigzel. 1975. Genetic variation of in vitro cytolytic activity and in vivo rejection potential of non-immunized semisyngeneic mice against a mouse lymphoma line. *Int. J. Cancer 15: 933-940*.
- Ljunggren, H. G., and K. Karre. 1985. Host resistance directed selectively against H-2-deficient lymphoma variants. Analysis of the mechanism. J. Exp. Med. 162: 1745-1759.
- Bauer, S., V. Groh, J. Wu, A. Steinle, J. H. Phillips, L. L. Lanier, and T. Spies.
   1999. Activation of NK cells and T cells by NKG2D, a receptor for stressinducible MICA. *Science* 285: 727-729.
- Mather, G. G., P. A. Talcott, and J. H. Exon. 1994. Characterization of a chemically induced tumor model and the effects of natural killer cell depletion by antiasialo GM-1. *Immunobiology 190: 333-345*.
- Khar, A., C. Varalakshmi, B. V. Pardhasaradhi, A. Mubarak Ali, and A. L.
   Kumari. 1998. Depletion of the natural killer cell population in the peritoneum by AK-5 tumor cells overexpressing fas-ligand: a mechanism of immune evasion. *Cell. Immunol. 189: 85-91.*
- van den Broek, M. F., D. Kagi, R. M. Zinkernagel, and H. Hengartner. 1995.
   Perforin dependence of natural killer cell-mediated tumor control in vivo. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 25: 3514-3516.
- Wu, J., and L. L. Lanier. 2003. Natural killer cells and cancer. Adv. Cancer Res. 90: 127-156.
- 22. Biron, C. A., K. S. Byron, and J. L. Sullivan. 1989. Severe herpesvirus infections in an adolescent without natural killer cells. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 320: 1731-1735.
- Etzioni, A., C. Eidenschenk, R. Katz, R. Beck, J. L. Casanova, and S. Pollack.
   2005. Fatal varicella associated with selective natural killer cell deficiency. J.
   Pediatr. 146: 423-425.

- Guma, M., M. Budt, A. Saez, T. Brckalo, H. Hengel, A. Angulo, and M. Lopez-Botet. 2006. Expansion of CD94/NKG2C+ NK cells in response to human cytomegalovirus-infected fibroblasts. *Blood 107: 3624-3631*.
- 25. Robbins, S. H., M. S. Tessmer, T. Mikayama, and L. Brossay. 2004. Expansion and contraction of the NK cell compartment in response to murine cytomegalovirus infection. *J. Immunol.* 173: 259-266.
- French, A. R., J. T. Pingel, M. Wagner, I. Bubic, L. Yang, S. Kim, U. Koszinowski, S. Jonjic, and W. M. Yokoyama. 2004. Escape of mutant double-stranded DNA virus from innate immune control. *Immunity 20: 747-756*.
- French, A. R., J. T. Pingel, S. Kim, L. Yang, and W. M. Yokoyama. 2005. Rapid emergence of escape mutants following infection with murine cytomegalovirus in immunodeficient mice. *Clin. Immunol.* 115: 61-69.
- Lodoen, M. B., and L. L. Lanier. 2005. Viral modulation of NK cell immunity. *Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 3: 59-69.*
- Siren, J., T. Sareneva, J. Pirhonen, M. Strengell, V. Veckman, I. Julkunen, and S. Matikainen. 2004. Cytokine and contact-dependent activation of natural killer cells by influenza A or Sendai virus-infected macrophages. *J. Gen. Virol.* 85: 2357-2364.
- Alter, G., J. M. Malenfant, R. M. Delabre, N. C. Burgett, X. G. Yu, M. Lichterfeld, J. Zaunders, and M. Altfeld. 2004. Increased natural killer cell activity in viremic HIV-1 infection. *J. Immunol.* 173: 5305-5311.
- Warfield, K. L., J. G. Perkins, D. L. Swenson, E. M. Deal, C. M. Bosio, M. J. Aman, W. M. Yokoyama, H. A. Young, and S. Bavari. 2004. Role of natural killer cells in innate protection against lethal ebola virus infection. *J. Exp. Med.* 200: 169-179.
- Fisher, R. C., and D. A. Thorley-Lawson. 1991. Characterization of the Epstein-Barr virus-inducible gene encoding the human leukocyte adhesion and activation antigen BLAST-1 (CD48). *Mol. Cell Biol.* 11: 1614-1623.
- Baratin, M., S. Roetynck, C. Lepolard, C. Falk, S. Sawadogo, S. Uematsu, S. Akira, B. Ryffel, J. G. Tiraby, L. Alexopoulou, C. J. Kirschning, J. Gysin, E. Vivier, and S. Ugolini. 2005. Natural killer cell and macrophage cooperation in

MyD88-dependent innate responses to Plasmodium falciparum. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 102: 14747-14752.* 

- 34. Vankayalapati, R., A. Garg, A. Porgador, D. E. Griffith, P. Klucar, H. Safi, W. M. Girard, D. Cosman, T. Spies, and P. F. Barnes. 2005. Role of NK cell-activating receptors and their ligands in the lysis of mononuclear phagocytes infected with an intracellular bacterium. *J. Immunol.* 175: 4611-4617.
- 35. Lieke, T., S. E. Graefe, U. Klauenberg, B. Fleischer, and T. Jacobs. 2004. NK cells contribute to the control of Trypanosoma cruzi infection by killing free parasites by perforin-independent mechanisms. *Infect. Immun.* 72: 6817-6825.
- Le-Barillec, K., J. G. Magalhaes, E. Corcuff, A. Thuizat, P. J. Sansonetti, A. Phalipon, and J. P. Di Santo. 2005. Roles for T and NK cells in the innate immune response to Shigella flexneri. *J. Immunol.* 175: 1735-1740.
- Tabiasco, J., M. Rabot, M. Aguerre-Girr, H. El Costa, A. Berrebi, O. Parant, G. Laskarin, K. Juretic, A. Bensussan, D. Rukavina, and P. Le Bouteiller. 2006.
  Human decidual NK cells: unique phenotype and functional properties -- a review. *Placenta 27 Suppl. A: S34-39*.
- Hiby, S. E., J. J. Walker, M. O'Shaughnessy K, C. W. Redman, M. Carrington, J. Trowsdale, and A. Moffett. 2004. Combinations of maternal KIR and fetal HLA-C genes influence the risk of preeclampsia and reproductive success. J. Exp. Med. 200: 957-965.
- Varla-Leftherioti, M., M. Spyropoulou-Vlachou, D. Niokou, T. Keramitsoglou, A. Darlamitsou, C. Tsekoura, M. Papadimitropoulos, V. Lepage, C. Balafoutas, and C. Stavropoulos-Giokas. 2003. Natural killer (NK) cell receptors' repertoire in couples with recurrent spontaneous abortions. *Am. J. Reprod. Immunol.* 49: 183-191.
- Koning, H., M. R. Baert, A. P. Oranje, H. F. Savelkoul, and H. J. Neijens. 1996. Development of immune functions related to allergic mechanisms in young children. *Pediatr. Res.* 40: 363-375.
- 41. Korsgren, M. 2002. NK cells and asthma. Curr. Pharm. Des. 8: 1871-1876.

- 42. Flodstrom, M., F. D. Shi, N. Sarvetnick, and H. G. Ljunggren. 2002. The natural killer cell -- friend or foe in autoimmune disease? *Scand. J. Immunol.* 55: 432-441.
- 43. Takahashi, K., S. Miyake, T. Kondo, K. Terao, M. Hatakenaka, S. Hashimoto, and T. Yamamura. 2001. Natural killer type 2 bias in remission of multiple sclerosis. J. Clin. Invest. 107: R23-29.
- 44. Yokoyama, W. M. 1995. Hybrid resistance and the Ly-49 family of natural killer cell receptors. *J. Exp. Med.* 182: 273-277.
- Bix, M., N. S. Liao, M. Zijlstra, J. Loring, R. Jaenisch, and D. Raulet. 1991. Rejection of class I MHC-deficient haemopoietic cells by irradiated MHCmatched mice. *Nature 349: 329-331*.
- 46. Young, N. T., M. Bunce, P. J. Morris, and K. I. Welsh. 1997. Killer cell inhibitory receptor interactions with HLA class I molecules: implications for alloreactivity and transplantation. *Hum. Immunol.* 52: 1-11.
- 47. Sharabi, Y., I. Aksentijevich, T. M. Sundt, 3rd, D. H. Sachs, and M. Sykes. 1990.
  Specific tolerance induction across a xenogeneic barrier: production of mixed rat/mouse lymphohematopoietic chimeras using a nonlethal preparative regimen.
  J. Exp. Med. 172: 195-202.
- 48. Nikolic, B., D. T. Cooke, G. Zhao, and M. Sykes. 2001. Both gamma delta T cells and NK cells inhibit the engraftment of xenogeneic rat bone marrow cells and the induction of xenograft tolerance in mice. *J. Immunol. 166: 1398-1404*.
- Ruggeri, L., M. Capanni, E. Urbani, K. Perruccio, W. D. Shlomchik, A. Tosti, S. Posati, D. Rogaia, F. Frassoni, F. Aversa, M. F. Martelli, and A. Velardi. 2002. Effectiveness of donor natural killer cell alloreactivity in mismatched hematopoietic transplants. *Science 295: 2097-2100*.
- 50. Manilay, J. O., and M. Sykes. 1998. Natural killer cells and their role in graft rejection. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* 10: 532-538.
- Baumann, B. C., P. Forte, R. J. Hawley, R. Rieben, M. K. Schneider, and J. D. Seebach. 2004. Lack of galactose-alpha-1,3-galactose expression on porcine endothelial cells prevents complement-induced lysis but not direct xenogeneic NK cytotoxicity. *J. Immunol. 172:* 6460-6467.

- Inverardi, L., B. Clissi, A. L. Stolzer, J. R. Bender, M. S. Sandrin, and R. Pardi. 1997. Human natural killer lymphocytes directly recognize evolutionarily conserved oligosaccharide ligands expressed by xenogeneic tissues. *Transplantation 63: 1318-1330.*
- 53. Klein, E., L. Di Renzo, and E. Yefenof. 1990. Contribution of CR3, CD11b/CD18 to cytolysis by human NK cells. *Mol. Immunol.* 27: 1343-1347.
- 54. Hauzenberger, E., J. Klominek, and J. Holgersson. 2004. Anti-Gal IgG potentiates natural killer cell migration across porcine endothelium via endothelial cell activation and increased natural killer cell motility triggered by CD16 crosslinking. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 34: 1154-1163.
- 55. Sykes, M. 2001. Mixed chimerism and transplant tolerance. *Immunity 14: 417-424*.
- Colucci, F., J. P. Di Santo, and P. J. Leibson. 2002. Natural killer cell activation in mice and men: different triggers for similar weapons? *Nat. Immunol. 3: 807-813.*
- 57. Lanier, L. L. 1998. NK cell receptors. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 16: 359-393.
- 58. Long, E. O. 1999. Regulation of immune responses through inhibitory receptors. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 17: 875-904.
- Sivori, S., M. Vitale, L. Morelli, L. Sanseverino, R. Augugliaro, C. Bottino, L. Moretta, and A. Moretta. 1997. p46, a novel natural killer cell-specific surface molecule that mediates cell activation. *J. Exp. Med.* 186: 1129-1136.
- 60. Falco, M., C. Cantoni, C. Bottino, A. Moretta, and R. Biassoni. 1999.
  Identification of the rat homologue of the human NKp46 triggering receptor. *Immunol. Lett.* 68: 411-414.
- Westgaard, I. H., S. F. Berg, J. T. Vaage, L. L. Wang, W. M. Yokoyama, E. Dissen, and S. Fossum. 2004. Rat NKp46 activates natural killer cell cytotoxicity and is associated with FcepsilonRIgamma and CD3zeta. *J. Leukoc. Biol.* 76: 1200-1206.
- Sivori, S., D. Pende, C. Bottino, E. Marcenaro, A. Pessino, R. Biassoni, L.
   Moretta, and A. Moretta. 1999. NKp46 is the major triggering receptor involved in the natural cytotoxicity of fresh or cultured human NK cells. Correlation

between surface density of NKp46 and natural cytotoxicity against autologous, allogeneic or xenogeneic target cells. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 29: 1656-1666.

- Arnon, T. I., H. Achdout, N. Lieberman, R. Gazit, T. Gonen-Gross, G. Katz, A. Bar-Ilan, N. Bloushtain, M. Lev, A. Joseph, E. Kedar, A. Porgador, and O. Mandelboim. 2004. The mechanisms controlling the recognition of tumor- and virus-infected cells by NKp46. *Blood 103: 664-672*.
- Brown, D., J. Trowsdale, and R. Allen. 2004. The LILR family: modulators of innate and adaptive immune pathways in health and disease. *Tissue Antigens 64: 215-225*.
- 65. Lebbink, R. J., T. de Ruiter, G. J. Kaptijn, and L. Meyaard. 2005. Identification and characterization of the rat homologue of LAIR-1. *Immunogenetics* 57: 344-351.
- 66. Lebbink, R. J., T. de Ruiter, A. Verbrugge, W. S. Bril, and L. Meyaard. 2004. The mouse homologue of the leukocyte-associated Ig-like receptor-1 is an inhibitory receptor that recruits Src homology region 2-containing protein tyrosine phosphatase (SHP)-2, but not SHP-1. J. Immunol. 172: 5535-5543.
- Aoukaty, A., I. F. Lee, J. Wu, and R. Tan. 2003. Chronic active Epstein-Barr virus infection associated with low expression of leukocyte-associated immunoglobulin-like receptor-1 (LAIR-1) on natural killer cells. J. Clin. Immunol. 23: 141-145.
- Martin, A. M., J. K. Kulski, C. Witt, P. Pontarotti, and F. T. Christiansen. 2002. Leukocyte Ig-like receptor complex (LRC) in mice and men. *Trends Immunol*. 23: 81-88.
- Kubagawa, H., C. C. Chen, L. H. Ho, T. S. Shimada, L. Gartland, C. Mashburn,
  T. Uehara, J. V. Ravetch, and M. D. Cooper. 1999. Biochemical nature and
  cellular distribution of the paired immunoglobulin-like receptors, PIR-A and PIRB. J. Exp. Med. 189: 309-318.
- Dennis, G., Jr., R. P. Stephan, H. Kubagawa, and M. D. Cooper. 1999.
   Characterization of paired Ig-like receptors in rats. J. Immunol. 163: 6371-6377.

- Cosman, D., N. Fanger, L. Borges, M. Kubin, W. Chin, L. Peterson, and M. L. Hsu. 1997. A novel immunoglobulin superfamily receptor for cellular and viral MHC class I molecules. *Immunity 7: 273-282*.
- 72. Willcox, B. E., L. M. Thomas, and P. J. Bjorkman. 2003. Crystal structure of HLA-A2 bound to LIR-1, a host and viral major histocompatibility complex receptor. *Nat. Immunol.* 4: 913-919.
- Ponte, M., C. Cantoni, R. Biassoni, A. Tradori-Cappai, G. Bentivoglio, C. Vitale, S. Bertone, A. Moretta, L. Moretta, and M. C. Mingari. 1999. Inhibitory receptors sensing HLA-G1 molecules in pregnancy: decidua-associated natural killer cells express LIR-1 and CD94/NKG2A and acquire p49, an HLA-G1-specific receptor. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 96: 5674-5679*.
- 74. Castells, M. C., L. B. Klickstein, K. Hassani, J. A. Cumplido, M. E. Lacouture, K. F. Austen, and H. R. Katz. 2001. gp49B1-alpha(v)beta3 interaction inhibits antigen-induced mast cell activation. *Nat. Immunol. 2: 436-442*.
- Wang, L. L., D. T. Chu, A. O. Dokun, and W. M. Yokoyama. 2000. Inducible expression of the gp49B inhibitory receptor on NK cells. *J. Immunol.* 164: 5215-5220.
- 76. Boyington, J. C., A. G. Brooks, and P. D. Sun. 2001. Structure of killer cell immunoglobulin-like receptors and their recognition of the class I MHC molecules. *Immunol. Rev. 181:* 66-78.
- Sawicki, M. W., N. Dimasi, K. Natarajan, J. Wang, D. H. Margulies, and R. A. Mariuzza. 2001. Structural basis of MHC class I recognition by natural killer cell receptors. *Immunol. Rev.* 181: 52-65.
- 78. Vilches, C., and P. Parham. 2002. KIR: diverse, rapidly evolving receptors of innate and adaptive immunity. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 20: 217-251.
- 79. Wilson, M. J., M. Torkar, A. Haude, S. Milne, T. Jones, D. Sheer, S. Beck, and J. Trowsdale. 2000. Plasticity in the organization and sequences of human KIR/ILT gene families. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A* 97: 4778-4783.
- Trowsdale, J., R. Barten, A. Haude, C. A. Stewart, S. Beck, and M. J. Wilson.
   2001. The genomic context of natural killer receptor extended gene families. *Immunol. Rev. 181: 20-38.*

- Martin, A. M., E. M. Freitas, C. S. Witt, and F. T. Christiansen. 2000. The genomic organization and evolution of the natural killer immunoglobulin-like receptor (KIR) gene cluster. *Immunogenetics* 51: 268-280.
- Witt, C. S., C. Dewing, D. C. Sayer, M. Uhrberg, P. Parham, and F. T. Christiansen. 1999. Population frequencies and putative haplotypes of the killer cell immunoglobulin-like receptor sequences and evidence for recombination. *Transplantation 68: 1784-1789*.
- Takahashi, T., M. Yawata, T. Raudsepp, T. L. Lear, B. P. Chowdhary, D. F. Antczak, and M. Kasahara. 2004. Natural killer cell receptors in the horse: evidence for the existence of multiple transcribed LY49 genes. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 34: 773-784.
- Mager, D. L., K. L. McQueen, V. Wee, and J. D. Freeman. 2001. Evolution of natural killer cell receptors: coexistence of functional Ly49 and KIR genes in baboons. *Curr. Biol.* 11: 626-630.
- 85. Gagnier, L., B. T. Wilhelm, and D. L. Mager. 2003. Ly49 genes in non-rodent mammals. *Immunogenetics* 55: 109-115.
- Hoelsbrekken, S. E., O. Nylenna, P. C. Saether, I. O. Slettedal, J. C. Ryan, S. Fossum, and E. Dissen. 2003. Cutting edge: molecular cloning of a killer cell Ig-like receptor in the mouse and rat. *J. Immunol. 170: 2259-2263*.
- Hsieh, C. L., K. Nagasaki, O. M. Martinez, and S. M. Krams. 2006. NKp30 is a functional activation receptor on a subset of rat natural killer cells. *Eur. J. Immunol. 36: 2170-2180.*
- Bottino, C., R. Biassoni, R. Millo, L. Moretta, and A. Moretta. 2000. The human natural cytotoxicity receptors (NCR) that induce HLA class I- independent NK cell triggering. *Hum. Immunol.* 61: 1-6.
- Hao, L., and M. Nei. 2004. Genomic organization and evolutionary analysis of Ly49 genes encoding the rodent natural killer cell receptors: rapid evolution by repeated gene duplication. *Immunogenetics 56: 343-354*.
- Braud, V. M., D. S. Allan, C. A. O'Callaghan, K. Soderstrom, A. D'Andrea, G. S.
   Ogg, S. Lazetic, N. T. Young, J. I. Bell, J. H. Phillips, L. L. Lanier, and A. J.

McMichael. 1998. HLA-E binds to natural killer cell receptors CD94/NKG2A, B and C. *Nature 391: 795-799*.

- 91. Vance, R. E., J. R. Kraft, J. D. Altman, P. E. Jensen, and D. H. Raulet. 1998. Mouse CD94/NKG2A is a natural killer cell receptor for the nonclassical major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I molecule Qa-1(b). J. Exp. Med. 188: 1841-1848.
- 92. Chan, P. Y., and F. Takei. 1989. Molecular cloning and characterization of a novel murine T cell surface antigen, YE1/48. J. Immunol. 142: 1727-1736.
- Yokoyama, W. M., L. B. Jacobs, O. Kanagawa, E. M. Shevach, and D. I. Cohen.
   1989. A murine T lymphocyte antigen belongs to a supergene family of type II integral membrane proteins. *J. Immunol.* 143: 1379-1386.
- Giorda, R., W. A. Rudert, C. Vavassori, W. H. Chambers, J. C. Hiserodt, and M. Trucco. 1990. NKR-P1, a signal transduction molecule on natural killer cells. *Science 249: 1298-1300.*
- 95. McQueen, K. L., B. T. Wilhelm, K. D. Harden, and D. L. Mager. 2002. Evolution of NK receptors: a single Ly49 and multiple KIR genes in the cow. *Eur. J. Immunol. 32: 810-817.*
- 96. Chambers, W. H., N. L. Vujanovic, A. B. DeLeo, M. W. Olszowy, R. B. Herberman, and J. C. Hiserodt. 1989. Monoclonal antibody to a triggering structure expressed on rat natural killer cells and adherent lymphokine-activated killer cells. J. Exp. Med. 169: 1373-1389.
- Ryan, J. C., J. Turck, E. C. Niemi, W. M. Yokoyama, and W. E. Seaman. 1992.
   Molecular cloning of the NK1.1 antigen, a member of the NKR-P1 family of natural killer cell activation molecules. *J. Immunol.* 149: 1631-1635.
- 98. Kung, S. K. P., R.-C. Su, J. Shannon, and R. G. Miller. 1999. The NKR-P1B gene product is an inhibitory receptor on SJL/J NK cells. *J. Immunol.* 162: 5876-5887.
- Carlyle, J. R., A. Martin, A. Mehra, L. Attisano, F. W. Tsui, and Zuniga-Plfucker.
   1999. Mouse NKR-P1B, a novel NK1.1 antigen with inhibitory function. J.
   Immunol. 162: 5917-5923.

- Bendelac, A., M. N. Rivera, S. H. Park, and J. H. Roark. 1997. Mouse CD1specific NK1 T cells: development, specificity, and function. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 15: 535-562.
- Plougastel, B., C. Dubbelde, and W. M. Yokoyama. 2001. Cloning of Clr, a new family of lectin-like genes localized between mouse Nkrp1a and Cd69. *Immunogenetics 53: 209-214.*
- 102. Iizuka, K., O. V. Naidenko, B. F. Plougastel, D. H. Fremont, and W. M. Yokoyama. 2003. Genetically linked C-type lectin-related ligands for the NKRP1 family of natural killer cell receptors. *Nat. Immunol. 4: 801-807*.
- 103. Rosen, D. B., J. Bettadapura, M. Alsharifi, P. A. Mathew, H. S. Warren, and L. L. Lanier. 2005. Cutting edge: lectin-like transcript-1 is a ligand for the inhibitory human NKR-P1A receptor. J. Immunol. 175: 7796-7799.
- 104. Lanier, L. L., C. Chang, and J. H. Phillips. 1994. Human NKR-P1A. A disulfidelinked homodimer of the C-type lectin superfamily expressed by a subset of NK and T lymphocytes. J. Immunol. 153: 2417-2428.
- 105. Houchins, J. P., T. Yabe, C. McSherry, and F. H. Bach. 1991. DNA sequence analysis of NKG2, a family of related cDNA clones encoding type II integral membrane proteins on human natural killer cells. J. Exp. Med. 173: 1017-1020.
- 106. Lazetic, S., C. Chang, J. P. Houchins, L. L. Lanier, and J. H. Phillips. 1996. Human natural killer cell receptors involved in MHC class I recognition are disulfide-linked heterodimers of CD94 and NKG2 subunits. *J. Immunol. 157:* 4741-4745.
- Plougastel, B., T. Jones, and J. Trowsdale. 1996. Genomic structure, chromosome location, and alternative splicing of the human NKG2A gene. *Immunogenetics 44:* 286-291.
- 108. Bellon, T., A. B. Heredia, M. Llano, A. Minguela, A. Rodriguez, M. Lopez-Botet, and P. Aparicio. 1999. Triggering of effector functions on a CD8+ T cell clone upon the aggregation of an activatory CD94/kp39 heterodimer. J. Immunol. 162: 3996-4002.
- 109. Gunturi, A., R. E. Berg, and J. Forman. 2004. The role of CD94/NKG2 in innate and adaptive immunity. *Immunol. Res. 30: 29-34*.

- Diefenbach, A., A. M. Jamieson, S. D. Liu, N. Shastri, and D. H. Raulet. 2000.
   Ligands for the murine NKG2D receptor: expression by tumor cells and activation of NK cells and macrophages. *Nat. Immunol. 1: 119-126*.
- 111. Cerwenka, A., A. B. Bakker, T. McClanahan, J. Wagner, J. Wu, J. H. Phillips, and L. L. Lanier. 2000. Retinoic acid early inducible genes define a ligand family for the activating NKG2D receptor in mice. *Immunity* 12: 721-727.
- 112. Gasser, S., S. Orsulic, E. J. Brown, and D. Raulet. 2005. The DNA damage pathway regulates innate immune system ligands of the NKG2D receptor. *Nature* 436: 1186-1190.
- 113. Cosman, D., J. Mullberg, C. L. Sutherland, W. Chin, R. Armitage, W. Fanslow, M. Kubin, and N. J. Chalupny. 2001. ULBPs, novel MHC class I-related molecules, bind to CMV glycoprotein UL16 and stimulate NK cytotoxicity through the NKG2D receptor. *Immunity 14: 123-133*.
- 114. Carayannopoulos, L. N., O. V. Naidenko, D. H. Fremont, and W. M. Yokoyama.
  2002. Cutting edge: murine UL16-binding protein-like transcript 1: a newly described transcript encoding a high-affinity ligand for murine NKG2D. J. *Immunol.* 169: 4079-4083.
- Groh, V., S. Bahram, S. Bauer, A. Herman, M. Beauchamp, and T. Spies. 1996.
  Cell stress-regulated human major histocompatibility complex class I gene expressed in gastrointestinal epithelium. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 93:* 12445-12450.
- Girardi, M., D. E. Oppenheim, C. R. Steele, J. M. Lewis, E. Glusac, R. Filler, P. Hobby, B. Sutton, R. E. Tigelaar, and A. C. Hayday. 2001. Regulation of cutaneous malignancy by gammadelta T cells. *Science 294: 605-609*.
- 117. Krmpotic, A., D. H. Busch, I. Bubic, F. Gebhardt, H. Hengel, M. Hasan, A. A. Scalzo, U. H. Koszinowski, and S. Jonjic. 2002. MCMV glycoprotein gp40 confers virus resistance to CD8+ T cells and NK cells in vivo. *Nat. Immunol. 3: 529-535*.
- 118. Yokoyama, W. M., and B. F. Plougastel. 2003. Immune functions encoded by the natural killer gene complex. *Nat. Rev. Immunol. 3: 304-316*.

- 119. Westgaard, I. H., S. F. Berg, S. Orstavik, S. Fossum, and E. Dissen. 1998.
  Identification of a human member of the Ly-49 multigene family. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 28: 1839-1846.
- 120. Makrigiannis, A. P., A. T. Pau, P. L. Schwartzberg, D. W. McVicar, T. W. Beck, and S. K. Anderson. 2002. A BAC contig map of the Ly49 gene cluster in 129 mice reveals extensive differences in gene content relative to C57BL/6 mice. *Genomics 79: 437-444*.
- 121. Wilhelm, B. T., L. Gagnier, and D. L. Mager. 2002. Sequence analysis of the ly49 cluster in C57BL/6 mice: a rapidly evolving multigene family in the immune system. *Genomics 80: 646-661*.
- 122. Barten, R., M. Torkar, A. Haude, J. Trowsdale, and M. J. Wilson. 2001. Divergent and convergent evolution of NK-cell receptors. *Trends Immunol.* 22: 52-57.
- 123. Kane, K. P., K. J. Lavender, and B. J. Ma. 2004. Ly-49 receptors and their functions. *Crit. Rev. Immunol.* 24: 321-348.
- 124. Nylenna, O., C. Naper, J. T. Vaage, P. Y. Woon, D. Gauguier, E. Dissen, J. C. Ryan, and S. Fossum. 2005. The genes and gene organization of the Ly49 region of the rat natural killer cell gene complex. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 35: 261-272.
- 125. Long, E. O., D. N. Burshtyn, W. P. Clark, M. Peruzzi, S. Rajagopalan, S. Rojo, N. Wagtmann, and C. C. Winter. 1997. Killer cell inhibitory receptors: diversity, specificity, and function. *Immunol. Rev. 155: 135-144.*
- 126. Chan, P. Y., and F. Takei. 1988. Characterization of a murine T cell surface disulfide-linked dimer of 45-kDa glycopeptides (YE1/48 antigen). Comparison with T cell receptor, purification, and partial amino acid sequences. J. Immunol. 140: 161-169.
- Mason, L. H., J. R. Ortaldo, H. A. Young, V. Kumar, M. Bennett, and S. K. Anderson. 1995. Cloning and functional characteristics of murine large granular lymphocyte-1: a member of the Ly-49 gene family (Ly-49G2). J. Exp. Med. 182: 293-303.
- Matsumoto, N., R. K. Ribaudo, J. P. Abastado, D. H. Margulies, and W. M. Yokoyama. 1998. The lectin-like NK cell receptor Ly-49A recognizes a

carbohydrate- independent epitope on its MHC class I ligand. *Immunity 8: 245-254*.

- 129. Faure, M., and E. O. Long. 2002. KIR2DL4 (CD158d), an NK cell-activating receptor with inhibitory potential. *J. Immunol.* 168: 6208-6214.
- Proteau, M. F., E. Rousselle, and A. P. Makrigiannis. 2004. Mapping of the BALB/c Ly49 cluster defines a minimal natural killer cell receptor gene repertoire. *Genomics* 84: 669-677
- 131. Naper, C., K. Z. Dai, L. Kveberg, B. Rolstad, E. C. Niemi, J. T. Vaage, and J. C. Ryan. 2005. Two structurally related rat Ly49 receptors with opposing functions (Ly49 stimulatory receptor 5 and Ly49 inhibitory receptor 5) recognize nonclassical MHC class Ib-encoded target ligands. J. Immunol. 174: 2702-2711.
- 132. Vely, F., and E. Vivier. 1997. Conservation of structural features reveals the existence of a large family of inhibitory cell surface receptors and noninhibitory/activatory counterparts. *J. Immunol.* 159: 2075-2077.
- 133. Nakamura, M. C., E. C. Niemi, M. J. Fisher, L. D. Shultz, W. E. Seaman, and J. C. Ryan. 1997. Mouse Ly-49A interrupts early signaling events in natural killer cell cytotoxicity and functionally associates with the SHP-1 tyrosine phosphatase. *J. Exp. Med.* 185: 673-684.
- Wang, J. W., J. M. Howson, T. Ghansah, C. Desponts, J. M. Ninos, S. L. May, K. H. Nguyen, N. Toyama-Sorimachi, and W. G. Kerr. 2002. Influence of SHIP on the NK repertoire and allogeneic bone marrow transplantation. *Science 295: 2094-2097*.
- Lanier, L. L. 2003. Natural killer cell receptor signaling. Curr. Opin. Immunol. 15: 308-314.
- Kane, K. P., E. T. Silver, and B. Hazes. 2001. Specificity and function of activating Ly-49 receptors. *Immunol. Rev. 181: 104-114*.
- 137. McVicar, D. W., and D. N. Burshtyn. 2001. Intracellular signaling by the killer immunoglobulin-like receptors and Ly49. *Sci. STKE 2001: RE1*.
- Gibbs, R. A., G. M. Weinstock, M. L. Metzker, D. M. Muzny, E. J. Sodergren, S. Scherer, G. Scott, D. Steffen, K. C. Worley, P. E. Burch, G. Okwuonu, S. Hines, L. Lewis, C. DeRamo, O. Delgado, S. Dugan-Rocha, G. Miner, M. Morgan, A.

Hawes, R. Gill, Celera, R. A. Holt, M. D. Adams, P. G. Amanatides, H. Baden-Tillson, M. Barnstead, S. Chin, C. A. Evans, S. Ferriera, C. Fosler, A. Glodek, Z. Gu, D. Jennings, C. L. Kraft, T. Nguyen, C. M. Pfannkoch, C. Sitter, G. G.
Sutton, J. C. Venter, T. Woodage, D. Smith, H. M. Lee, E. Gustafson, P. Cahill, A. Kana, L. Doucette-Stamm, K. Weinstock, K. Fechtel, R. B. Weiss, D. M.
Dunn, E. D. Green, R. W. Blakesley, G. G. Bouffard, P. J. De Jong, K. Osoegawa, B. Zhu, M. Marra, J. Schein, I. Bosdet, C. Fjell, S. Jones, M. Krzywinski, C.
Mathewson, A. Siddiqui, N. Wye, J. McPherson, S. Zhao, C. M. Fraser, J. Shetty, S. Shatsman, K. Geer, Y. Chen, S. Abramzon, W. C. Nierman, P. H. Havlak, R.
Chen, K. J. Durbin, A. Egan, Y. Ren, X. Z. Song, B. Li, Y. Liu, X. Qin, S.
Cawley, A. J. Cooney, L. M. D'Souza, K. Martin, J. Q. Wu, M. L. Gonzalez-Garay, A. R. Jackson, K. J. Kalafus, M. P. McLeod, A. Milosavljevic, D. Virk, A.
Volkov, D. A. Wheeler, Z. Zhang, J. A. Bailey, E. E. Eichler, E. Tuzun, et al.
2004. Genome sequence of the Brown Norway rat yields insights into mammalian evolution. *Nature* 428: 493-521.

- Rolstad, B., C. Naper, G. Lovik, J. T. Vaage, J. C. Ryan, E. Backman-Petersson,
   R. D. Kirsch, and G. W. Butcher. 2001. Rat natural killer cell receptor systems and recognition of MHC class I molecules. *Immunol. Rev.* 181: 149-157.
- 140. Kveberg, L., K. Z. Dai, E. Dissen, J. C. Ryan, B. Rolstad, J. T. Vaage, and C. Naper. 2006. Strain-dependent expression of four structurally related rat Ly49 receptors; correlation with NK gene complex haplotype and NK alloreactivity. *Immunogenetics*.
- 141. Dissen, E., J. C. Ryan, W. E. Seaman, and S. Fossum. 1996. An autosomal dominant locus, Nka, mapping to the Ly-49 region of a rat natural killer (NK) gene complex, controls NK cell lysis of allogeneic lymphocytes. J. Exp. Med. 183: 2197-2207.
- 142. Abi-Rached, L., and P. Parham. 2005. Natural selection drives recurrent formation of activating killer cell immunoglobulin-like receptor and Ly49 from inhibitory homologues. J. Exp. Med. 201: 1319-1332.

- 143. Smith, H. R., H. H. Chuang, L. L. Wang, M. Salcedo, J. W. Heusel, and W. M. Yokoyama. 2000. Nonstochastic coexpression of activation receptors on murine natural killer cells. J. Exp. Med. 191: 1341-1354.
- 144. Kubota, A., S. Kubota, S. Lohwasser, D. L. Mager, and F. Takei. 1999. Diversity of NK cell receptor repertoire in adult and neonatal mice. J. Immunol. 163: 212-216.
- 145. Held, W., and B. Kunz. 1998. An allele-specific, stochastic gene expression process controls the expression of multiple Ly49 family genes and generates a diverse, MHC-specific NK cell receptor repertoire. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 28: 2407-2416.
- 146. Makrigiannis, A. P., E. Rousselle, and S. K. Anderson. 2004. Independent control of Ly49g alleles: implications for NK cell repertoire selection and tumor cell killing. J. Immunol. 172: 1414-1425.
- Saleh, A., A. P. Makrigiannis, D. L. Hodge, and S. K. Anderson. 2002.
  Identification of a novel Ly49 promoter that is active in bone marrow and fetal thymus. *J. Immunol.* 168: 5163-5169.
- 148. Saleh, A., G. E. Davies, V. Pascal, P. W. Wright, D. L. Hodge, E. H. Cho, S. J. Lockett, M. Abshari, and S. K. Anderson. 2004. Identification of probabilistic transcriptional switches in the Ly49 gene cluster: a eukaryotic mechanism for selective gene activation. *Immunity 21: 55-66*.
- Fahlen, L., U. Lendahl, and C. L. Sentman. 2001. MHC class I-Ly49 interactions shape the Ly49 repertoire on murine NK cells. J. Immunol. 166: 6585-6592.
- 150. Hanke, T., H. Takizawa, and D. H. Raulet. 2001. MHC-dependent shaping of the inhibitory Ly49 receptor repertoire on NK cells: evidence for a regulated sequential model. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 31: 3370-3379.
- Held, W., J. R. Dorfman, M. F. Wu, and D. H. Raulet. 1996. Major histocompatibility complex class I-dependent skewing of the natural killer cell Ly49 receptor repertoire. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 26: 2286-2292.
- 152. Held, W., and D. H. Raulet. 1997. Ly49A transgenic mice provide evidence for a major histocompatibility complex-dependent education process in natural killer cell development. J. Exp. Med. 185: 2079-2088.

- 153. Williams, N. S., A. Kubota, M. Bennett, V. Kumar, and F. Takei. 2000. Clonal analysis of NK cell development from bone marrow progenitors in vitro: orderly acquisition of receptor gene expression. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 30: 2074-2082.
- 154. Parham, P. 1999. Virtual reality in the MHC. Immunol. Rev. 167: 5-15.
- 155. Gunther, E., and L. Walter. 2000. Comparative genomic aspects of rat, mouse and human MHC class I gene regions. *Cytogenet. Cell Genet.* 91: 107-112.
- 156. Aosai, F., C. Ohlen, H. G. Ljunggren, P. Hoglund, L. Franksson, H. Ploegh, A. Townsend, K. Karre, and H. J. Stauss. 1991. Different types of allospecific CTL clones identified by their ability to recognize peptide loading-defective target cells. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 21: 2767-2774.
- 157. Flutter, B., and B. Gao. 2004. MHC class I antigen presentation--recently trimmed and well presented. *Cell. Mol. Immunol.* 1: 22-30.
- Walter, L., and E. Gunther. 2000. Physical mapping and evolution of the centromeric class I gene-containing region of the rat MHC. *Immunogenetics 51:* 829-837.
- 159. Lambracht, D., and K. Wonigeit. 1995. Sequence analysis of the promoter regions of the classical class I gene RT1.Al and two other class I genes of the rat MHC. *Immunogenetics 41: 375-379.*
- 160. Wang, C. R., A. Livingstone, G. W. Butcher, E. Hermel, J. C. Howard, and K. F. Lindahl. 1991. Antigen presentation by neoclassical MHC class I gene products in murine rodents. In *Molecular evolution of the major histocompatibility complex.*, Vol. H 59. J. Klein, and D. Klein, eds. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, Heidelberg, p. 441-462.
- Leong, L. Y., A. F. Le Rolle, E. V. Deverson, S. J. Powis, A. P. Larkins, J. T. Vaage, A. Stokland, D. Lambracht-Washington, B. Rolstad, E. Joly, and G. W. Butcher. 1999. RT1-U: identification of a novel, active, class Ib alloantigen of the rat MHC. J. Immunol. 162: 743-752.
- Ioannidu, S., L. Walter, R. Dressel, and E. Gunther. 2001. Physical map and expression profile of genes of the telomeric class I gene region of the rat MHC. J. Immunol. 166: 3957-3965.

- Lambracht, D., C. Prokop, H. J. Hedrich, K. Fischer Lindahl, and K. Wonigeit.
   1995. Mapping of H2-M homolog and MOG genes in the rat MHC. *Immunogenetics* 42: 418-421.
- 164. Parker, K. E., C. A. Carter, G. Murphy, and J. W. Fabre. 1991. The rat RT.BM1 MHC class I cDNA shows a high level of sequence similarity to the mouse H-2T23d gene. *Immunogenetics 34: 211-213*.
- 165. Wurst, W., K. Wonigeit, and E. Gunther. 1989. A mutant rat major histocompatibility haplotype showing a large deletion of class I sequences. *Immunogenetics 30: 237-242.*
- Lambracht, D., H. J. Hedrich, and K. Wonigeit. 1993. Deletion of major histocompatibility complex class I genes in a new mutant RT1 haplotype (lm3) defined in BN.1LM3/Han rats. *Transplant Proc.* 25: 2756-2758.
- Lambracht, D., L. Hanisch, W. Wurst, E. Gunther, and K. Wonigeit. 1990. Restriction fragment-length polymorphism analysis of a second laboratoryderived mutant RT1 haplotype. *Transplant Proc.* 22: 2512-2513.
- 168. Klein, J., A. Sato, and C. O'hUigin. 1998. Evolution by gene duplication in the major histocompatibility complex. *Cytogenet. Cell Genet.* 80: 123-127.
- Joly, E., L. Leong, W. J. Coadwell, C. Clarkson, and G. W. Butcher. 1996. The rat MHC haplotype RT1<sup>c</sup> expresses two classical class I molecules. *J. Immunol.* 157: 1551-1558.
- Amadou, C., A. Kumanovics, E. P. Jones, D. Lambracht-Washington, M.
  Yoshino, and K. F. Lindahl. 1999. The mouse major histocompatibility complex: some assembly required. *Immunol. Rev.* 167: 211-221.
- 171. Hughes, A. L., and M. Yeager. 1998. Natural selection at major histocompatibility complex loci of vertebrates. *Annu. Rev. Genet.* 32: 415-435.
- Powis, S. J., E. V. Deverson, W. J. Coadwell, A. Ciruela, N. S. Huskisson, H. Smith, G. W. Butcher, and J. C. Howard. 1992. Effect of polymorphism of an MHC-linked transporter on the peptides assembled in a class I molecule. *Nature* 357: 211-215.

- 173. Rammensee, H., J. Bachmann, N. P. Emmerich, O. A. Bachor, and S. Stevanovic.
  1999. SYFPEITHI: database for MHC ligands and peptide motifs. *Immunogenetics 50: 213-219.*
- 174. Sette, A., J. Sidney, B. D. Livingston, J. L. Dzuris, C. Crimi, C. M. Walker, S. Southwood, E. J. Collins, and A. L. Hughes. 2003. Class I molecules with similar peptide-binding specificities are the result of both common ancestry and convergent evolution. *Immunogenetics* 54: 830-841.
- 175. Niedermann, G., E. Geier, M. Lucchiari-Hartz, N. Hitziger, A. Ramsperger, and K. Eichmann. 1999. The specificity of proteasomes: impact on MHC class I processing and presentation of antigens. *Immunol. Rev. 172: 29-48*.
- 176. Ploegh, H. L. 1998. Viral strategies of immune evasion. Science 280: 248-253.
- 177. Ferrone, S., and F. M. Marincola. 1995. Loss of HLA class I antigens by melanoma cells: molecular mechanisms, functional significance and clinical relevance. *Immunol. Today 16: 487-494*.
- 178. Dimasi, N., and R. Biassoni. 2005. Structural and functional aspects of the Ly49 natural killer cell receptors. *Immunol. Cell Biol.* 83: 1-8.
- 179. Naper, C., S. Hayashi, E. Joly, G. W. Butcher, B. Rolstad, J. T. Vaage, and J. C. Ryan. 2002. Ly49i2 is an inhibitory rat natural killer cell receptor for an MHC class Ia molecule (RT1-A1<sup>c</sup>). *Eur. J. Immunol.* 32: 2031-2036.
- 180. Silver, E. T., K. J. Lavender, D. E. Gong, B. Hazes, and K. P. Kane. 2002. Allelic variation in the ectodomain of the inhibitory Ly-49G2 receptor alters its specificity for allogeneic and xenogeneic ligands. J. Immunol. 169: 4752-4760.
- 181. Ortaldo, J. R., and H. A. Young. 2005. Mouse Ly49 NK receptors: balancing activation and inhibition. *Mol. Immunol.* 42: 445-450.
- 182. Regunathan, J., Y. Chen, D. Wang, and S. Malarkannan. 2005. NKG2D receptormediated NK cell function is regulated by inhibitory Ly49 receptors. *Blood 105:* 233-240.
- Ljunggren, H. G., and K. Karre. 1990. In search of the 'missing self': MHC molecules and NK cell recognition. *Immunol. Today* 11: 237-244.
- 184. Bonaparte, M. I., and E. Barker. 2004. Killing of human immunodeficiency virusinfected primary T-cell blasts by autologous natural killer cells is dependent on

the ability of the virus to alter the expression of major histocompatibility complex class I molecules. *Blood 104: 2087-2094*.

- 185. Silver, E. T., D. Gong, B. Hazes, and K. P. Kane. 2001. Ly-49W, an activating receptor of nonobese diabetic mice with close homology to the inhibitory receptor Ly-49G, recognizes H-2D(k) and H-2D(d). J. Immunol. 166: 2333-2341.
- Silver, E. T., D. E. Gong, C. S. Chang, A. Amrani, P. Santamaria, and K. P. Kane.
  2000. Ly-49P activates NK-mediated lysis by recognizing H-2D<sup>d</sup>. J. Immunol.
  165: 1771-1781.
- 187. Petersson, E., R. Holmdahl, G. W. Butcher, and G. Hedlund. 1999. Activation and selection of NK cells via recognition of an allogeneic, non-classical MHC class I molecule, RT1-E. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 29: 3663-3673.
- 188. Vaage, J. T., C. Naper, G. Lovik, D. Lambracht, A. Rehm, H. J. Hedrich, K. Wonigeit, and B. Rolstad. 1994. Control of rat natural killer cell-mediated allorecognition by a major histocompatibility complex region encoding nonclassical class I antigens. J. Exp. Med. 180: 641-651.
- 189. Lotzova, E., K. A. Dicke, J. J. Trentin, and M. T. Gallagher. 1977. Genetic control of bone marrow transplantation in irradiated mice: classification of mouse strains according to their responsiveness to bone marrow allografts and xenografts. *Transplant Proc. 9: 289-292*.
- 190. Trentin, J. J., J. M. Rauchwerger, and M. T. Gallagher. 1973. Genetic resistance to marrow transplantation. *Biomedicine* 18: 86-88.
- 191. Datta, S. K., M. T. Gallagher, J. J. Trentin, R. Kiessling, and H. Wigzell. 1979. Apparent identity of mechanisms of genetic resistance to marrow transplantation and natural killer cell activity. *Biomedicine 31: 62-66*.
- Idris, A. H., H. R. Smith, L. H. Mason, J. R. Ortaldo, A. A. Scalzo, and W. M. Yokoyama. 1999. The natural killer gene complex genetic locus Chok encodes Ly-49D, a target recognition receptor that activates natural killing. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A 96: 6330-6335*.
- 193. Furukawa, H., K. Iizuka, J. Poursine-Laurent, N. Shastri, and W. M. Yokoyama.2002. A ligand for the murine NK activation receptor Ly-49D: activation of

tolerized NK cells from beta 2-microglobulin-deficient mice. J. Immunol. 169: 126-136.

- 194. Mason, L. H. 2000. Recognition of CHO cells by inhibitory and activating Ly-49 receptors. *J. Leukoc. Biol.* 68: 583-586.
- Nakamura, M. C., C. Naper, E. C. Niemi, S. C. Spusta, B. Rolstad, G. W. Butcher, W. E. Seaman, and J. C. Ryan. 1999. Natural killing of xenogeneic cells mediated by the mouse Ly-49D receptor. J. Immunol. 163: 4694-4700.
- 196. Ortaldo, J. R., R. Winkler-Pickett, and G. Wiegand. 2000. Activating Ly-49D NK receptors: expression and function in relation to ontogeny and Ly-49 inhibitor receptors. J. Leukoc. Biol. 68: 748-756.
- 197. Malarkannan, S. 2006. The balancing act: inhibitory Ly49 regulate NKG2Dmediated NK cell functions. *Semin. Immunol.* 18: 186-192.
- 198. Arase, H., E. S. Mocarski, A. E. Campbell, A. B. Hill, and L. L. Lanier. 2002. Direct recognition of cytomegalovirus by activating and inhibitory NK cell receptors. *Science 296: 1323-1326*.
- 199. Smith, H. R., J. W. Heusel, I. K. Mehta, S. Kim, B. G. Dorner, O. V. Naidenko, K. Iizuka, H. Furukawa, D. L. Beckman, J. T. Pingel, A. A. Scalzo, D. H. Fremont, and W. M. Yokoyama. 2002. Recognition of a virus-encoded ligand by a natural killer cell activation receptor. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A 99: 8826-8831*.
- 200. Daniels, K. A., G. Devora, W. C. Lai, C. L. O'Donnell, M. Bennett, and R. M. Welsh. 2001. Murine cytomegalovirus is regulated by a discrete subset of natural killer cells reactive with monoclonal antibody to Ly49H. J. Exp. Med. 194: 29-44.
- 201. Lee, S. H., A. Zafer, Y. de Repentigny, R. Kothary, M. L. Tremblay, P. Gros, P. Duplay, J. R. Webb, and S. M. Vidal. 2003. Transgenic expression of the activating natural killer receptor Ly49H confers resistance to cytomegalovirus in genetically susceptible mice. J. Exp. Med. 197: 515-526.
- 202. Makrigiannis, A. P., and S. K. Anderson. 2003. Regulation of natural killer cell function. *Cancer Biol. Ther. 2: 610-616*.

- Brennan, J., G. Mahon, D. L. Mager, W. A. Jefferies, and F. Takei. 1996.
   Recognition of class I major histocompatibility complex molecules by Ly- 49: specificities and domain interactions. J. Exp. Med. 183: 1553-1559.
- 204. Orihuela, M., D. H. Margulies, and W. M. Yokoyama. 1996. The natural killer cell receptor Ly-49A recognizes a peptide-induced conformational determinant on its major histocompatibility complex class I ligand. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A* 93: 11792-11797.
- Karlhofer, F. M., R. K. Ribaudo, and W. M. Yokoyama. 1992. MHC class I alloantigen specificity of Ly-49+ IL-2-activated natural killer cells. *Nature 358:* 66-70.
- 206. Kane, K. P. 1994. Ly-49 mediates EL4 lymphoma adhesion to isolated class I major histocompatibility complex molecules. *J. Exp. Med.* 179: 1011-1015.
- 207. Sundback, J., M. C. Nakamura, M. Waldenstrom, E. C. Niemi, W. E. Seaman, J. C. Ryan, and K. Karre. 1998. The alpha2 domain of H-2D<sup>d</sup> restricts the allelic specificity of the murine NK cell inhibitory receptor Ly-49A. *J. Immunol. 160: 5971-5978*.
- 208. Sentman, C. L., M. Y. Olsson, M. Salcedo, P. Hoglund, U. Lendahl, and K. Karre. 1994. H-2 allele-specific protection from NK cell lysis in vitro for lymphoblasts but not tumor targets. Protection mediated by alpha1/alpha2 domains. J. Immunol. 153: 5482-5490.
- 209. Waldenstrom, M., J. Sundback, M. Y. Olsson-Alheim, A. Achour, and K. Karre.
   1998. Impaired MHC class I (H-2D<sup>d</sup>)-mediated protection against Ly-49A+ NK cells after amino acid substitutions in the antigen binding cleft. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 28: 2872-2881.
- Franksson, L., J. Sundback, A. Achour, J. Bernlind, R. Glas, and K. Karre. 1999.
   Peptide dependency and selectivity of the NK cell inhibitory receptor Ly-49C.
   *Eur. J. Immunol.* 29: 2748-2758.
- 211. Lian, R. H., J. D. Freeman, D. L. Mager, and F. Takei. 1998. Role of conserved glycosylation site unique to murine class I MHC in recognition by Ly-49 NK cell receptor. J. Immunol. 161: 2301-2306.

- Lian, R. H., Y. Li, S. Kubota, D. L. Mager, and F. Takei. 1999. Recognition of class I MHC by NK receptor Ly-49C: identification of critical residues. *J. Immunol.* 162: 7271-7276.
- 213. Tormo, J., K. Natarajan, D. H. Margulies, and R. A. Mariuzza. 1999. Crystal structure of a lectin-like natural killer cell receptor bound to its MHC class I ligand. *Nature 402: 623-631*.
- 214. Yu, Y. Y., and e. al. 1994. Natural killer cells recognize common antigenic motifs shared by H-2D<sup>d</sup>, H-2L<sup>d</sup> and possibly H-2D<sup>r</sup> molecules expressed on bone marrow cells. *Int. Immunol. 6: 1297-1306*.
- 215. Chung, D. H., K. Natarajan, L. F. Boyd, J. Tormo, R. A. Mariuzza, W. M. Yokoyama, and D. H. Margulies. 2000. Mapping the ligand of the NK inhibitory receptor Ly49A on living cells. *J. Immunol.* 165: 6922-6932.
- Matsumoto, N., M. Mitsuki, K. Tajima, W. M. Yokoyama, and K. Yamamoto.
   2001. The Functional Binding Site for the C-type Lectin-like Natural Killer Cell Receptor Ly49A Spans Three Domains of Its Major Histocompatibility Complex Class I Ligand. J. Exp. Med. 193: 147-158.
- Michaelsson, J., A. Achour, A. Rolle, and K. Karre. 2001. MHC class I recognition by NK receptors in the Ly49 family is strongly influenced by the beta 2-microglobulin subunit. *J. Immunol.* 166: 7327-7334.
- 218. Mitsuki, M., N. Matsumoto, and K. Yamamoto. 2004. A species-specific determinant on beta2-microglobulin required for Ly49A recognition of its MHC class I ligand. *Int. Immunol.* 16: 197-204.
- 219. Wang, J., M. C. Whitman, K. Natarajan, J. Tormo, R. A. Mariuzza, and D. H. Margulies. 2002. Binding of the natural killer cell inhibitory receptor Ly49A to its major histocompatibility complex class I ligand. Crucial contacts include both H-2D<sup>d</sup> AND beta 2-microglobulin. J. Biol. Chem. 277: 1433-1442.
- Mason, L. H., J. Willette-Brown, S. K. Anderson, W. G. Alvord, R. L. Klabansky,
  H. A. Young, and J. R. Ortaldo. 2003. Receptor glycosylation regulates Ly-49
  binding to MHC class I. J. Immunol. 171: 4235-4242.

- 221. Sundback, J., A. Achour, J. Michaelsson, H. Lindstrom, and K. Karre. 2002. NK cell inhibitory receptor Ly-49C residues involved in MHC class I binding. *J. Immunol.* 168: 793-800.
- 222. Ma, B. J., E. T. Silver, B. Hazes, and K. P. Kane. 2003. Reciprocal transfer of class I MHC allele specificity between activating Ly-49P and Ly-49W receptors by exchange of beta 4-beta 5 loop residues. J. Immunol. 171: 5337-5344.
- 223. Dam, J., R. Guan, K. Natarajan, N. Dimasi, L. K. Chlewicki, D. M. Kranz, P. Schuck, D. H. Margulies, and R. A. Mariuzza. 2003. Variable MHC class I engagement by Ly49 natural killer cell receptors demonstrated by the crystal structure of Ly49C bound to H-2K(b). *Nat. Immunol. 4: 1213-1222.*
- 224. Matsumoto, N., W. M. Yokoyama, S. Kojima, and K. Yamamoto. 2001. The NK cell MHC class I receptor Ly49A detects mutations on H-2D<sup>d</sup> inside and outside of the peptide binding groove. J. Immunol. 166: 4422-4428.
- 225. Nakamura, M. C., S. Hayashi, E. C. Niemi, J. C. Ryan, and W. E. Seaman. 2000. Activating Ly-49D and inhibitory Ly-49A natural killer cell receptors demonstrate distinct requirements for interaction with H2-D<sup>(d)</sup>. J. Exp. Med. 192: 447-454.
- 226. Dimasi, N., M. W. Sawicki, L. A. Reineck, Y. Li, K. Natarajan, D. H. Margulies, and R. A. Mariuzza. 2002. Crystal structure of the Ly49I natural killer cell receptor reveals variability in dimerization mode within the Ly49 family. J. Mol. Biol. 320: 573-585.
- 227. Dam, J., J. Baber, A. Grishaev, E. L. Malchiodi, P. Schuck, A. Bax, and R. A. Mariuzza. 2006. Variable dimerization of the Ly49A natural killer cell receptor results in differential engagement of its MHC class I ligand. J. Mol. Biol. 362: 102-113.
- 228. Wilhelm, B. T., and D. L. Mager. 2004. Rapid expansion of the Ly49 gene cluster in rat. *Genomics* 84: 218-221.

49

# **CHAPTER II**

# THE RAT RT1-A1<sup>C</sup> MHC MOLECULE IS A XENOGENEIC LIGAND RECOGNIZED BY THE MOUSE ACTIVATING LY-49W AND INHIBITORY LY-49G RECEPTORS<sup>1,2</sup>

Kerry J. Lavender, Brian J. Ma, Elizabeth T. Silver and Kevin P. Kane

# **A. Introduction**

Natural killer cells play a significant role in innate immunity against virally infected and transformed cells (1) and contribute to transplant rejection, particularly hybrid resistance to allogeneic and xenogeneic bone marrow transplants (2, 3). Effector functions of NK cells include lysis of pathologically altered cells and the production and secretion of cytokines (4). Murine NK cells express a number of activating and inhibitory receptors that regulate these effector functions, including members of the Ly-49 receptor family (5). Ly-49 receptors belong to the C-type lectin receptor superfamily and are expressed at the cell surface as disulfide-bonded homodimers (6). These type II transmembrane proteins are encoded as a Ly-49 multi-gene family on chromosome 6 in the NK gene complex (NKC) and inbred mouse strains can differ with respect to their complement of activating and inhibitory type Ly-49 genes (7, 8). Inhibitory Ly-49 receptors contain immuno-receptor tyrosine-based inhibitory (ITIM) motifs in their cytoplasmic tails that become phosphorylated on tyrosine upon ligand recognition (9). The phosphorylated ITIMs recruit the Src homology 2 domain-containing tyrosine phosphatase-1, which

<sup>2</sup> This work was supported by operating grants from the Canadian Institutes for Health Research (CIHR) to Dr. K.P. Kane. K.L. is supported by a CIHR studentship, B.J.M by an Alberta Heritage Foundation for Medical Research (AHFMR) studentship and CIHR studentship, and E.T.S. by an AHFMR studentship. K.P. Kane is an AHFMR Scientist.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> A version of this chapter has been published in the *Journal of Immunology* (2004), 172:3518-3526. *Copyright 2004. The American Association of Immunologists, Inc.* 

disrupts membrane proximal signaling events that would otherwise lead to NK activation (10, 11). Activating Ly-49 receptors do not possess ITIMs, and instead, contain a charged residue in their transmembrane domain that facilitates association with the immuno-receptor tyrosine-based activation motif (ITAM) -containing, signaling adapter molecule, DAP12. Upon ligand engagement by the Ly-49 activating receptor, phosphorylation of tyrosine residues within the DAP12 ITAMs, leads to tyrosine kinase (Syk, Zap-70) -mediated signaling events and NK cell activation (12-15).

Ly-49 receptors are more extensively characterized in the mouse than in the rat. In both species, inhibitory Ly-49 receptors recognize classical class I MHC products, allowing NK cells to detect cells with loss of class I expression, targeting them for destruction by co-expressed activating receptors (16-21). Some activating Ly-49 receptors in the mouse recognize classical class I MHC molecules leading to target cell destruction (21-25), while rat activating Ly-49 receptors recognize non-classical class I molecules (26-28). In addition, an activating Ly-49 receptor that recognizes a mouse cytomegalovirus–encoded ortholog of a class I MHC molecule, significantly contributes to MCMV resistance (29-31).

Mouse Ly-49 receptors are also capable of recognizing xenogeneic ligands. The activating Ly-49D receptor recognizes a hamster class I molecule and an unidentified MHC-encoded rat ligand of the F344 and LEW rat strains (32, 33). Furthermore, the activating Ly-49W and inhibitory Ly-49G receptors also recognize rat strain specific xenogeneic ligands (34). Identification of xenogeneic ligands and characterization of the molecular basis of their recognition may provide additional insights into conserved or novel modes of Ly-49 receptor ligand recognition. Additionally, the identification of Ly-49 receptors and their xeno-ligands could aid studies investigating the role of NK cells in the generation and use of xenogeneic mixed chimeras for the induction of xenotransplantation tolerance (35). However, there are no reports of a specific rat xenogeneic ligand for any mouse Ly-49 receptor.

In this report we identify RT1-A1<sup>c</sup>, a rat classical class I MHC molecule, as a ligand for the closely related Ly-49W activating and Ly-49G<sup>BALB/c</sup> inhibitory receptors. This xenogeneic class I recognition is demonstrated to be allele specific, as other class I molecules of the RT1<sup>c</sup> haplotype and a classical class I molecule encoded by a different

MHC haplotype, RT1<sup>av1</sup>, are not recognized by Ly-49W and G<sup>BALB/c</sup>. Additionally, specificity for RT1-A<sup>c</sup> can be transferred from Ly-49W to Ly-49P by substitution of three residues shared by Ly-49W and G<sup>BALB/c</sup> but not Ly-49P. These residues are located in the Ly-49 β4-β5 loop which participates in mouse Ly-49 receptor interactions with mouse class I ligands (36), suggesting that mouse Ly-49 recognition of rat class I molecules follows similar principles of interaction. Preliminary analysis of conserved motifs shared by RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> and mouse ligands of Ly-49W and G<sup>BALB/c</sup> implicate a conserved MHC supertype motif as a potential mediator of xenogeneic and syngeneic recognition.

# **B.** Materials and Methods

#### Animals

Five to 8 week old female DBA/2J (H-2<sup>d</sup>) mice were purchased from The Jackson Laboratory (Bar Harbor, ME). Six to 8 week old male and female PVG (RT1<sup>c</sup>) and DA (RT1<sup>av1</sup>) rats were purchased from Harlan Sprague-Dawley (Indianapolis, IN) and Harlan U.K. (Bicester, U.K.). Male and female intra-MHC recombinant rat strains PVG.R1, PVG.R19 and PVG.R20 were purchased at 6 to 8 weeks of age from Dr. G. Butcher at The Babraham Institute (Cambridge, UK). All animals were housed in approved animal care facilities in accordance with institutional guidelines.

# Hybridomas and antibodies

The Cwy-3 (IgG1), 4D11 (rat IgG2a) and A1 (IgG2a) anti-Ly-49 hybridomas have been described (37-39). Isotype controls include BB7.1 (IgG1) anti-HLA-B7 (40), 53-5.8.3 (rat IgG2a) anti-murine Lyt-3 (41) and B27M1 (IgG2a) anti-HLA-B27, B7 (42).The Cwy-3 hybridoma was generated in this laboratory, the 53-5.8.3 hybridoma kindly provided by Dr. L.A. Herzenberg (Standford University, Standford CA) and all other hybridomas were obtained from American Type Culture Collection (Manassas, VA). Antibodies were prepared from ammonium sulfate precipitates as described (24).

#### Cell lines

YB2/0, a non-secreting rat myeloma, was obtained from American Type Culture Collection and maintained in DMEM supplemented with 10% FCS, L-glutamine, penicillin, streptomycin, 1 mM sodium pyruvate and 0.1mM non-essential amino acids. RNK-16, a spontaneous F344 rat strain NK cell leukaemia cell line (43), was provided by Dr. M. Nakamura at the University of California (San Fransisco, CA), and maintained in RPMI supplemented with 10% FCS, L-glutamine, penicillin, streptomycin and 5 x  $10^{-5}$  M 2-mercaptoethanol. RNK-16 effector cells expressing Ly-49 receptors were generated by this lab as described (24, 25, 34) and maintained under G418 selection until 48 hours prior to cytotoxicity assays.

# Mutagenesis of Ly-49W and Ly-49P

Ly-49W and Ly-49P, previously cloned in this laboratory from the NOD mouse (24, 25) were mutated using the QuikChange Mutagenesis Kit (Stratagene, La Jolla, CA). Mutagenic primers were designed to mutate amino acid residues N245, D247 and Q248 in Ly-49P to the corresponding residues found in Ly-49W, D250, G252 and K253. Inversely, residues D250, G252 and K253 in Ly-49W were mutated to the Ly-49P residues, N245, D247 and Q248. All mutations were verified by DNA sequencing. The cDNAs for the coding regions of the mutant Ly-49 constructs were inserted into the *Xhol/Xbal* sites of the mammalian expression vector BSR $\alpha$ EN (provided by Dr. A. Shaw, Washington University, St. Louis, MO). RNK-16 cells were transfected with each construct as previously described (25), and maintained under G418 selection until 48 hours prior to cytotoxicity assays.

## RNA preparation and cDNA synthesis

Spleens harvested from PVG and DA rats were immediately immersed in RNA*later* RNA stabilization reagent (Qiagen Inc., Valencia, CA), homogenized using a rotor-stator homogenizer and total RNA isolated using an RNeasy Protect Mini Kit (Qiagen Inc.). cDNA was produced using Powerscript reverse transcriptase (BD Clontech, Palo Alto, CA) with an oligo(dT) primer.

#### Generation of YB2/0 target cells expressing rat class I MHC-EGFP fusion proteins

H-2D<sup>k</sup>, previously cloned in this laboratory (34) was directionally cloned, in frame, into the *XhoI/XmaI* sites of pEGFP-N2ML (provided by Dr. D. Burshtyn,

University of Alberta, Edmonton, Canada). The pEGFP-N2ML vector has the EGFP initiation codon mutated to ATA, creating a C-terminal EGFP-fusion protein. As the majority of published rat class I MHC sequences do not include the leader sequence, silent mutations (QuikChange, Stratagene) creating an *MluI* site at the leader/coding region junction of H-2D<sup>k</sup> allowed cloning of rat class I MHC coding sequences fused to this mouse class I leader sequence. Each rat class I MHC transcript, without leader sequence, was amplified with Advantage-HF 2 polymerase mix, digested with *MluI/XmaI* and ligated into the H-2D<sup>k</sup> leader-EGFP fusion vector. Successful generation of in frame H-2D<sup>k</sup> leader - rat class I MHC-EGFP constructs was verified by DNA sequencing. YB2/0 cells were transfected with each construct as previously described (24) and maintained under G418 selection until 48 hours prior to cytotoxicity assays.

## Flow cytometric analysis

Expression of rat class I MHC constructs in YB2/0 cells was determined by EGFP fluorescence intensity relative to untransfected YB2/0 cells using a FACScan flow cytometer (BD Biosciences, Mountain View, CA). Expression of mouse Ly-49 receptors on RNK-16 transfectants was monitored with Cwy-3, 4D11 and A1 antibodies as previously described (24, 25, 34).

# Generation of Con A T cell blasts

Con A-activated T cell blasts were prepared from spleens of DBA/2 mice and PVG and DA rat strains. Spleen cells were cultured at 5 x  $10^6$  cells/ml in RPMI 1640 supplemented with 10% FCS, 2-mercaptoethanol and 3µg/ml Con A (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO) for 48 hours. Blast cells were recovered after washing in RPMI 1640 medium. No difference in blast formation or RNK-16 effector recognition was observed between spleen cells of male or female origin.

## Cytotoxicity assays

Target cells were labeled with 100-150  $\mu$ Ci of Na<sup>51</sup>CrO<sub>4</sub> (<sup>51</sup>Cr) (Mandel, Guelph, Canada) at 37°C for either 1 hour (YB2/0 and YB2/0 transfectants) or 1.5 hours (Con A blasts). Targets were washed extensively and 1 x 10<sup>4 51</sup>Cr-labeled cells were incubated

with RNK-16 or transfected RNK-16 cells for 4 hours at 37°C in V-bottom microtitre plates at various E:T ratios in triplicate. After incubation, supernatant samples were collected and counted in a MicroBeta TriLux liquid scintillation counter (PerkinElmer, Wellesley, MA). Percent specific lysis was determined as (experimental release – spontaneous release)/(maximal release – spontaneous release) x 100%. In Ly-49 specific antibody-blocking assays, mAbs were incubated for 30 minutes with 1 µg of soluble Protein A/G (Calbiochem, La Jolla, CA) for each µg of mAb before addition to effector cells to prevent reverse antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity (rADCC). Effector cells were incubated with the mAb-Protein A/G mixture for 30 minutes prior to addition of target cells. All cytotoxicity experiments were repeated a minimum of three times.

# C. Results

Con A blasts from the PVG rat strain are recognized by Ly-49W and the ectodomain of the BALB/c allele of Ly-49G

Ly-49D and Ly-49G<sup>BALB/c</sup> recognize hamster and rat xenogeneic ligands (32-34). Features that are shared by or distinguish xenogeneic and mouse ligands may offer novel insights into the molecular basis of Ly-49 ligand recognition. Additionally, the identification of Ly-49 receptors and their xenogeneic MHC ligands could serve in the construction of xenogeneic mixed chimeras that do not require depletion of host NK cells in xenotransplantation tolerance models (44). Ly-49D recognizes a xenogeneic ligand on chinese hamster ovary (CHO) cells (33, 45), which has been identified as the class I MHC molecule Hm1-C4 (32). As a xenogeneic ligand, Hm1-C4 has offered limited insight into Ly-49 recognition motifs, primarily due to the phylogenic distance between hamster and mouse, resulting in relatively low sequence identity between their respective class I MHC molecules (32). Furthermore, hamsters are not used in studies of xenogeneic mixed chimerism. In contrast, the rat is more closely related to mouse, expresses class I MHC molecules that are relatively high in sequence identity to mouse MHC while displaying evolutionary distance, and rat/mouse xenogeneic mixed chimeras are a traditional model within transplantation studies. These properties make rat a more informative partner to mouse in which to examine shared recognition motifs across species. The Ly-49D receptor mediates cytolysis of Con A blasts from both the F344 and

LEW rat strains in an MHC haplotype-specific manner (33), but no specific xenogeneic ligand has been identified. Our laboratory has also demonstrated differential recognition of xenogeneic Con A blasts from the PVG and LEW rat strains by the Ly-49G inhibitory receptor (34). As recognition of rat Con A blasts by mouse Ly-49 receptors is strain specific, and no rat xenogeneic ligands have been definitively identified for mouse Ly-49 receptors, we set out to identify rat ligand(s) mediating the strain specific recognition by Ly-49G<sup>BALB/c</sup> and the related Ly-49W activating receptor.

RNK-16 cells are an NK leukemia cell line derived from the F344 rat strain and express Ly49 receptors found in this strain (46-48) but are not intrinsically cytolytic toward Con A blast targets from rat strains of the RT1<sup>c</sup> and RT1<sup>av1</sup> MHC haplotypes (Fig. 2-1A). RNK-16 cells were therefore transfected with mouse Ly-49 receptors and tested for gain of cytotoxicity toward Con A blasts prepared from rat strains expressing these MHC haplotypes, PVG (RT1<sup>c</sup>) and DA (RT1<sup>av1</sup>). The specificity of the Ly-49G<sup>BALB/c</sup> inhibitory receptor for Con A blasts was examined through the use of a chimeric receptor, Ly-49WG<sup>BALB/c</sup>, described previously (34). This chimeric activating receptor maintains the specificity of the Ly-49G<sup>BALB/c</sup> inhibitory receptor ectodomain, while possessing the transmembrane and cytosolic portions of the activating receptor Ly-49W. As previously demonstrated, RNK-16 cells transfected with the chimeric Ly-49WG<sup>BALB/c</sup> receptor, specifically recognize and lyse Con A blasts prepared from the PVG rat strain, which expresses MHC molecules of the RT1<sup>c</sup> haplotype (Fig. 2-1B). Two different activating Ly-49 receptors originally cloned from the NOD mouse, Ly-49P and Ly-49W (24, 25), were also tested for their ability to trigger lysis of xenogeneic rat Con A blasts when transfected into RNK-16 cells. The ectodomain of Ly-49P closely resembles that of the inhibitory receptor Ly-49A, while that of Ly-49W resembles that of the inhibitory Ly-49G receptor. Ly-49W was also seen to trigger cytolysis of Con A blasts specifically from the PVG rat strain (Fig. 2-1C). In contrast, Ly-49P was incapable of triggering cytolysis of blasts from the PVG rat strain, despite being competent in triggering lysis of Con A blasts from the control DBA/2 mouse strain (H-2<sup>d</sup>) (Fig. 2-1D) (24). Thus, Ly-49G and Ly-49W, which share 97% amino acid identity in their ectodomains, recognize PVG strain rat ligand(s) while the Ly-49A-related Ly-49P does not.

 $RT1^{av1/c}$  intra-MHC recombinants identify the classical class I region of the  $RT1^{c}$  haplotype as essential for recognition by Ly-49W and Ly-49WG<sup>BALB/c</sup>

Since xenogeneic recognition of rat targets by mouse Ly-49 receptors occurs in both a strain (33, 34) and an MHC haplotype-specific manner (33), we aimed to determine if the xenogeneic recognition of PVG rat strain by Ly-49W and Ly-49G<sup>BALB/c</sup> could be attributed to a specific region of the major histocompatibility complex within this strain.

The rat major histocompatibility complex is encoded on chromosome 20 (49). It contains a classical class I MHC encoding region, RT1-A, a class II MHC encoding region, RT1-B/D, and a non-classical class I MHC encoding region, RT1-C/E/M (Fig. 2-2A). The RT1-A region of the RT1 complex encodes between one and three classical class I MHC molecules, depending on the rat strain. In the PVG rat (haplotype *c*), the RT1-A region encodes two molecules, RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> and RT1-A2<sup>c</sup>, whereas the DA rat strain (haplotype *av1*) only encodes one molecule in this region, RT1-A<sup>a</sup> (Fig. 2-2B) (50). The non-classical class I MHC region, RT1-C/E/M, encodes numerous molecules, many of which have yet to be fully characterized. The more centromerically encoded molecules in this region, are known to be classical-like in both structure and function (49, 51). Of these classical-like molecules, some have been cloned from the PVG (Genbank accession: CAD60946, CAA06296, CAA74192) and DA rat strains (Genbank accession: CAD60945) (Fig. 2-2B).

Both the classical RT1-A and non-classical RT1-C/E/M regions of the PVG rat are known to encode molecules recognized by the rat Ly-49 receptors, Ly49i2 and Ly49s3, respectively (18, 26). Therefore, we wished to examine each region separately to determine whether the recognition of PVG Con A blasts by Ly-49W and Ly-49WG<sup>BALB/c</sup>, could be attributed to molecules encoded in either the RT1-A region or RT1-C/E/M region of the PVG rat. We obtained PVG congenic, intra-MHC recombinant rat strains between the non-recognized RT1<sup>av1</sup> haplotype and the recognized RT1<sup>c</sup> haplotype (Dr. G. Butcher, Babraham Institute, Cambridge, UK) that have a recombination between classical class I and class II regions, or class II and non-classical class I regions (Fig. 2-2*B*). These recombinants allowed us to examine the requirement for the RT1<sup>c</sup> haplotype
at each RT1 region, for recognition and lysis of targets by RNK-16 cells expressing Ly-49W and Ly-49WG<sup>BALB/c</sup>. Untransfected RNK-16 cells were unable to mediate cytolysis of Con A blast targets from any of the recombinant strains (Fig. 2-3*A*). RNK-16 cells transfected with the activating Ly-49W receptor mediated cytolysis of the PVG.R20 (*c-c-a*) recombinant strain but not the PVG.R1 (*a-c-c*) or PVG.R19 (*a-a-c*) intra-MHC recombinants (Fig. 2-3*B*), indicating that a molecule encoded in the classical class I RT1<sup>c</sup> region is required for recognition by Ly-49W. Similarly, RNK-16 cells expressing the Ly-49WG<sup>BALB/c</sup> activating chimera were also seen to mediate cytolysis of Con A blasts from the PVG.R20 (*c-c-a*) strain which expresses the *c* haplotype in the classical class I region, but not of Con A blasts from either PVG.R19 (*a-a-c*) or PVG.R1 (*a-c-c*) strains (Fig. 2-3*C*), which only express the *c* haplotype in the non-classical class I region or nonclassical class I and class II MHC regions, respectively. Therefore, both the Ly-49W receptor and Ly-49WG<sup>BALB/c</sup> activating chimera recognize a ligand(s) encoded in the classical class I region of the RT1<sup>c</sup> haplotype.

# The classical rat class I MHC molecule, $RTI-A1^{c}$ , is a xenogeneic ligand for the murine Ly-49W and Ly-49G<sup>BALB/c</sup> receptors

Since xenogeneic recognition by Ly-49W and Ly-49WG<sup>BALB/c</sup> was dependent on expression of the *c* haplotype at the classical class I region of the RT1 complex in our recombinant studies, we examined whether recognition was mediated specifically by one of the two classical class I molecules encoded in the RT1-A region of the PVG rat, either RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> or RT1-A2<sup>c</sup> (Fig. 2-2*B*).

Rat MHC molecules were cloned from splenic cDNA libraries of DA and PVG strain rats. As specific antibodies are not available to all of the MHC molecules assayed, each molecule was expressed as a C-terminally fused EGFP protein. The fusion of EGFP to the cytoplasmic tail of each MHC molecule allowed detection of expression through green fluorescence, while conserving the extracellular domain structure for examination of xeno-recognition by mouse Ly-49 receptors. Three MHC-EGFP fusion contructs were prepared from the PVG rat strain: the two classical class I molecules RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> and RT1-A2<sup>c</sup> as well as the non-classical class I molecule, RT1-U2<sup>c</sup>. An MHC-EGFP fusion control DA

rat strain which does not have a ligand for Ly-49W or Ly-49G<sup>BALB/c</sup>. Each of the MHC-EGFP fusion constructs were transfected into the rat myeloma cell line, YB2/0 (RT1<sup>u</sup>) and expression was determined by EGFP fluorescence intensity relative to untransfected YB2/0 cells (Fig. 2-4).

Transfection of YB2/0 cells with the classical class I region encoded MHC molecule, RT1-A1<sup>c</sup>, dramatically increased lysis by RNK-16 cells transfected with either Ly-49W or Ly-49WG<sup>BALB/c</sup> (Fig. 2-5*A*-*C*). Lysis of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> transfected YB2/0 cells was specific, as YB2/0 cells expressing the other classical class I region encoded MHC molecule found in the *c* haplotype, RT1-A2<sup>c</sup>, were not lysed above background levels by either Ly-49W or Ly-49WG<sup>BALB/c</sup> transfected RNK-16 cells (Fig. 2-5*A*). As expected, YB2/0 cells expressing a non-classical class I MHC molecule from the PVG rat, RT1-U2<sup>c</sup>, were not recognized by Ly-49W or Ly-49WG<sup>BALB/c</sup> expressing RNK-16 cells (Fig. 2-5*B*). Additionally, YB2/0 cells expressing RT1-A<sup>a</sup>, from the DA rat strain, did not trigger lysis through recognition by Ly-49W or Ly-49WG<sup>BALB/c</sup> (Fig. 2-5*C*).

We wanted to ensure that recognition of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> transfected YB2/0 cells by the activating chimera Ly-49WG<sup>BALB/c</sup> is also mediated by the native Ly-49G<sup>BALB/c</sup> inhibitory receptor. RNK-16 cells and RNK-16 cells transfected with inhibitory Ly-49 exhibit moderate background cytolysis of untransfected YB2/0 cells. This is in contrast to RNK-16 cells transfected with activating Ly-49, which exhibit very low or no background cytolysis of untransfected YB2/0 cells, possibly due to the sequestration of DAP12 by activating Ly-49 from the unidentified endogenous activating receptor mediating the cytotoxicity. The background cytolysis of YB2/0 cells by RNK-16 cells expressing Ly- $49G^{BALB/c}$  is completely inhibited when YB2/0 cells are transfected with RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> but not with other class I molecules from the PVG and DA rat strains (Fig. 2-6A). The 4D11 antibody, which recognizes Ly-49G<sup>BALB/c</sup>, reverses the inhibition of the Ly-49G<sup>BALB/c</sup> expressing RNK-16 transfectants by RT1-A1<sup>c</sup>, whereas the isotype control antibody does not (Fig. 2-6B). These results demonstrate that, like the chimeric receptor, Ly-49WG<sup>BALB/c</sup>, the native inhibitory Ly-49G<sup>BALB/c</sup> receptor mediates specific recognition of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup>. Thus expression of individual RT1 molecules from the recognized PVG rat strain and non-recognized DA rat strains in YB2/0 cells allowed identification of the classical class I MHC molecule, RT1-A1<sup>c</sup>, as a xenogeneic ligand capable of triggering

NK cell effector functions through recognition by the mouse Ly-49 receptors Ly-49W and Ly-49G<sup>BALB/c</sup>.

# Mutagenesis of Ly-49P $\beta$ 4- $\beta$ 5 loop residues to corresponding residues of Ly-49W and Ly-49G<sup>BALB/c</sup> receptors confers specificity for a ligand in the PVG rat

Analysis of the Ly-49A/H-2D<sup>d</sup> co-crystal (52) implicates participation of Ly-49  $\beta$ 4- $\beta$ 5 loop residues, among others, in class I MHC recognition. Furthermore, nonconserved residues in this loop may be responsible for the specificity of Ly-49 receptors for particular class I alleles (34). Since we observed class I allele specific rat xenogeneic ligand recognition by Ly-49W and G<sup>BALB/c</sup>, we tested for the potential participation of the Ly-49  $\beta$ 4- $\beta$ 5 loop in determining specificity for the rat RT1-A1<sup>e</sup> class I ligand. Both Ly-49W and Ly-49G<sup>BALB/c</sup> contain the residues DCGK in their predicted  $\beta$ 4- $\beta$ 5 loop, whereas Ly-49P contains the residues NCDQ in this region. To determine the involvement of DCGK in recognize the PVG con A blasts by Ly-49W, we mutated the Ly-49P receptor, which does not recognize the PVG rat strain (Fig. 2-7*A*), to express  $\beta$ 4- $\beta$ 5 loop residues from Ly-49W and saw a gain of PVG rat strain target recognition by the mutant Ly-49P receptor (Fig. 2-7*B*). Conversely, when we mutated the Ly-49W receptor, which recognizes the PVG rat strain (Fig. 2-7*C*), to express residues found in the  $\beta$ 4- $\beta$ 5 loop of Ly-49P, we saw no loss of PVG Con A blast recognition by the mutant Ly-49W receptor (Fig. 2-7*D*).

Although the wild-type Ly-49P receptor does not recognize any ligand from  $RT1^{av1/c}$  intra-MHC recombinant rat strains (Fig. 2-8A), the gain of function mutant Ly-49P receptor demonstrated recognition of a ligand localized to the RT1-A region of the rat c haplotype (Fig. 2-8B). In contrast, when comparing the recognition of the wild-type form of the Ly-49W receptor (Fig. 2-8C) to mutant Ly-49W (Fig. 2-8D), both recognized a ligand in the RT1-A region of the rat c haplotype, indicating no loss of function for the Ly-49W  $\beta 4-\beta 5$  loop mutant. We could not confirm RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> as opposed to RT1-A2<sup>c</sup> as the recognized ligand due to high background lysis of YB2/0 RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> and A2<sup>c</sup> transfectants by the mutant Ly-49 RNK-16 transfectants (data not shown). Nevertheless, a classical class I ligand of the c haplotype is recognized and is most likely RT1-A1<sup>c</sup>

results indicate that specificity for xenogeneic rat class I can be transferred by substitution with specific residues from the  $\beta$ 4- $\beta$ 5 loop of Ly-49W. They also reveal that these residues can not be solely responsible for xenogeneic ligand specificity, as the Ly-49W  $\beta$ 4- $\beta$ 5 loop mutant retains its recognition of a PVG ligand.

#### **D.** Discussion

In this study, we demonstrate that the rat class I MHC molecule RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> is a xenogeneic ligand for the Ly-49W activating and Ly-49G<sup>BALB/c</sup> inhibitory receptors, a surprising result given that approximately 20 million years have transpired since the evolutionary divergence of mice and rats. Furthermore, rodent class I MHC and Ly-49 genes are evolving rapidly with significant species-specific evolution, resulting in no evident class I MHC orthologs (53), nor clear rat orthologs of Ly-49W or G<sup>BALB/c</sup> (Fig. 2-9). All known rat Ly-49 receptors have at most 67% amino acid identity with the mouse Ly-49W and G<sup>BALB/c</sup> receptors. The rat Ly-49i2, an inhibitory receptor, also recognizes RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> (18), but it is distantly related to Ly-49W and G<sup>BALB/c</sup> (Fig. 2-9), sharing only 49-50% amino acid identity. With the absence of a clear Ly-49 or MHC ortholog between mouse and rat and their relatively low sequence identity, an alternative explanation appears necessary for this xenorecognition besides simple non-divergence of sequence. One possibility would be the convergent evolution of MHC through common selective pressures between these two species, a phenomenon previously demonstrated between the MHC of mice and more distantly related primates for T cell recognition (54). The convergent evolution of class I MHC may have resulted in RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> recognition as a syngeneic ligand by rat Ly49i2 and as a xenogeneic class I ligand by unrelated Ly-49 receptors, Ly-49W and G<sup>BALB/c</sup>, of a different rodent species.

It is interesting to consider whether the molecular basis of Ly-49W and  $G^{BALB/c}$  recognition of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> resembles Ly-49 recognition of mouse class I molecules. The cocrystal of Ly-49A bound to H-2D<sup>d</sup> serves as a model for mouse Ly-49-class I interactions. Two independent sites of Ly-49A interaction with H-2D<sup>d</sup> are identified: site 1 at the Nterminus of the  $\alpha$ 1 helix and C-terminus of the  $\alpha$ 2 helix, and site 2 in the cleft bordered by the  $\alpha$ 1/ $\alpha$ 2 domains, the conserved  $\alpha$ 3 domain and  $\beta$ 2-microglobulin (52). We demonstrate that Ly-49W and Ly-49G<sup>BALB/c</sup>, but not Ly-49P, recognize RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> and a previous report indicates that Ly-49D does not recognize PVG strain ligands including RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> (33). Since Ly-49A, D, G, P, and W share significant sequence identities and belong to the Ly-49A-G subfamily (55), the differences in class I recognition are presumed to involve polymorphic residues of the Ly-49 receptors, particularly in the ligand binding C-terminal lectin-like domain. Using the Ly-49A/H-2D<sup>d</sup> co-crystal for modeling mouse Ly-49 interactions with RT1-A1<sup>c</sup>, indicates that polymorphic residues of Ly-49 receptors are concentrated in the  $\beta$ 4- $\beta$ 5 loop, which can contact class I at either site 1 or site 2, and thus are candidates for determining xenogeneic class I specificity. Ly-49W and  $G^{BALB/c}$  share the sequence DCGK at the  $\beta$ 4- $\beta$ 5 loop and recognize RT1-A1<sup>c</sup>, whereas Ly-49D is YCDQ and Ly-49P is NCDQ at this location. Interestingly, the distantly related rat Ly-49i2 receptor, which like Ly-49W and G<sup>BALB/c</sup>, recognizes RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> (18), also bears the DCGK sequence at its predicted  $\beta$ 4- $\beta$ 5 loop. We demonstrate that transfer of specificity for an RT1-A<sup>c</sup> molecule can be conferred to a mutant Ly-49P receptor by simply substituting the  $\beta$ 4- $\beta$ 5 loop residues common to Ly-49W, G<sup>BALB/c</sup> and i2 for those in wild-type Ly-49P. This result suggests that these residues can confer RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> specificity, perhaps by strengthening interactions with class I residues at site 1 or 2, or alternative site(s), exceeding a functional threshold. However, the DCGK sequence is not solely responsible for RT1-A<sup>c</sup> specificity, as mutating the Ly-49W receptor to express the  $\beta$ 4- $\beta$ 5 residues from Ly-49P does not affect the recognition of RT1-A° by Ly-49W. These findings indicate that  $\beta$ 4- $\beta$ 5 residues, DCGK in particular, can influence the specificity of Ly-49 receptors for xenogeneic class I, but contributions of other Ly-49 residues are also significant to recognition.

We demonstrate that recognition of xenogeneic rat class I molecules by mouse Ly-49W and G<sup>BALB/c</sup> receptors is specific, observing interactions with RT1-A1<sup>c</sup>, but not RT1-A<sup>a</sup> or RT1-A2<sup>c</sup>. An examination of amino acid sequence differences between RT1-A1<sup>c</sup>, RT1-A<sup>a</sup> and RT1-A2<sup>c</sup> may provide insights into the differential recognition of the rat class I molecules. Only a few residues, modeled to be involved in site 1 or 2 interactions, differ between RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> and the other two, rat class I molecules. All site 2 residues on the rat class I molecules are conserved and thus do not offer an obvious explanation for the differential interactions observed. RT1-A2<sup>c</sup> and RT1-A<sup>a</sup> both differ from RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> at site 1, with RT1-A2<sup>c</sup> having Q50 and H174 and RT1-A<sup>a</sup> having S169 compared with R50,

62

L174 and R169 in RT1-A1<sup>c</sup>. The site 1 residues differing in RT1-A2<sup>c</sup> and RT1-A<sup>a</sup> also differ from those at the same positions in the mouse class I ligands of Ly-49W and G<sup>BALB/c</sup>. These differences at site 1 may account for the differential recognition of rat class I molecules; however, mutagenesis experiments will be necessary to substantiate this possibility. Additionally, outside of the site 1 and site 2 interfaces, RT1-A2<sup>c</sup> and RT1-A<sup>a</sup> have several additional non-conservative amino acid substitutions that may contribute to the differences in class I specificity.

The absence of amino acid differences at site 2 and limited differences at site 1, between RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> and RT1-A<sup>a</sup> or RT1-A2<sup>c</sup>, suggest additional influences on mouse Ly-49W and G<sup>BALB/c</sup> specificity for xenogeneic class I ligands. Observations in humans and subsequently in other species, indicate that class I molecules can be categorized into a limited number of "supertypes" based on their preferences for specific anchor residues in peptide binding (56-59). In humans, although class I alleles exhibit extensive diversity, they can be grouped into only nine supertypes (60) when the variation of anchor residues is considered. Supertype groupings also extend to class I molecules of other, even distantly related, species. For example, mouse and humans share several supertypes between non-orthologous class I genes, suggesting convergent evolution of supertypes, (54, 61) presumably due to a need in multiple species to possess class I molecules that collectively have the ability to bind peptides with the same 10 or fewer distinct patterns of anchor residues. The HLA-B7 supertype typically requires peptides to have proline at the second, or P2, position and a hydrophobic C-terminus (62). It is worthy of note that most of the rodent class I molecules that are recognized by Ly-49W and/or Ly-49G<sup>BALB/c</sup> have this B7 supertype (H-2L<sup>d</sup> and RT1-A1<sup>c</sup>) (62) or prefer a P2 residue with a small side chain (H-2D<sup>d</sup> prefers G at P2 and P at P3) (62). In contrast, all rat or mouse class I molecules not recognized by Ly-49W or G<sup>BALB/c</sup> (RT1-A<sup>a</sup>, H-2K<sup>k</sup>, K<sup>d</sup>, K<sup>b</sup> and D<sup>b</sup>), belong to other supertypes with distinct anchor residues (62). One exception to this pattern is H-2D<sup>k</sup>, which does not have a B7 supertype (62) but is recognized by Ly-49W and G<sup>BALB/c</sup>. RT1-A2<sup>c</sup> is not included in this comparison since the peptide anchor residues it prefers have not been reported. These relationships raise the possibility that Ly-49W and G<sup>BALB/c</sup>, along with related receptors, may recognize a conformational epitope on class I that is influenced by peptide anchor residues and have evolved to survey cells for class I MHC

molecules of, or related to, the HLA-B7 supertype. Potentially, the shared recognition of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> by the rat Ly49i2 and mouse Ly-49W and G<sup>BALB/c</sup> receptors is due to similar evolutionary pressures and convergent evolution, leading to a common requirement for murine NK cell recognition of the HLA-B7/RT1-A1<sup>c</sup>/H-2L<sup>d</sup> supertype.

Although the role of bound peptide is unknown in xenogeneic rat class I recognition by Ly-49 receptors, we considered the potential influence of TAP2 polymorphism in the differential recognition of rat class I molecules by mouse Ly-49W and G<sup>BALB/c</sup>, and deemed it unlikely. Two versions of the heterodimeric transporter associated with antigen processing, TAP-A and TAP-B, are expressed in the rat due to the existence of two alleles of TAP2 in this species (63, 64). The specificity for peptide transport differs between TAP-A and TAP-B and only one or the other TAP2 allele is expressed in each inbred rat strain (65). TAP-A, like human TAP, exhibits broad specificity, transporting peptides with either hydrophobic or positively charged Cterminal residues for assembly with class I. In contrast, TAP-B displays a narrower specificity and strong bias for peptides with hydrophobic or aromatic C-termini, similar to mouse TAP (66). RT1-A<sup>a</sup> has a strong preference for binding peptides with a Cterminal arginine and is typically co-expressed with TAP-A, which efficiently delivers such peptides (67). In contrast, RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> prefers peptides with a C-terminal hydrophobic or aromatic residue and is typically co-expressed with TAP-B, which offers compatible peptides (67). Our studies indicate that Ly-49W and G<sup>BALB/c</sup> recognize the TAP-B dependent RTI-A1<sup>c</sup>, but not TAP-A dependent RT1-A<sup>a</sup> when expressed by transfection in YB2/0 cells. Since YB2/0 (RT1<sup>u</sup>) cells express TAP-B, in might be argued that the lack of RT1-A<sup>a</sup> recognition could be due to the absence of a co-expressed TAP-A. However, we also do not detect lysis of DA strain Con A blasts, which co-express RT1-A<sup>a</sup> and TAP-A. Thus, the differential recognition of rat class I molecules by the mouse Ly-49 molecules cannot be accounted for by a diminished supply of relevant peptides for RT1-A<sup>a</sup> binding. Whether RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> specifically requires TAP-B co-expression for Ly-49 recognition, cannot be discerned from the assortment of inbred strains available for this study. It is worth noting that the differential selectivity of peptide transport by TAP-A and TAP-B is limited to differences at the peptide C-termini and there is no additional bias with respect to transport of peptides with a proline at P2, as is preferred by RT1-A1<sup>c</sup>.

The induction of tolerance to donor antigens in adult transplantation would prevent transplanted tissue rejection. One potentially promising approach to achieve this goal under study in animal models is the generation of mixed chimeras (44). In mixed chimeras, adult animals are treated to eliminate mature host T cells, yet preserve other host hematopoietic cells, and are then reconstituted with donor bone marrow cells. Donor and host hematopoietic cells in mixed chimeras repopulate the thymus and delete both donor reactive and host reactive T cells, resulting in peripheral tolerance to donor and host tissue. Xenogeneic mixed chimeras can be generated in mice with rat hematopoietic donor cells (68) and this system serves as a model for induction of tolerance to xenogeneic transplants in adult animals (44). These rodent xenotransplantation models may aid in the understanding of more disparate xenotransplantation models such as pig and human. Mouse natural killer cells play a significant role in resisting engraftment of rat hematopoietic cells and the establishment of xenogeneic mixed chimeras (35). It is suggested that this might occur because mouse NK cell inhibitory receptors may not cross-react with xenogeneic rat class I MHC proteins and thus do not offer protection from NK cell elimination of rat donor cells (35). In this report, we demonstrate for the first time that a mouse inhibitory receptor (Ly-49G) expressed by a common mouse strain (BALB/c) can recognize a xenogeneic rat class I MHC molecule (RT1-A1°) resulting in functional inhibition. Identification of a rat class I ligand for Ly-49G and the activating Ly-49W receptor may begin to facilitate the rational design of studies to elucidate the role of specific NK cell receptors and NK cell subsets in xenogeneic bone marrow graft tolerance and rejection.

#### **E.** Acknowledgements

We thank Dong-Er Gong for excellent technical assistance. We thank Dr. Bart Hazes for critical reading of the manuscript.

#### **F.** Author Contribution to Data

Kerry Lavender harvested all rat and mouse tissues, produced the RNA and cDNA libraries from PVG and DA strain rats, cloned RT1-A1<sup>c</sup>, A2<sup>c</sup>, U2<sup>c</sup> and A<sup>a</sup>, generated the D<sup>k</sup> leader/class I MHC/EGFP fusion constructs, generated all YB2/0 cells expressing rat class I MHC and con-A blast target cells, performed all FACS analysis, performed all cytotoxicity and blocking assays using RNK-16 cells expressing wild-type Ly-49 receptors and most assays with RNK-16 cells expressing mutant Ly-49 receptors. Brian Ma generated the RNK-16 cells expressing mutant Ly-49 receptors and performed the cytotoxicity assay in figure 2-7. Elizabeth Silver generated the RNK-16 cells expressing wild type Ly-49 receptors and the YB2/0 cells expressing H-2D<sup>d</sup>.



**Figure 2-1.** Xenogeneic recognition of Con A blasts from the PVG rat strain by the mouse Ly-49W activating receptor and Ly-49WG<sup>BALB/c</sup> activating chimera. Con A blasts prepared from PVG (RT1<sup>c</sup>) or DA (RT1<sup>av1</sup>) rat strains were used as targets in 4-h chromium release assays with RNK-16 cells (*A*), RNK-16 cells transfected with the activating chimera Ly-49WG<sup>BALB/c</sup> (*B*), or the Ly-49W activating receptor (*C*). Con A blasts prepared from PVG rat strain and the positive control mouse strain DBA/2 (H-2<sup>d</sup>) were targets for RNK-16 cells transfected with the Ly-49P activating receptor (*D*). Data represent the mean of triplicate wells ± SD.



**Figure 2-2.** The rat major histocompatibility complex and haplotypes of selected rat strains. The RT1 complex is encoded on rat chromosome 20 and contains in order (centromeric to telomeric) the classical class I region RT1-A, the class II region RT1-B/D, the class III region and the RT1-C/E/M non-classical class I region, which encodes numerous molecules that are not fully characterized (*A*). The inbred rat strain, PVG, expresses MHC molecules of the RT1<sup>e</sup> haplotype while the DA strain expresses molecules of the RT1<sup>av1</sup> haplotype. PVG congenic strains which have undergone recombination events in the RT1 region, express MHC molecules of either the RT1<sup>e</sup> or RT1<sup>av1</sup> haplotype, depending on the location of the recombination event, as indicated (*B*).

E<sup>a</sup>.....

 $B^{C}D^{C}$ 

A1<sup>C</sup>A2<sup>C</sup>

PVG.R20



**Figure 2-3.** Lysis of RT1<sup>av1/c</sup> intra-MHC recombinant targets identifies the classical class I region of the RT1<sup>c</sup> haplotype as essential for recognition by Ly-49W and Ly-49WG<sup>BALB/c</sup>. RNK-16 cells (*A*), RNK-16 cells transfected with the activating Ly-49W receptor (*B*), or the chimeric activating receptor Ly-49WG<sup>BALB/c</sup> (*C*) were assayed for cytotoxicity against Con A blasts prepared from congenic, RT1<sup>av1/c</sup> intra-MHC recombinant rat strains in 4-h cytotoxicity assays. The PVG congenic, intra-MHC recombinant rat strains were PVG.R20 (*c*-*c*-*a*), PVG.R19 (*a*-*a*-*c*) and PVG.R1(*a*-*c*-*c*). Data represent the mean of triplicate wells ± SD.



**Figure 2-4.** Expression of rat MHC-EGFP fusion proteins on transfected rat YB2/0 cells. The rat MHC molecules RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> (*upper left panel*), RT1-A2<sup>c</sup> (*upper right panel*), RT1.U2<sup>c</sup> (*lower left panel*) and RT1-A<sup>a</sup> (*lower right panel*) were C-terminally fused to EGFP for detection by flow cytometric analysis when transfected into the rat myeloma cell line, YB2/0. Transfected YB2/0 cells (*open histograms*) were compared for EGFP fluorescence relative to untransfected YB2/0 cells (*shaded histograms*).



**Figure 2-5.** Ly-49W and the Ly-49WG<sup>BALB/c</sup> chimera recognize RT1-A1<sup>c</sup>, a classical class I MHC molecule from the PVG rat strain. RNK-16 cells transfected with Ly-49W or Ly-49WG<sup>BALB/c</sup> were examined for their ability to lyse YB2/0 cells and YB2/0 transfected with RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> compared with YB2/0 transfected with RT1-A2<sup>c</sup> (*A*), RT1-U2<sup>c</sup> (*B*) or RT1-A<sup>a</sup> (*C*). Data represent the mean of triplicate wells ± SD.



**Figure 2-6.** The inhibitory Ly-49G<sup>BALB/c</sup> receptor recognizes RT1-A1<sup>c</sup>. Ly-49G<sup>BALB/c</sup> was examined for its ability to inhibit cytolysis of YB2/0 cells or YB2/0 cells expressing RT1-A1<sup>c</sup>, RT1-A2<sup>c</sup> or RT1-U2<sup>c</sup> from the PVG rat strain or RT1-A<sup>a</sup> from the DA rat strain. RNK-16 cells transfected with Ly-49G<sup>BALB/c</sup> were incubated with YB2/0 cells or YB2/0 transfected with the indicated mouse or rat MHC molecules in a 4-h cytotoxicity assay (*A*). Ly-49G<sup>BALB/c</sup> transfected RNK-16 cells were incubated with YB2/0 RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> transfectants in the presence of 4D11 or 53-5.8.3 (isotype control) antibodies in a 4-h cytotoxicity assay. Protein A/G was included at a 1:1 ratio to prevent rADCC (B). Data represent the mean of triplicate wells ± SD.



**Figure 2-7.** Mutagenesis of the Ly-49P  $\beta$ 4- $\beta$ 5 loop to express the Ly-49W motif DCGK confers specificity for a ligand in the PVG rat strain. Recognition of Con A blasts from the PVG and DA rat strains by Ly-49P (*A*), mutant Ly-49P (*B*), Ly-49W (*C*) and mutant Ly-49W (*D*) were examined in 4-h cytotoxicity assays. Data represent the mean of triplicate wells ± SD.



**Figure 2-8.** The Ly-49P and Ly-49W  $\beta$ 4- $\beta$ 5 loop mutants recognize RT1-A<sup>c</sup> encoded ligand(s). Lysis of Con A blasts from the indicated PVG intra-MHC recombinants by Ly-49P (*A*), mutant Ly-49P (*B*), Ly-49W (*C*) or mutant Ly-49W (*D*) was determined in a 4-h cytotoxicity assay. Data represent the mean of triplicate wells ± SD.



**Figure 2-9.** Dendrogram comparing the nucleotide sequences of five known and ten predicted rat Ly-49 receptors to eight mouse Ly-49 receptors. Ly-49 receptor sequences are available from GenBank: (Ly-49A, M25812; Ly-49B, AF253058; Ly-49C, U56404; Ly-49D, L78247; Ly-49G, AF307946; Ly-49P, AF218080; Ly-49Q, AB033769; Ly-49W, AF074459; Ly49i1, U56863; Ly49i2, NM\_152848; Ly49s1, U56822; Ly49s2, U56822; Ly-49s3, NM\_153726). Ten rat Ly-49 receptors, predicted through automated computational analysis of genomic sequence from the BN/SsNHsd/MCW rat strain (NW\_043770), are represented by their accession numbers. DNA sequences were aligned with CLUSTALW (69) and the dendrogram created in MegAlign (DNASTAR Inc., Madison WI).

#### G. References

- Cerwenka, A., and L. L. Lanier. 2001. Natural killer cells, viruses and cancer. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 1: 41-49.
- Murphy, W. J., C. Y. Koh, A. Raziuddin, M. Bennett, and D. L. Longo. 2001. Immunobiology of natural killer cells and bone marrow transplantation: merging of basic and preclinical studies. *Immunol. Rev.* 181: 279-289.
- 3. Manilay, J. O., and M. Sykes. 1998. Natural killer cells and their role in graft rejection. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* 10: 532-538.
- Orange, J. S., B. Wang, C. Terhorst, and C. A. Biron. 1995. Requirement for natural killer cell-produced interferon gamma in defense against murine cytomegalovirus infection and enhancement of this defense pathway by interleukin 12 administration. J. Exp. Med. 182: 1045-1056.
- 5. Yokoyama, W. M., and B. F. Plougastel. 2003. Immune functions encoded by the natural killer gene complex. *Nat. Rev. Immunol. 3: 304-316*.
- Yokoyama, W. M., P. J. Kehn, D. I. Cohen, and E. M. Shevach. 1990.
   Chromosomal location of the Ly-49 (A1, YE1/48) multigene family. Genetic association with the NK 1.1 antigen. *J. Immunol.* 145: 2353-2358.
- Brown, M. G., S. Fulmek, K. Matsumoto, R. Cho, P. A. Lyons, E. R. Levy, A. A. Scalzo, and W. M. Yokoyama. 1997. A 2-Mb YAC contig and physical map of the natural killer gene complex on mouse chromosome 6. *Genomics* 42: 16-25.
- 8. Makrigiannis, A. P., and S. K. Anderson. 2000. Ly-49 gene expression in different inbred mouse strains. *Immunol. Res. 21: 39-47.*
- Burshtyn, D. N., A. M. Scharenberg, N. Wagtmann, S. Rajagopalan, K. Berrada, T. Yi, J. P. Kinet, and E. O. Long. 1996. Recruitment of tyrosine phosphatase HCP by the killer cell inhibitor receptor. *Immunity 4: 77-85*.
- Nakamura, M. C., E. C. Niemi, M. J. Fisher, L. D. Shultz, W. E. Seaman, and J. C. Ryan. 1997. Mouse Ly-49A interrupts early signaling events in natural killer cell cytotoxicity and functionally associates with the SHP-1 tyrosine phosphatase. *J. Exp. Med.* 185: 673-684.
- Ryan, J. C., and W. E. Seaman. 1997. Divergent functions of lectin-like receptors on NK cells. *Immunol. Rev.* 155: 79-89.

- Brumbaugh, K. M., B. A. Binstadt, D. D. Billadeau, R. A. Schoon, C. J. Dick, R.
   M. Ten, and P. J. Leibson. 1997. Functional role for Syk tyrosine kinase in natural killer cell-mediated natural cytotoxicity. *J. Exp. Med.* 186: 1965-1974.
- Smith, K. M., J. Wu, A. B. Bakker, J. H. Phillips, and L. L. Lanier. 1998. Ly-49D and Ly-49H associate with mouse DAP12 and form activating receptors. J. Immunol. 161: 7-10.
- Campbell, K. S., and M. Colonna. 1999. DAP12: a key accessory protein for relaying signals by natural killer cell receptors. *Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol. 31:* 631-636.
- McVicar, D. W., L. S. Taylor, P. Gosselin, J. Willette-Brown, A. I. Mikhael, R. L. Geahlen, M. C. Nakamura, P. Linnemeyer, W. E. Seaman, S. K. Anderson, J. R. Ortaldo, and L. H. Mason. 1998. DAP12-mediated signal transduction in natural killer cells. A dominant role for the Syk protein-tyrosine kinase. *J. Biol. Chem.* 273: 32934-32942.
- Karlhofer, F. M., R. K. Ribaudo, and W. M. Yokoyama. 1992. MHC class I alloantigen specificity of Ly-49+ IL-2-activated natural killer cells. *Nature 358:* 66-70.
- Dissen, E., J. C. Ryan, W. E. Seaman, and S. Fossum. 1996. An autosomal dominant locus, Nka, mapping to the Ly-49 region of a rat natural killer (NK) gene complex, controls NK cell lysis of allogeneic lymphocytes. J. Exp. Med. 183: 2197-2207.
- Naper, C., S. Hayashi, E. Joly, G. W. Butcher, B. Rolstad, J. T. Vaage, and J. C. Ryan. 2002. Ly49i2 is an inhibitory rat natural killer cell receptor for an MHC class Ia molecule (RT1-A1<sup>c</sup>). *Eur. J. Immunol.* 32: 2031-2036.
- 19. Ljunggren, H. G., and K. Karre. 1990. In search of the 'missing self': MHC molecules and NK cell recognition. *Immunol. Today 11: 237-244*.
- Naper, C., B. Rolstad, K. Wonigeit, G. W. Butcher, and J. T. Vaage. 1996. Genes in two MHC class I regions control recognition of a single rat NK cell allodeterminant. *Int. Immunol. 8: 1779-1785.*

- Nakamura, M. C., P. A. Linnemeyer, E. C. Niemi, L. H. Mason, J. R. Ortaldo, J. C. Ryan, and W. E. Seaman. 1999. Mouse Ly-49D recognizes H-2D<sup>d</sup> and activates natural killer cell cytotoxicity. *J. Exp. Med.* 189: 493-500.
- George, T. C., L. H. Mason, J. R. Ortaldo, V. Kumar, and M. Bennett. 1999.
   Positive recognition of MHC class I molecules by the Ly49D receptor of murine NK cells. J. Immunol. 162: 2035-2043.
- Gosselin, P., L. H. Mason, J. Willette-Brown, J. R. Ortaldo, D. W. McVicar, and S. K. Anderson. 1999. Induction of DAP12 phosphorylation, calcium mobilization, and cytokine secretion by Ly49H. J. Leukoc. Biol. 66: 165-171.
- 24. Silver, E. T., D. E. Gong, C. S. Chang, A. Amrani, P. Santamaria, and K. P. Kane.
  2000. Ly-49P activates NK-mediated lysis by recognizing H-2D<sup>d</sup>. J. Immunol.
  165: 1771-1781.
- Silver, E. T., D. E. Gong, B. Hazes, and K. P. Kane. 2001. Ly-49W, an activating receptor of nonobese diabetic mice with close homology to the inhibitory receptor Ly-49G, recognizes H-2D<sup>k</sup> and H-2D<sup>d</sup>. J. Immunol. 166: 1-9.
- Naper, C., S. Hayashi, L. Kveberg, E. C. Niemi, L. L. Lanier, J. T. Vaage, and J. C. Ryan. 2002. Ly-49s3 is a promiscuous activating rat NK cell receptor for nonclassical MHC class I-encoded target ligands. *J. Immunol. 169: 22-30.*
- 27. Rolstad, B., J. T. Vaage, C. Naper, D. Lambracht, K. Wonigeit, E. Joly, and G.
  W. Butcher. 1997. Positive and negative MHC class I recognition by rat NK cells. *Immunol. Rev. 155: 91-104.*
- Petersson, E., R. Holmdahl, G. W. Butcher, and G. Hedlund. 1999. Activation and selection of NK cells via recognition of an allogeneic, non-classical MHC class I molecule, RT1-E. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 29: 3663-3673.
- Lee, S. H., S. Girard, D. Macina, M. Busa, A. Zafer, A. Belouchi, P. Gros, and S. M. Vidal. 2001. Susceptibility to mouse cytomegalovirus is associated with deletion of an activating natural killer cell receptor of the C-type lectin superfamily. *Nat. Genet.* 28: 42-45.
- Daniels, K. A., G. Devora, W. C. Lai, C. L. O'Donnell, M. Bennett, and R. M.
   Welsh. 2001. Murine cytomegalovirus is regulated by a discrete subset of natural killer cells reactive with monoclonal antibody to Ly49H. J. Exp. Med. 194: 29-44.

- Arase, H., E. S. Mocarski, A. E. Campbell, A. B. Hill, and L. L. Lanier. 2002. Direct recognition of cytomegalovirus by activating and inhibitory NK cell receptors. *Science 296: 1323-1326*.
- Furukawa, H., K. Iizuka, J. Poursine-Laurent, N. Shastri, and W. M. Yokoyama.
   2002. A ligand for the murine NK activation receptor Ly-49D: activation of tolerized NK cells from beta 2-microglobulin-deficient mice. J. Immunol. 169: 126-136.
- Nakamura, M. C., C. Naper, E. C. Niemi, S. C. Spusta, B. Rolstad, G. W. Butcher, W. E. Seaman, and J. C. Ryan. 1999. Natural killing of xenogeneic cells mediated by the mouse Ly-49D receptor. *J. Immunol. 163: 4694-4700*.
- 34. Silver, E. T., K. J. Lavender, D. E. Gong, B. Hazes, and K. P. Kane. 2002. Allelic variation in the ectodomain of the inhibitory Ly-49G2 receptor alters its specificity for allogeneic and xenogeneic ligands. *J. Immunol.* 169: 4752-4760.
- 35. Nikolic, B., D. T. Cooke, G. Zhao, and M. Sykes. 2001. Both gamma delta T cells and NK cells inhibit the engraftment of xenogeneic rat bone marrow cells and the induction of xenograft tolerance in mice. *J. Immunol.* 166: 1398-1404.
- 36. Ma, B. J., E. T. Silver, B. Hazes, and K. P. Kane. 2003. Reciprocal transfer of class I MHC allele specificity between activating Ly-49P and Ly-49W receptors by exchange of β4–β5 loop residues. J. Immunol. 171: 5337-5344.
- 37. Chang, C. S., E. T. Silver, and K. P. Kane. 1999. Generation of a monoclonal antibody that recognizes a polymorphic epitope of C57BL/6 Ly-49G2. *Hybridoma 18: 423-429.*
- Mason, L. H., J. R. Ortaldo, H. A. Young, V. Kumar, M. Bennett, and S. K. Anderson. 1995. Cloning and functional characteristics of murine large granular lymphocyte-1: a member of the Ly-49 gene family (Ly-49G2). J. Exp. Med. 182: 293-303.
- Nagasawa, R., J. Gross, O. Kanagawa, K. Townsend, L. L. Lanier, J. Chiller, and J. P. Allison. 1987. Identification of a novel T cell surface disulfide-bonded dimer distinct from the alpha/beta antigen receptor. J. Immunol. 138: 815-824.

- 40. Brodsky, F. M., P. Parham, C. J. Barnstable, M. J. Crumpton, and W. F. Bodmer.
  1979. Monoclonal antibodies for analysis of the HLA system. *Immunol. Rev.* 47: 3-61.
- Ledbetter, J. A., R. V. Rouse, H. S. Micklem, and L. A. Herzenberg. 1980. T cell subsets defined by expression of Lyt-1,2,3 and Thy-1 antigens. Two-parameter immunofluorescence and cytotoxicity analysis with monoclonal antibodies modifies current views. J. Exp. Med. 152: 280-295.
- 42. Grumet, F. C., B. M. Fendly, and E. G. Engleman. 1981. Monoclonal anti-HLA-B27 antibody (B27M1): production and lack of detectable typing difference between patients with ankylosing spondylitis, Reiter's syndrome, and normal controls. *Lancet 2: 174-176*.
- Reynolds, C. W., E. W. Bere, Jr., and J. M. Ward. 1984. Natural killer activity in the rat. III. Characterization of transplantable large granular lymphocyte (LGL) leukemias in the F344 rat. *J. Immunol. 132: 534-540*.
- 44. Wekerle, T., and M. Sykes. 2001. Mixed chimerism and transplantation tolerance. Annu. Rev. Med. 52: 353-370.
- Idris, A. H., H. R. Smith, L. H. Mason, J. R. Ortaldo, A. A. Scalzo, and W. M. Yokoyama. 1999. The natural killer gene complex genetic locus Chok encodes Ly-49D, a target recognition receptor that activates natural killing. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A 96: 6330-6335*.
- Nylenna, O., C. Naper, J. T. Vaage, P. Y. Woon, D. Gauguier, E. Dissen, J. C. Ryan, and S. Fossum. 2005. The genes and gene organization of the Ly49 region of the rat natural killer cell gene complex. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 35: 261-272.
- 47. Dissen, E., J. C. Ryan, W. E. Seaman, and S. Fossum. 1996. An autosomal dominant locus, Nka, mapping to the Ly-49 region of a rat natural killer (NK) gene complex, controls NK cell lysis of allogeneic lymphocytes. *J. Exp. Med.* 183: 2197-2207.
- Ryan, J. C., E. C. Niemi, and M. C. Nakamura. 2000. Functional analysis of natural killer cell receptors in the RNK-16 rat leukemic cell line. *Methods Mol. Biol. 121: 283-295.*

- 49. Gunther, E., and L. Walter. 2001. The major histocompatibility complex of the rat (Rattus norvegicus). *Immunogenetics 53: 520-542*.
- Joly, E., L. Leong, W. J. Coadwell, C. Clarkson, and G. W. Butcher. 1996. The rat MHC haplotype RT1c expresses two classical class I molecules. *J. Immunol.* 157: 1551-1558.
- Leong, L. Y., A. F. Le Rolle, E. V. Deverson, S. J. Powis, A. P. Larkins, J. T. Vaage, A. Stokland, D. Lambracht-Washington, B. Rolstad, E. Joly, and G. W. Butcher. 1999. RT1-U: identification of a novel, active, class Ib alloantigen of the rat MHC. J. Immunol. 162: 743-752.
- 52. Tormo, J., K. Natarajan, D. H. Margulies, and R. A. Mariuzza. 1999. Crystal structure of a lectin-like natural killer cell receptor bound to its MHC class I ligand. *Nature 402: 623-631*.
- 53. Gunther, E., and L. Walter. 2000. Comparative genomic aspects of rat, mouse and human MHC class I gene regions. *Cytogenet. Cell Genet.* 91: 107-112.
- 54. Sette, A., J. Sidney, B. D. Livingston, J. L. Dzuris, C. Crimi, C. M. Walker, S. Southwood, E. J. Collins, and A. L. Hughes. 2003. Class I molecules with similar peptide-binding specificities are the result of both common ancestry and convergent evolution. *Immunogenetics* 54: 830-841.
- 55. Kane, K. P., E. T. Silver, and B. Hazes. 2001. Specificity and function of activating Ly-49 receptors. *Immunol. Rev. 181: 104-114*.
- Sidney, J., M. F. del Guercio, S. Southwood, V. H. Engelhard, E. Appella, H. G. Rammensee, K. Falk, O. Rotzschke, M. Takiguchi, R. T. Kubo, and et al. 1995. Several HLA alleles share overlapping peptide specificities. *J. Immunol.* 154: 247-259.
- 57. McKinney, D. M., A. L. Erickson, C. M. Walker, R. Thimme, F. V. Chisari, J. Sidney, and A. Sette. 2000. Identification of five different Patr class I molecules that bind HLA supertype peptides and definition of their peptide binding motifs. *J. Immunol.* 165: 4414-4422.
- 58. del Guercio, M. F., J. Sidney, G. Hermanson, C. Perez, H. M. Grey, R. T. Kubo, and A. Sette. 1995. Binding of a peptide antigen to multiple HLA alleles allows definition of an A2-like supertype. J. Immunol. 154: 685-693.

- Bertoni, R., A. Sette, J. Sidney, L. G. Guidotti, M. Shapiro, R. Purcell, and F. V. Chisari. 1998. Human class I supertypes and CTL repertoires extend to chimpanzees. J. Immunol. 161: 4447-4455.
- Sette, A., and J. Sidney. 1999. Nine major HLA class I supertypes account for the vast preponderance of HLA-A and -B polymorphism. *Immunogenetics 50: 201-212*.
- Frangoulis, B., M. Reboul, A. Rocca, and M. Pla. 1993. Cross-reactivity among evolutionarily distant major histocompatibility complex class I molecules (HLA-B27 and H-2K<sup>k</sup>) revealed by xenoreactive T lymphocytes. *Eur. J. Immunol. 23:* 338-342.
- Rammensee, H., J. Bachmann, N. P. Emmerich, O. A. Bachor, and S. Stevanovic. 1999. SYFPEITHI: database for MHC ligands and peptide motifs. *Immunogenetics 50: 213-219.*
- Livingstone, A. M., S. J. Powis, A. G. Diamond, G. W. Butcher, and J. C. Howard. 1989. A trans-acting major histocompatibility complex-linked gene whose alleles determine gain and loss changes in the antigenic structure of a classical class I molecule. J. Exp. Med. 170: 777-795.
- Powis, S. J., E. V. Deverson, W. J. Coadwell, A. Ciruela, N. S. Huskisson, H. Smith, G. W. Butcher, and J. C. Howard. 1992. Effect of polymorphism of an MHC-linked transporter on the peptides assembled in a class I molecule. *Nature* 357: 211-215.
- Joly, E., A. F. Le Rolle, A. L. Gonzalez, B. Mehling, J. Stevens, W. J. Coadwell, T. Hunig, J. C. Howard, and G. W. Butcher. 1998. Co-evolution of rat TAP transporters and MHC class I RT1-A molecules. *Curr. Biol. 8: 169-172.*
- 66. Joly, E., and G. W. Butcher. 1998. Why are there two rat TAPs? *Immunol. Today* 19: 580-585.
- Momburg, F., J. Roelse, J. C. Howard, G. W. Butcher, G. J. Hammerling, and J. J. Neefjes. 1994. Selectivity of MHC-encoded peptide transporters from human, mouse and rat. *Nature 367: 648-651*.
- 68. Sharabi, Y., I. Aksentijevich, T. M. Sundt, 3rd, D. H. Sachs, and M. Sykes. 1990. Specific tolerance induction across a xenogeneic barrier: production of mixed

rat/mouse lymphohematopoietic chimeras using a nonlethal preparative regimen. J. Exp. Med. 172: 195-202.

69. Thompson, J. D., D. G. Higgins, and T. J. Gibson. 1994. CLUSTAL W: improving the sensitivity of progressive multiple sequence alignment through sequence weighting, position-specific gap penalties and weight matrix choice. *Nucl. Acids Res.* 22: 4673-4680.

#### **CHAPTER III**

### CROSS-SPECIES DEPENDENCE OF LY49 RECOGNITION ON THE SUPERTYPE DEFINING B-POCKET OF A CLASS I MHC MOLECULE<sup>1,2</sup>

Kerry J. Lavender and Kevin P. Kane

#### **A. Introduction**

Natural Killer (NK) cells are large granular lymphocytes that play an important role in innate immunity against transformed and virally infected cells through both cytolytic and cytokine mediated effector responses (1). Murine and human NK cells express a number of receptors on their cell surfaces, including Ly49 and killer cell immunoglobulin-like receptors (KIR), respectively. Although structurally distinct, both of these receptor types are polygenic and have activating and inhibitory members capable of recognizing MHC class I (MHC I) proteins (2, 3). Inhibitory receptors function according to the "missing self hypothesis", surveying potential target cells for expression of self MHC I molecules and transmit inhibitory signals that prevent NK cell activation and target cytolysis (4). In rodents, upon loss of MHC I expression, due to virus infection or cell transformation, inhibitory Ly49 receptors may not be engaged and lysis and cytokine production can occur through engagement of activating Ly49 or other activating NK cell receptors (5). In addition to MHC I, a virally encoded MHC I homolog was

<sup>2</sup>This work was supported by an operating grant from the Canadian Institutes for Health Research (to K.P.K.). K.J.L. is supported by Canadian Institutes for Health Research and Alberta Heritage Foundation for Medical Research studentships. K.P.K. is an Alberta Heritage Foundation for Medical Research Scientist.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> A version of this chapter has been published in the *Journal of Immunology* (2006), 177:8578-8586. *Copyright 2006. The American Association of Immunologists, Inc.* 

shown to be a ligand for both activating and inhibitory Ly49 receptors (6, 7).

Ly49 are MHC I allele specific, each having specificity for a small repertoire of MHC I alleles that are generally recognized in a peptide independent manner (8-15). What determines allele specificity of Ly49 receptors is not understood. The original cocrystal of Ly49A and its ligand H-2D<sup>d</sup> showed two potential interaction sites on the MHC I molecule (16) (Fig. 3-5*A*). Site 1 is located at one end of the polymorphic peptidebinding groove and was initially favored as the interaction site, conferring allele specificity for Ly49 recognition (16). Later, site 2 was shown to be the main interaction site through mutagenesis of single solvent exposed residues under the peptide-binding platform and in the alpha 3 domain of the MHC I heavy chain, as well as residues within  $\beta$ 2-microglobulin (17, 18). Since site 2 is so highly conserved between different MHC I alleles, it is difficult to explain allele specificity by Ly49 receptors at this recognition site.

Murine and primate (including human) MHC I alleles can be classified into about nine different supertypes based on their preference for specific amino acid residues within the bound peptide, which act to anchor it within the peptide-binding groove, in specific anchoring pockets (19). The equal distribution of supertypes across species and even human ethnicities emphasizes the importance of supertypes for the effective function of the immune system against invading pathogens (20-22). Previously we identified a xenogeneic rat MHC I ligand, RT1-A1<sup>c</sup>, for two mouse Ly49 receptors, the activating Ly49W and the BALB/c allele of the inhibitory Ly49G (23). The RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> molecule is also the natural ligand for the syngeneic inhibitory rat Ly49i2 receptor (24). We noticed that there was a common supertype between MHC I alleles that were recognized by these two mouse Ly49 receptors and the rat Ly49i2. Possibly then, the distinctive molecular characteristics associated with this supertype could be critical for recognition by these rodent Ly49 receptors.

Through single amino acid mutations of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> we show here that both xenogeneic mouse and syngeneic rat Ly49 recognition are exquisitely sensitive to even conservative changes in polymorphic residues within the supertype defining B-pocket. In contrast, non-conservative single mutations within the peptide-binding groove, but outside of the B-pocket, have no effect. We also show that both rat syngeneic and mouse xenogeneic Ly49 recognition occurs at site 2, in a manner analogous to mouse syngeneic

Ly49 recognition. Crystal structure conformations of rodent MHC I alleles indicate that alterations in the B-pocket may result in changes in the conformation of solvent exposed residues at site 2, that articulate with the B-pocket, thereby affecting Ly49 recognition. That mouse Ly49 receptors recognize a MHC I supertype across species indicates that this may be a fundamental property of Ly49 interaction with MHC I that transcends species specific recognition, in that the supertype defining pocket(s) of MHC I offers identity to NK cells of innate immunity, while preserving conformations essential to MHC restriction for TCR interaction and adaptive immunity.

#### **B.** Materials And Methods

#### Hybridomas and monoclonal antibodies

The hybridoma producing the antibody 4D11 (rat IgG2a), anti-Ly49G<sup>BALB/c</sup> (9) was obtained from American Type Culture Collection (Manassas, USA). The Cwy-3 (IgG1), anti-Ly49W hybridoma was generated in this laboratory (25). Antibodies were prepared from ammonium sulfate precipitates as described (11). Purified STOK2 (rat IgG2a), anti-Ly49i2 (24, 26) antibody was purchased from BD Biosciences Pharmingen (San Diego, USA). The RT1-A1<sup>e</sup> reactive YR5/12 (rat IgG2b) hybridoma supernatant (27) was purchased from Serotec (Oxford, UK).

#### Cell lines

YB2/0, a non-secreting rat myeloma, was obtained from American Type Culture Collection. The YB2/0 cell line was maintained in DMEM supplemented with 10% FCS, L-glutamine, penicillin, streptomycin, 1mM sodium pyruvate and 0.1mM non-essential amino acids. RNK-16 is a spontaneous F344 rat strain NK cell leukemia cell line (28). RNK-16 cells were maintained in RPMI supplemented with 10% FCS, L-glutamine, penicillin, streptomycin and 5x10<sup>-5</sup>M 2-mercaptoethanol. RNK-16 effector cells expressing murine Ly49 receptors were generated by this lab as described (12, 29). All transfected RNK-16 and YB2/0 cells were maintained under G418 selection. Transfected cells were grown in the absence of G418 for at least 48 hours prior to cytotoxicity assays.

#### Cloning and transfection of Ly49i2

PVG rats were obtained from Harlan Sprague Dawley (Indianapolis, USA). Experiments were approved by the animal Welfare and Policy Committee of the University of Alberta (Edmonton, Canada). Total RNA was isolated from  $1 \times 10^7$  PVG rat lymphokine activated killer cells using an RNAeasy Protect mini-kit (Qiagen, Valencia, USA). cDNA was produced using Powerscript reverse transcriptase (Clontech, Palo Alto, USA) with an oligo(dT) primer. Ly49i2 was amplified with Advantage-HF 2 polymerase mix using primers designed from the sequence NM\_152848 published by Naper et al. (24), digested with XhoI/XbaI and ligated into BSR $\alpha$ EN (Dr. A. Shaw, Washington University, St. Louis, USA). RNK-16 cells were transfected as previously described (12) and maintained under G418 selection until 48 hours prior to cytotoxicity assays.

#### Mutagenesis of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup>

RT1-A1<sup>°</sup>, previously cloned in this laboratory from PVG rat spleen (23), was mutated using the QuikChange Mutagenesis Kit (Stratagene, La Jolla, USA). Mutagenic primers were designed to mutate polymorphic residues in the B-pocket of RT1-A1<sup>°</sup> (D9A, S24A, Y67A), residues within other pockets of the peptide-binding groove (F74A, F116A, F152A, D150A) and at site 1 (R169S) and site 2 (R6A, R111A) as defined by the Ly49A/H-2D<sup>d</sup> co-crystal (16). All mutations were verified by DNA sequencing. Mutagenesis was performed on RT1-A1<sup>°</sup> directly within the H-2D<sup>k</sup> leader-Enhanced GFP (EGFP) fusion vector that was previously generated in this lab (23), and which has been modified slightly to include a 6x histidine tag on the C-terminus of the MHC I-EGFP fusion protein. YB2/0 cells were stably transfected with each construct as previously described (11), and maintained under G418 selection until 48 hours prior to cytotoxicity assays.

#### Flow cytometric analysis

Successful transfection of class I MHC constructs was determined by EGFP fluorescence intensity of transfected YB2/0 cells relative to untransfected YB2/0 cells using a FACScan flow cytometer (BD Biosciences, Mountain View, USA). Proper folding and surface expression levels were determined using specific primary antibody to RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> (YR5/12) plus R-Phycoerythrin-conjugated AffinPure F(ab')<sub>2</sub> Fragment Donkey Anti-Rat IgG secondary antibody (Jackson ImmunoResearch Laboratories Inc., Pennsylvania, USA). Expression of Ly49 receptors by RNK-16 cells was monitored compared to untransfected RNK-16 cells using primary antibodies 4D11 (anti-Ly49G<sup>BALB/c</sup>), Cwy-3 (anti-Ly49W) and STOK2 (anti-Ly49i2) followed by FITCconjugated anti-rat or anti-mouse secondary antibody as required. All cells were incubated with normal mouse serum (for rat primary antibodies) or rat IgG (for mouse primary antibodies), to block Fc receptors prior to staining.

#### Cytotoxicity assays

Target cells were labeled with 100-150 $\mu$ Ci of Na<sup>51</sup>CrO<sub>4</sub> (Mandel, Guelph, Canada) at 37°C for 1 hour. Targets were washed three times with RPMI and 1x10<sup>4</sup> of Na<sup>51</sup>CrO<sub>4</sub> labeled cells were incubated with RNK-16 or transfected RNK-16 cells for 4 hours at 37°C in V-bottom microtitre plates at various E:T ratios in triplicate. After incubation, plates were centrifuged for 5 minutes at 1500rpm and 25 $\mu$ l of supernatant collected and counted in a MicroBeta TriLux liquid scintillation counter (PerkinElmer, Wellesley, USA). Percent specific lysis was determined as (experimental release – spontaneous release)/(maximal release – spontaneous release) x 100%.

#### Peptide elutions

Transfectants of YB2/0 expressing His-tagged wild-type or B pocket mutants of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> were each grown in 20L in spinner culture flasks to a total of approximately  $1x10^{10}$  cells. Cells were centrifuged and washed in wash buffer (10mM Tris pH7.7 and 150mM NaCl) before being lysed at room temperature for 30 minutes in lysis buffer (wash buffer plus 1.5% NP-40 and 0.5mM PMSF). Lysate was centrifuged for 30 minutes at 20,000g at 4°C before adding 5mM imidazole plus 1.5ml Ni-NTA agarose beads (Qiagen, Valencia, USA) to the supernatant, with mixing, for 90 minutes at 4°C. Beads were then washed 5x with lysis buffer plus 20mM imidazole before one final wash with wash buffer. Peptides were then eluted using 10% glacial acetic acid for 5 minutes. Beads were removed using a 0.22µm low protein binding filter and MHC I heavy chain and  $\beta$ 2-microglobulin were removed using an Amicon Ultra filter device MW5000

(Millipore, Billerica, USA). Samples were diluted to 0.1M acetic acid and sent for Edman degradation at the Nucleic Acids and Protein Synthesis (NAPS) facility at the University of British Columbia (Vancouver, Canada) and the Advanced Protein Technology Centre Peptide Sequencing Facility at the Hospital for Sick Children (Toronto, Canada).

#### C. Results

# RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> recognition by a syngeneic rat inhibitory receptor and xenogeneic mouse inhibitory and activating receptors expressed on RNK-16 cells

Recognition of syngeneic MHC I molecules by mouse and rat Ly49 receptors can be MHC I allele specific (30, 31). Furthermore, as we and others have shown, mouse Ly49 can recognize xenogeneic MHC I molecules, and this too is MHC I allele specific (23, 29, 32). However, the role of polymorphic residues of MHC I molecules in determining allele specific recognition by Ly49 receptors is poorly understood. We previously identified allele specific xeno-reactivity of the mouse inhibitory Ly49G<sup>BALB/c</sup> and the activating Ly49W receptors for the PVG rat classical MHC I molecule RT1-A1° (23). From these findings, we set out to characterize the MHC I motifs that confer xenorecognition, and to compare them to those required for syngeneic recognition of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> by its natural syngeneic PVG rat strain receptor, Ly49i2 (24), which is also allele specific. In doing so, we aimed to obtain fundamental insights into Ly49 recognition of MHC I ligands. RNK-16 cells, which exhibit equal background cytotoxicity toward YB2/0 cells or YB2/0 cells expressing the rat MHC I molecule RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> (data not shown), were transfected with the mouse Ly49G<sup>BALB/c</sup> inhibitory receptor, the mouse Ly49W activating receptor, or the rat Ly49i2 inhibitory receptor (Fig. 3-1A). Recognition of RT1-A1<sup>e</sup> expressing YB2/0 cells by the inhibitory receptors Ly49G<sup>BALB/e</sup> and Ly49i2 is demonstrated by the nearly complete reduction in cytolysis by RNK-16 transfectants expressing these receptors, in comparison to normal YB2/0 cells (Fig. 3-1B). Recognition of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> by the activating receptor Ly49W is observable through a substantial increase in cytolysis of YB2/0 cells expressing RT1-A1<sup>c</sup>, in comparison to the background of unaltered YB2/0 cells (Fig. 3-1B). Thus, the rat MHC I molecule, RT1-A1<sup>c</sup>, is recognized by inhibitory and activating xenogeneic mouse Ly49 receptors and by the syngeneic Ly49i2 receptor as reported (23, 24).

89

## Xenogeneic mouse and syngeneic rat Ly49 recognition of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> follows a pattern similar to mouse syngeneic recognition

In order to characterize the MHC I motifs that confer xenogeneic Ly49 recognition, and to apply these findings to the identification of a motif that determines the allele specificity of Ly49 receptors, we needed to determine whether xenogeneic recognition occurs similarly to syngeneic recognition. The original co-crystal structure of Ly49A and H-2D<sup>d</sup> identified two different potential interaction sites on the MHC I molecule for recognition by Ly49A (16) (Fig. 3-5A). Site 1 is located at the end of the peptide-binding groove, is polymorphic among MHC I molecules and was initially a favorable candidate for mediating MHC I allelic specificity of Ly49 receptors. Site 2 is non-polymorphic and located under the peptide-binding platform, involving contact sites in all three domains of the heavy chain as well as residues within  $\beta$ 2-microglobulin. Mutagenesis of mouse MHC I residues has shown that site 2, and not site 1, is important for recognition by syngeneic mouse Ly49 receptors (17, 18). To determine whether rat syngeneic or mouse xenogeneic Ly49 recognition of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> involved site 1, we mutated RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> at the previously identified site 1 residue, R169 (Fig. 3-5*B*) (16), and expressed this mutant to similar levels as wild-type RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> on YB2/0 cells (Fig. 3-2A). This residue was previously shown to affect recognition of H-2D<sup>d</sup>, by the activating receptor Ly49D, when mutated to the corresponding residue of the unrecognized H-2D<sup>b</sup> molecule (33). Therefore, we mutated this site 1 residue in RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> to a serine residue, which is found at this position in the non-recognized rat MHC I allele product, RT1-A<sup>a</sup> (34). None of the receptors, Ly49G<sup>BALB/c</sup>, Ly49W nor Ly49i2, appeared to mediate recognition of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> through site 1, as the R169S mutant was recognized in a similar manner to the wild-type form of the MHC I molecule by all three receptors (Fig. 3-2B). This finding is in common with the recognition of H-2D<sup>d</sup> by Ly49A, which also is not affected by this site 1 mutation (17, 33).

To assess whether rat syngeneic and xenogeneic recognition occurs at site 2 we mutated RT1-A1<sup>e</sup> to alanine at two different residues, R6 and R111 (Fig. 3-5*B*), which are conserved in rat and mouse MHC I molecules. These residues were previously shown to be important for Ly49A recognition of H-2D<sup>d</sup> (16, 17). Both mutants were expressed on

YB2/0 cells at similar levels compared to the wild-type RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> (Fig. 3-2A). We found that xenogeneic recognition by Ly49G<sup>BALB/c</sup> and Ly49W followed a similar pattern to the previously demonstrated mouse syngeneic recognition of H-2D<sup>d</sup> by Ly49A (17) with R6A completely disrupting recognition and R111A having a partial effect (Fig. 3-2B). However, syngeneic recognition of RT1-A1° by Ly49i2 was not affected by the site 2, R6A or R111A mutations (Fig. 3-2B). Additionally, a double R6A R111A mutant of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> did not result in any loss of recognition by the Ly49i2 receptor (data not shown). Residue K243, located in the alpha 3 domain of the MHC I molecule, has previously been shown to be important for Ly49A recognition of H-2D<sup>d</sup> (17) but did not disrupt recognition of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> by Ly49i2 as a single mutant (data not shown). We then mutated RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> to create a R6A K243A double mutant and expressed it to similar levels as wild-type RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> on YB2/0 cells (Fig. 3-2C). The double site 2 mutant, R6A K243A, caused complete disruption of recognition by Ly49i2 (Fig. 3-2C). These results indicate that Ly49 recognition of RT1-A1° by the mouse Ly49G<sup>BALB/c</sup> inhibitory receptor, mouse Ly49W activating receptor and rat inhibitory Ly49i2 receptor, like syngeneic mouse recognition, is mediated through MHC I residues at site 2.

### Xenogeneic and syngeneic Ly49 recognition is sensitive to changes in B-pocket residues of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup>

Since recognition of RT1-A1° by Ly49i2, Ly49G<sup>BALB/c</sup> and Ly49W was determined to be occurring at site 2 where there are no obvious polymorphic solvent exposed residues on the MHC I molecule that would confer allele specificity, we looked beyond amino acid sequence identity for a MHC I motif that could determine recognition of RT1-A1° by both syngeneic and xenogeneic Ly49 receptors. MHC I molecules bind peptides of about nine amino acids in length within the peptide-binding groove. Not all of the amino acids within the peptide play an equal role in positioning and stabilizing it within the folded peptide-MHC I complex, with two or three amino acids of the bound peptide acting as "anchor residues" within specific MHC I binding pockets. MHC I molecules can be grouped into supertypes based on their preference for defined peptide anchor residues bound within specific pockets of the MHC I peptide-binding cleft (19). We noted previously, that Ly49G<sup>BALB/c</sup> and Ly49W appear to recognize MHC I ligands of

a HLA-B7 supertype (23) that prefer to bind peptides with proline at the second, or P2 anchor position (H-2L<sup>d</sup> and RT1-A1<sup>c</sup>) or prefer a P2 residue with a small side chain, such as H-2D<sup>d</sup>, which uses P2 and P3 anchors residues of glycine and proline, respectively (35). Although only one MHC I ligand, RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> has been identified for Ly49i2 (24), it too may prefer MHC I molecules such as RT1-A1<sup>c</sup>, which bind small P2 residues. With this in mind, we examined the B-pocket of the MHC I molecule as its amino acid composition and three-dimensional structure determines the peptide residues that are capable of acting as P2 anchors. We first noted the presence of a large tyrosine residue at position 67 of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> (Fig. 3-5*B*), which is not present in other non-recognized rat MHC I molecules, and could be responsible for the requirement of a small P2 residue to bind within the B-pocket. We mutated this residue to alanine and expressed the RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> Y67A mutant on YB2/0 target cells, matching its expression to that of YB2/0 cells expressing the wild-type RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> molecule (Fig. 3-3A). When we assayed for recognition of the Y67A mutant by the mouse Ly49G<sup>BALB/c</sup> and Ly49W receptors, we saw that alteration of this residue resulted in the loss of recognition by both xenogeneic receptors. In contrast, Ly49i2 recognition of the Y67A mutant was slightly reduced compared to wild-type RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> (Fig. 3-3B). We mutated two other B-pocket residues, D9 and S24 (Fig. 3-5B) to alanine residues and expressed these mutants on YB2/0 cells at similar levels to that of wild-type  $RT1-A1^{\circ}$  (Fig. 3-3A). We used these additional mutants to determine if loss of recognition may be due to opening the B-pocket to larger P2 residues, as might occur with Y67A and D9A, or if recognition could be altered by a more conservative modification of the B-pocket, S24A, that likely would not change the preferred P2 residue. For all three receptors, recognition of the mutant RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> D9A was disrupted, with loss of recognition by the xenogeneic mouse receptors being complete and loss of recognition by the rat syngeneic receptor, Ly49i2, being only slightly less than complete (Fig. 3-3B). In a similar manner, YB2/0 cells expressing the RT1-A1 $^{\circ}$ S24A mutant at comparable levels to wild-type RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> (Fig. 3-3A) also were not recognized by the inhibitory mouse receptor, Ly49G<sup>BALB/c</sup> nor the mouse activating receptor, Ly49W. Recognition of the S24A mutant by the rat inhibitory receptor, Ly49i2 was also lost, although again to a slightly lesser degree than the mouse receptors (Fig. 3-3B). Therefore, recognition of RT1-A1<sup> $\circ$ </sup> by mouse xenogeneic and rat syngeneic receptors

is similar, in that recognition can be altered by mutations affecting single polymorphic amino acids within the B-pocket of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup>, including even a fairly conservative modification such as serine to alanine within the supertype defining B-pocket.

# Xenogeneic and syngeneic recognition of $RT1-A1^{c}$ is not sensitive to alterations of non *B*-pocket residues along the length of the peptide-binding groove

Since xeno- and syngeneic Ly49 recognition of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> was sensitive to alterations of residues in the B-pocket, we wanted to determine whether the receptors relied on the conformation of the B-pocket specifically or if their recognition could be altered by changes in other residues within the peptide-binding groove. We selected four different residues for mutagenesis to alanine: F74, F116, D150 and F152 (Fig. 3-5B). These residues were chosen for a number of reasons. Firstly, due to their positions on both the sides and bottom of the peptide-binding groove and secondly, their location within additional pockets of the peptide-binding groove. These residues were also chosen for their polymorphic nature, large size or the presence of charge, which would result in significant changes in groove structure upon mutagenesis to alanine. Each of these mutants were expressed on YB2/0 cells at similar expression levels as wild-type RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> (Fig. 3-4A) and assayed for recognition by the two mouse receptors,  $Ly49G^{BALB/c}$  and Ly49W and rat Ly49i2 (Fig. 3-4B). Mutagenesis of F74, which faces into the groove on the same side as Y67 and lies just outside of the B-pocket, resulted in no loss of recognition by any of the three receptors (Fig. 3-4B), indicating no reliance on this portion of the peptide-binding groove for recognition by these receptors. Altering F116, a residue that lies in the center of the floor of the groove underneath residues P6 to P8 of the bound peptide, also did not result in any loss of recognition by either of the xenogeneic Ly49 receptors or the rat Ly49i2 receptor (Fig. 3-4B). Similarly, mutagenesis of D150, which lies on the opposite side of the groove from Y67 but more toward the Cterminal end of the bound peptide, resulted in no loss of recognition by any of the three Ly49 receptors tested (Fig. 3-4B). Lastly, mutagenesis of F152, which lies nearly opposite to F74 but more toward the center of the groove, also resulted in no loss of recognition by the mouse inhibitory Ly49G<sup>BALB/c</sup> receptor, the mouse activating Ly49W receptor, and the rat Ly49i2 receptor (Fig. 3-4B). Hence, both syngeneic and xenogeneic

93
recognition of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> is not affected by the alteration of single residues within additional pockets of the peptide-binding groove, outside of the B-pocket.

*B*-pocket mutants that disrupt syngeneic recognition are loaded with fewer peptides having proline at P2 while xenogeneic recognition can be disrupted without a change in P2 preference

By altering residues within the B-pocket of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup>, we were potentially changing the size, charge and conformation of the pocket such that it no longer preferentially bound proline as its P2 anchor residue (36). Since Ly49C recognition of H-2K<sup>b</sup> has been shown to be dependent on the binding of specific peptides to H-2K<sup>b</sup> (37), potentially our RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> mutants were altering the B-pocket in such a manner that peptides with a different P2 anchor residue were binding and altering the RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> conformation and disrupting Ly49 recognition. To investigate this possibility we eluted peptides from wild-type RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> molecules and each of the B-pocket mutants expressed in the YB2/0 cell line. The yield and frequency of specific amino acids at defined positions within peptides, eluted in bulk, were determined by N-terminal Edman degradation sequencing and were compared to known elution profiles from PVG rat strain splenocytes (36, 38), which express this allele product naturally.

The sequencing we obtained from wild-type RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> expressed on YB2/0 cells agreed well with published results, showing a significantly higher molar yield of proline at P2 compared to any other residue (Table 3-1). Despite the change of a bulky tyrosine residue to a small alanine residue, which could hypothetically open the B-pocket to larger P2 residues, we still saw proline as the dominant P2 anchor residue being present in nearly half of peptides eluted from the Y67A mutant, which was able to disrupt xenogeneic recognition only (Table 3-1). The RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> D9A mutant potentially removed a charge constraint on which residues could act as P2 anchors of peptides that bound this RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> mutant. In this case, we continued to see proline as the dominant P2 anchor residue although its yield was reduced in comparison to wild-type and the Y67A mutant (Table 3-1) and the P2 yield of valine, a previously reported secondary RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> P2 anchor and HLA-B7 supertype P2 residue (35, 36, 38), was increased to nearly 25%. Similarly, peptides eluted from RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> S24A, a mutant that we did not expect to see

any alteration in the P2 residue, as the mutation is quite conservative, also continued to show proline as a dominant anchor residue at the P2 position (Table 3-1). Glutamine also appeared as a co-dominant anchor residue at P2 in peptides eluted from the S24A mutant (Table 3-1). Glutamine is not a previously reported P2 anchor residue for RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> nor an accepted HLA-B7 supertype P2 residue (19, 35). This may indicate that the S24A mutant, while maintaining a B7-supertype anchor profile in approximately 25% of loaded peptides, also bound in similar proportion to peptides with a specific non-B7 anchor residue, possibly contributing to the loss of Ly49 recognition of this mutant through an overall reduction of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> molecules loaded with peptide of the B7-supertype.

Together, the peptide sequencing results suggest that the single B-pocket residue mutant Y67A, introduced in RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> through mutagenesis, could affect xenogeneic Ly49 recognition without a change in the dominant P2 anchor residue of bound peptides. In contrast, syngeneic recognition was disrupted only by B-pocket mutants that showed a reduced yield of proline at P2, suggesting that disruption of syngeneic recognition may require the increased loading of peptides without proline as a P2 anchor residue. Our results indicate that recognition of the RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> molecule by syngeneic and xenogeneic Ly49 receptors is dependent on, and extremely sensitive to, alterations in MHC I amino acids that specifically contribute to the composition of the polymorphic, peptide anchor residue binding, and supertype defining, B-pocket. These findings indicate that murine NK cells may play an important role in sensing either alterations in or loss of MHC I of a specific supertype.

#### **D.** Discussion

Ly49 receptors generally recognize MHC I molecules in an allele specific manner (30, 31), yet Matsumoto et al. (17) showed that the highly conserved site 2 region, which lies beneath the peptide-binding groove and includes residues in all three domains of the MHC I heavy chain and  $\beta$ 2-microglobulin (Fig. 3-5*A*) was the major site of interaction for Ly49 with MHC I molecules. This raises two questions, how do Ly49 receptors distinguish between polymorphic MHC I molecules and how has there been expansion of the Ly49 locus when Ly49 receptors interact with such a highly conserved region on MHC I molecules? By identifying RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> as a xenogeneic rat MHC I ligand for the

mouse receptors Ly49G and Ly49W (23), we thought that a polymorphic epitope that was conserved between species but differed between MHC I alleles might be apparent to explain the discrimination between rodent MHC I alleles by these receptors. In examination of site 2 of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup>, with known ligands and non-ligands for Ly49G and W we found that between the rat and mouse only two polymorphisms occur at site 2: Pro2 (H-2D<sup>k</sup>, D<sup>b</sup>, L<sup>d</sup>, K<sup>b</sup>) or Ser2 (H-2D<sup>d</sup>, RT1-A1<sup>c</sup>, A<sup>a</sup>) and Met138 (H-2D<sup>d</sup>, D<sup>k</sup>, D<sup>b</sup>, L<sup>d</sup>, K<sup>b</sup>) or Phe138 (RT1-A1<sup>c</sup>, A<sup>a</sup>). The polymorphisms at position 2 and at 138 do not differentiate Ly49G or W ligands from non-ligands, since Ly49G recognizes H-2D<sup>d</sup>, D<sup>k</sup>, L<sup>d</sup> and RT1-A1<sup>c</sup>, Ly49W recognizes only H-2D<sup>d</sup>, D<sup>k</sup> and RT1-A1<sup>c</sup>, and neither receptor recognizes H-2D<sup>b</sup>, K<sup>b</sup> or RT1-A<sup>a</sup>. Thus, it was not apparent how these polymorphisms could explain the allele specific recognition patterns observed.

What is in common between the MHC I alleles recognized by Ly49G, W and i2 is a similarity of supertype. MHC I molecules of numerous species are classified into about nine different supertypes based on the peptide residues that act to "anchor" the peptide into the MHC I molecule's peptide-binding groove (19). Most MHC I molecules tightly bind the second (P2) and last residues (P9) of the peptide in the anchor binding B- and Fpockets of the MHC I molecule, respectively, although other anchor/pocket combinations can occur. H-2L<sup>d</sup> fits perfectly into what is known as the HLA-B7 supertype, binding Pro as P2 in the B-pocket and Leu or Phe as P9 in the F-pocket of the MHC I molecule (35). Interestingly, we noted that the xenogeneic ligand, RT1-A1<sup>c</sup>, also fits into the HLA-B7 supertype (36) and although  $H-2D^{d}$  is not a perfect example, it also best fits into the B7supertype, binding small residues (Gly and Pro) in its anchoring B and C pockets, respectively (35). In contrast, non-recognized alleles did not fit the HLA-B7 supertype, and varied from it considerably. The H-2D<sup>b</sup> and K<sup>b</sup> molecules use the P5 residue to anchor peptides and prefer Asn and Phe/Tyr peptide anchors, respectively. RT1-A<sup>a</sup> also does not fit the HLA-B7 supertype and although it uses the B-pocket to anchor peptides it binds larger amino acids such as Leu, Gln and Met as preferred anchor residues (35). This led us to examine whether similarities in the MHC I B-pocket, which are shared between species but differ between MHC I alleles, could be the means by which Ly49 receptors differentiate between MHC I alleles. Indeed, upon examination of site 2 residues that lie beneath and articulate with the B-pocket of recognized alleles (RT1-A1<sup>c</sup>

and H-2D<sup>d</sup>) with those of non-recognized alleles (RT1-A<sup>a</sup>, H-2D<sup>b</sup>, H-2K<sup>b</sup>) it is apparent that solvent exposed side chains available for interaction at site 2 have an essentially identical conformational structure and position in RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> and H-2D<sup>d</sup> and a completely different conformational structure and position in RT1-A<sup>a</sup>, H-2D<sup>b</sup> and K<sup>b</sup> (Fig. 3-5*C*). Also, H-2L<sup>d</sup>, which is recognized weakly by Ly49G (29) and not by Ly49W (data not shown), has a similar but not identical conformational structure of the solvent exposed residues below the B-pocket, compared to RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> and H-2D<sup>d</sup>, that may explain its less than optimal interaction with Ly49G and W (Fig. 3-5*C*).

By modifying the site 2 residues R6 and R111 (Fig. 3-5B) we demonstrated that xenogeneic recognition of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> follows an identical pattern of recognition to the mouse Ly49A/H-2D<sup>d</sup> interaction. Additionally, these site 2 residues lie beneath and articulate with the B-pocket, particularly R6, which when mutated, results in greater disruption of recognition compared to R111, which is less influenced by the B-pocket. This relationship supports the hypothesis that the side chain conformations of these and other solvent exposed residues that articulate with the B-pocket may become more or less available for optimal interaction with Ly49 receptors depending on B-pocket conformation (Fig. 3-5C). Ly49i2, like Ly49G and W, did not appear to be reliant on site 1 for recognition of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup>, but also did not show a similar sensitivity to single mutations of R6 and R111 at site 2. However, Ly49i2 does recognize RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> at site 2, as a double mutant including the B-pocket associated R6 residue and the previously identified site 2 residue K243 (Fig. 3-5B) of the class I molecule disrupted recognition, whereas single R6 or K243 (data not shown) mutants had no effect. This slightly altered dependence on site 2 residues by Ly49i2 may be expected, as Ly49i2 differs from Ly49G and W in two important ways that may alter how it interacts with residues below the Bpocket. First, Ly49i2 does not share the glycosylation motif NTT (221-223) that Ly49G and W possess, which is directly adjacent to the interaction site under the B-pocket at site 2 and might lessen the binding strength (39). Second, there is sequence dissimilarity between Ly49i2 and Ly49G/W (12, 24) in a region that could alter precisely how this receptor interacts with residues below the B-pocket. Therefore, Ly49i2 is more likely either interacting with greater affinity than Ly49G and W or has a greater reliance on different B-pocket associated solvent exposed residues. Nevertheless, the dependence on

B-pocket residues for Ly49i2 recognition is shared with the mouse Ly49G and W receptors.

In support of our hypothesis that both xenogeneic and syngeneic rat recognition was occurring at site 2 through solvent exposed residues that were influenced by Bpocket conformations, we found that both xenogeneic recognition by Ly49G and W and syngeneic recognition by Ly49i2 were very sensitive to changes within the B-pocket. By mutating polymorphic residues within the B-pocket of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> to alanine we were able to show that Ly49 receptors could sense changes in floor conformation with the S24A mutant, changes in the charge of the pocket with the D9A mutant, and even showed xenogeneic sensitivity to structural changes higher up in the pocket with the Y67A mutant (Fig. 3-5B). While it is apparent that mutations in the floor of the B-pocket might directly influence the conformation of solvent exposed residues used in Ly49 recognition, it is less apparent how a mutation higher in the pocket could disrupt recognition. However, it has been previously suggested that "void" regions in proteins play a role in stability and function by affecting molecular packing in the protein interior (40). The Y67A mutant may affect the molecular packing of the B-pocket in this manner, translating to the solvent exposed interaction residues and disrupting the xenogeneic interaction at site 2. Mutations in other pockets within the peptide-binding groove of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> changing the size (F74A, F152A) and charge (D150A) of pockets within the groove and the conformation of the groove platform (F116A) (Fig. 3-5B) did not alter recognition, showing a specific reliance on the supertype defining B-pocket and its potential effects on the conformation of solvent exposed residues that articulate with it. In examination of earlier work that mutated residues within the peptide-binding groove of H-2D<sup>d</sup>, but not specifically focusing on anchor binding pockets, we noticed that single mutants outside of the main anchor binding pockets were also unable to disrupt recognition by Ly49A and it required double and triple mutants close to or within minor anchor binding pockets to cause partial or complete disruption, respectively (33, 41). In contrast, we demonstrate here that single mutants within the supertype defining B-pocket of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup>, that do not prevent the MHC I molecule from binding peptide, had significant effects on both xenogeneic mouse and syngeneic rat Ly49 recognition.

Peptides eluted from the B-pocket mutants of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> showed that disruption of xenorecognition and syngeneic rat Ly49 recognition through mutagenesis of the anchor binding and supertype defining B-pocket may occur through two different mechanisms. First, the Y67A mutant showed little alteration in proline yield as the P2 anchor, which is surprising, as this mutant would potentially open the B-pocket to larger P2 residues. This may be due to a reliance on the overall composition of the B-pocket, or residues deeper in the pocket, for alteration of P2 anchor binding preference. Since the Y67A mutant showed little or no alteration in P2 binding preference, likely the conformational change induced in the MHC I heavy chain through the Y67A mutation is the mechanism capable of disrupting xenogeneic but not syngeneic Ly49 recognition of this mutant. Second, although none of the mutants showed an overt change of supertype by complete displacement of proline as a dominant anchor, it is interesting to note that peptides eluted from the S24A and D9A mutants did show a lesser yield of proline at P2 of bound peptides. The S24A mutant is particularly interesting. The reduction in loaded peptides with proline at P2 was balanced by an increase of peptides containing glutamine at P2, a residue that is not recognized as either a P2 anchor for RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> (35) nor as a B7supertype anchor residue (19). This may indicate that the loss of recognition of this mutant was due to the loss of a recognizable supertype, at sufficient density at the cell surface, for recognition by both syngeneic and xenogeneic Ly49 receptors. With D9A, the reduction in proline at P2 was balanced by an increase of valine, which is accepted as a secondary RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> (36) and HLA-B7 supertype anchor residue (19). This suggests that Ly49 recognition of MHC I may also be sensitive to alterations in the overall proportion of MHC I loaded with specific anchor residues without requiring an overt change in supertype. Therefore, in addition to direct conformational changes in the MHC I heavy chain, induced through B-pocket mutagenesis, the overall reduction of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> molecules at the cell surface, loaded with peptides with a proline P2 anchor, could be an additional mechanism contributing to the loss of recognition of these mutants by Ly49.

Orihuela et al. demonstrated that Ly49A is not peptide selective; loading  $H-2D^d$  with various peptides including a "skeletal" Ala peptide did not disrupt recognition (14). This peptide still required the presence of  $H-2D^d$  anchor residues (AGPAAAAL) to allow proper folding and presentation at the cell surface, but in the context of our present

study, may also have preserved a recognizable MHC I supertype associated conformation for Ly49A recognition. It is possible then that the reduction in proline at P2, and therefore the increased presence of MHC I loaded with peptides having either secondary P2 anchors or P2 anchors of a different supertype, was required for the loss of syngeneic but not xenogeneic Ly49 recognition we observed. An altered repertoire of bound peptides has been proposed to explain the gain of recognition of H-2D<sup>k</sup> by Ly49P upon MCMV infection (42). Should this be the case, it might be due to changing the structure of the MHC I molecule through altered dominance of different amino acids as P2 residues, thereby affecting recognition by Ly49 receptors.

KIR receptors also survey for changes in the peptide-binding preferences of the MHC I molecule (43) and this may be supertype related as KIR-3DL2 recognizes more than one MHC I allele of the HLA-A3 supertype when loaded with virus derived peptides, but not self peptides or MHC I of other supertypes (44). While early work demonstrated human NK receptor (likely KIR) sensitivity to B-pocket mutations of HLA-B7 (45), it is now clear that KIR interact with HLA nearer to the other anchor residue binding and supertype defining F-pocket (46). This suggests that, similar to what we have demonstrated with Ly49 recognition, some KIR may also survey for MHC I of specific supertypes. It is conceivable that KIR may be sensitive to small differences in the conformation of the F-pocket region of different MHC I supertypes in combination with different peptides, as opposed to the B-pocket sensitivity demonstrated here with rodent Ly49 receptors. KIR can also recognize xenogeneic MHC I ligands (47), and perhaps this is mediated through common supertype conformations at anchor binding pockets.

Why would Ly49 receptors survey for MHC I supertypes? The equal distribution of supertypes across species (20, 21) and even human ethnicities, although allele representation within those supertypes varies (48), implies that a certain complement of supertypes is required within a population to provide immune fitness toward a battery of pathogens (49). Since there are no MHC I orthologs between rat and mouse or between rodents and humans (50), and since examination of the B-pocket structure of murine vs. primate supertypes shows a large difference in the pocket structures, it appears that convergent evolution has occurred to produce similar supertypes in both mammalian orders. Supertypes likely are important for T cell recognition. It has been shown that the TCR can be affected by more than the solvent exposed regions of MHC I, and changes in anchor binding pockets affect the structure and conformation of the MHC I surface that interacts with the TCR, altering recognition (51, 52). Therefore, MHC I allele specific inhibitory Ly49 receptors, such as Ly49A, G and i2 may be sensing whether specific MHC I supertypes are expressed to present peptides with specific anchor residues that would normally be presented to T cells. Loss of relevant supertype interaction with Ly49 inhibitory receptors, for example, would indicate that a cell may be incapable of presenting a major subset of peptides (with specific P2 anchors) to T cells and should be eliminated. In contrast, receptors such as Ly49C that recognized a broader repertoire of MHC I alleles (10), may be surveying more for the presence of properly folded MHC I capable of interacting with  $\beta$ 2-microglobulin and the CD8 T-cell co-stimulatory molecule, which shares portions of the Ly49 binding site on MHC I (53).

We demonstrate that some Ly49 are able to detect a supertype, even across species, and are sensitive to alterations specifically in the supertype-defining B-pocket. Therefore, we conclude that MHC I allele specificity of Ly49 receptors can be dictated by conformational differences between MHC I supertypes. Importantly, this would allow NK cells to survey for the presence or absence of MHC I supertypes capable of presenting peptide antigens to T cells, and elimination of cells defective in antigen presentation through loss of or alterations in a specific MHC I supertype. Such defects would result in the inability to present immunodominant peptides of a specific supertype or possibly loss of conformations important for MHC restriction. This shared dependence on MHC I supertypes by Ly49 and TCR indicates yet another fundamental link between innate and adaptive immunity. It also provides a potential explanation for the expansion of the Ly49 locus, through pressure to maintain Ly49 capable of detecting conformational differences in the MHC I supertypes that are essential to adaptive immunity.

### E. Acknowledgments

We thank Dong-Er Gong for excellent technical assistance.

### F. Author Contribution to Data

Kerry Lavender generated all the data produced in this study.



**Figure 3-1.** The rat classical class I MHC molecule, RT1-A1<sup>c</sup>, is a xenogeneic ligand for mouse Ly49G<sup>BALB/c</sup> and Ly49W and a syngeneic ligand for Ly49i2. Ly49G<sup>BALB/c</sup>, Ly49W and Ly49i2 were each expressed to similar levels on RNK-16 cells. *A*, Transfected RNK-16 cells (*shaded histograms*) were assessed for Ly49 specific antibody staining (4D11, Ly49G<sup>BALB/c</sup>; Cwy-3, Ly49W; STOK2, Ly49i2) compared to untransfected RNK-16 cells (*open histograms*). *B*, RNK-16 cells transfected with Ly49G<sup>BALB/c</sup>, Ly49W or Ly49i2 were compared for cytotoxicity against YB2/0 cells and YB2/0 cells transfected with RT1-A1<sup>c</sup>. Data represent the mean of triplicate wells ± SD and are representative of three independent experiments.



**Figure 3-2.** Xenogeneic and syngeneic Ly49 recognition of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> is at site 2. *A*, Wildtype RT1-A1<sup>c</sup>, the site 1 mutant R169S and the site 2 mutants R6A and R111A (*shaded histograms*) were each expressed to similar levels on YB2/0 cells compared to untransfected YB2/0 cells (*open histograms*). *B*, RNK-16 cells transfected with Ly49G<sup>BALB/c</sup>, Ly49W or Ly49i2 were compared for cytotoxicity against YB2/0 cells and YB2/0 transfected with the RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> site 1 R169A mutant, site 2 R6A or R111A mutants or wild-type RT1-A1<sup>c</sup>. *C*, The site 2 RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> double mutant, R6A K243A (*thick lined histogram*), was expressed to similar levels as wild-type RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> (*shaded histogram*) compared with untransfected YB2/0 cells (*thin lined histogram*) and was assayed for cytotoxicity by RNK-16 cells transfected with Ly49i2. Data represent the mean of triplicate wells ± SD and are representative of three independent experiments.



**Figure 3-3.** Xenogeneic and syngeneic Ly49 recognition of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> is sensitive to alterations in the anchor residue binding B-pocket of the MHC I molecule. *A*, Wild-type RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> and its B-pocket mutants Y67A, D9A and S24A were each expressed to similar levels on YB2/0 cells. Transfected YB2/0 cells (*shaded histograms*) were assessed for RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> specific YR5/12 antibody staining compared to untransfected YB2/0 cells (*open histograms*). *B*, RNK-16 cells transfected with Ly49G<sup>BALB/c</sup>, Ly49W or Ly49i2 were compared for cytotoxicity against YB2/0 and YB2/0 transfected with the indicated RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> B-pocket mutants or wild-type RT1-A1<sup>c</sup>. Data represent the mean of triplicate wells  $\pm$  SD and are representative of three independent experiments.



**Figure 3-4.** Xenogeneic and syngeneic Ly49 recognition of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> is not sensitive to alterations in the peptide-binding groove outside of the anchor binding B-pocket of the MHC I molecule. *A*, Wild-type RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> and its peptide-binding groove mutants F74A, F116A, D150A and F152A were each expressed to similar levels on YB2/0 cells. Transfected YB2/0 cells (*shaded histograms*) were assessed for RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> specific YR5/12 antibody staining compared to untransfected YB2/0 cells (*open histograms*). *B*, RNK-16 cells transfected with Ly49G<sup>BALB/c</sup>, Ly49W or Ly49i2 were compared for cytotoxicity against YB2/0 cells transfected with the indicated RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> peptide-binding groove mutants and wild-type RT1-A1<sup>c</sup>. Data represent the mean of triplicate wells  $\pm$  SD and are representative of three independent experiments.



**Figure 3-5.** Alterations in the polymorphic and supertype defining B-pocket of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> disrupts interaction with Ly49 receptors, possibly by altering the conformation of solvent exposed residues at site 2. *A*, Co-crystal of Ly49A (*violet and teal*) and H-2D<sup>d</sup> (*blue*) showing site 1 and site 2 interactions, respectively. *B*, Depiction of residues mutated in RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> and comparison of their effects on xenogeneic Ly49G and W recognition (*left*) versus syngeneic Ly49i2 recognition (*right*). Total disruption, red; no disruption, green; partial disruption, orange; double mutant disruption, purple. Residues within the peptide-binding groove are shown as spheres, solvent exposed residues, shown in ball and stick, which articulate with the B-pocket of ligands (RT1-A1<sup>c</sup>, H-2D<sup>d</sup>, L<sup>d</sup>) versus non-ligands (RT1-A<sup>a</sup>, H-2D<sup>b</sup>, K<sup>b</sup>). Side chains are depicted in blue except for R6 and R111, which are depicted in yellow.

MHC I Molecule <sup><i>a</i></sup>							
RT1-A1 <sup>c</sup>		A1 <sup>c</sup> Y67A		A1 <sup>c</sup> D9A		A1 <sup>c</sup> S24A	
P2 <i>b</i>	%Yield <sup>C</sup>	P2	%Yield	P2	%Yield	P2	%Yield
Ρ	52	Р	45	Р	31	Q	29
L	11	Q	17	V	23.5	Р	26
V	9	L	14	R	16.5	E	12
G/Q	8/8	1	12	T/Q	11/11	Ν	11
A/I	5/5	V	7	K	7	V	8
F	2	E/F	2/2			I/T	7/7
		Y	1				

Table 3-1. *P2 residues of peptides eluted from wild-type and mutant RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> molecules* 

<sup>a</sup> His tagged and purified from YB2/0 transfectants using Ni-NTA beads.

<sup>b</sup> Residues found at position 2 as determined by Edman degradation of peptides eluted from wild-type RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> or the designated MHC I mutants. Residues found in >25% of eluted peptides (in bold) were considered as dominant anchor residues.

<sup>c</sup> The P2 protein molar yield is expressed as the percentage of total molar yield from amino acids showing a pmol increase at P2.

#### G. References

- 1. Stewart, C. A., E. Vivier, and M. Colonna. 2006. Strategies of natural killer cell recognition and signaling. *Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunol. 298: 1-21.*
- 2. Vilches, C., and P. Parham. 2002. KIR: diverse, rapidly evolving receptors of innate and adaptive immunity. *Annu. Rev. Immunol. 20: 217-251*.
- 3. Kane, K. P., K. J. Lavender, and B. J. Ma. 2004. Ly-49 receptors and their functions. *Crit. Rev. Immunol.* 24: 321-348.
- 4. Ljunggren, H. G., and K. Karre. 1990. In search of the 'missing self': MHC molecules and NK cell recognition. *Immunol. Today 11: 237-244*.
- Ryan, J. C., C. Naper, S. Hayashi, and M. R. Daws. 2001. Physiologic functions of activating natural killer (NK) complex-encoded receptors on NK cells. *Immunol. Rev. 181: 126-137.*
- Forbes, C. A., M. G. Brown, R. Cho, G. R. Shellam, W. M. Yokoyama, and A. A. Scalzo. 1997. The Cmv1 host resistance locus is closely linked to the Ly49 multigene family within the natural killer cell gene complex on mouse chromosome 6. *Genomics 41: 406-413*.
- Arase, H., E. S. Mocarski, A. E. Campbell, A. B. Hill, and L. L. Lanier. 2002. Direct recognition of cytomegalovirus by activating and inhibitory NK cell receptors. *Science 296: 1323-1326*.
- Karlhofer, F. M., R. K. Ribaudo, and W. M. Yokoyama. 1992. MHC class I alloantigen specificity of Ly-49+ IL-2-activated natural killer cells. *Nature 358:* 66-70.
- Mason, L. H., J. R. Ortaldo, H. A. Young, V. Kumar, M. Bennett, and S. K. Anderson. 1995. Cloning and functional characteristics of murine large granular lymphocyte-1: a member of the Ly-49 gene family (Ly-49G2). J. Exp. Med. 182: 293-303.
- Brennan, J., G. Mahon, D. L. Mager, W. A. Jefferies, and F. Takei. 1996.
   Recognition of class I major histocompatibility complex molecules by Ly- 49: specificities and domain interactions. J. Exp. Med. 183: 1553-1559.

- Silver, E. T., D. E. Gong, C. S. Chang, A. Amrani, P. Santamaria, and K. P. Kane.
   2000. Ly-49P activates NK-mediated lysis by recognizing H-2D<sup>d</sup>. J. Immunol.
   165: 1771-1781.
- Silver, E. T., D. Gong, B. Hazes, and K. P. Kane. 2001. Ly-49W, an activating receptor of nonobese diabetic mice with close homology to the inhibitory receptor Ly-49G, recognizes H-2D(k) and H-2D(d). *J. Immunol. 166: 2333-2341*.
- Nakamura, M. C., P. A. Linnemeyer, E. C. Niemi, L. H. Mason, J. R. Ortaldo, J. C. Ryan, and W. E. Seaman. 1999. Mouse Ly-49D recognizes H-2D<sup>d</sup> and activates natural killer cell cytotoxicity. *J. Exp. Med.* 189: 493-500.
- Orihuela, M., D. H. Margulies, and W. M. Yokoyama. 1996. The natural killer cell receptor Ly-49A recognizes a peptide-induced conformational determinant on its major histocompatibility complex class I ligand. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A* 93: 11792-11797.
- Hanke, T., H. Takizawa, C. W. McMahon, D. H. Busch, E. G. Pamer, J. D. Miller, J. D. Altman, Y. Liu, D. Cado, F. A. Lemonnier, P. J. Bjorkman, and D. H. Raulet. 1999. Direct assessment of MHC class I binding by seven Ly49 inhibitory NK cell receptors. *Immunity 11: 67-77*.
- Tormo, J., K. Natarajan, D. H. Margulies, and R. A. Mariuzza. 1999. Crystal structure of a lectin-like natural killer cell receptor bound to its MHC class I ligand. *Nature 402: 623-631*.
- Matsumoto, N., M. Mitsuki, K. Tajima, W. M. Yokoyama, and K. Yamamoto.
   2001. The Functional Binding Site for the C-type Lectin-like Natural Killer Cell Receptor Ly49A Spans Three Domains of Its Major Histocompatibility Complex Class I Ligand. J. Exp. Med. 193: 147-158.
- Wang, J., M. C. Whitman, K. Natarajan, J. Tormo, R. A. Mariuzza, and D. H. Margulies. 2002. Binding of the natural killer cell inhibitory receptor Ly49A to its major histocompatibility complex class I ligand. Crucial contacts include both H-2D<sup>d</sup> AND beta 2-microglobulin. J. Biol. Chem. 277: 1433-1442.
- Sette, A., and J. Sidney. 1999. Nine major HLA class I supertypes account for the vast preponderance of HLA-A and -B polymorphism. *Immunogenetics 50: 201-212*.

- Bertoni, R., A. Sette, J. Sidney, L. G. Guidotti, M. Shapiro, R. Purcell, and F. V. Chisari. 1998. Human class I supertypes and CTL repertoires extend to chimpanzees. J. Immunol. 161: 4447-4455.
- Sette, A., J. Sidney, B. D. Livingston, J. L. Dzuris, C. Crimi, C. M. Walker, S. Southwood, E. J. Collins, and A. L. Hughes. 2003. Class I molecules with similar peptide-binding specificities are the result of both common ancestry and convergent evolution. *Immunogenetics* 54: 830-841.
- 22. Sette, A., and J. Sidney. 1998. HLA supertypes and supermotifs: a functional perspective on HLA polymorphism. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* 10: 478-482.
- Lavender, K. J., B. J. Ma, E. T. Silver, and K. P. Kane. 2004. The rat RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> MHC molecule is a xenogeneic ligand recognized by the mouse activating Ly-49W and inhibitory Ly-49G receptors. *J. Immunol.* 172: 3518-3526.
- Naper, C., S. Hayashi, E. Joly, G. W. Butcher, B. Rolstad, J. T. Vaage, and J. C. Ryan. 2002. Ly49i2 is an inhibitory rat natural killer cell receptor for an MHC class Ia molecule (RT1-A1<sup>c</sup>). *Eur. J. Immunol.* 32: 2031-2036.
- Chang, C. S., E. T. Silver, and K. P. Kane. 1999. Generation of a monoclonal antibody that recognizes a polymorphic epitope of C57BL/6 Ly-49G2. *Hybridoma 18: 423-429.*
- Naper, C., J. C. Ryan, M. C. Nakamura, D. Lambracht, B. Rolstad, and J. T. Vaage. 1998. Identification of an inhibitory MHC receptor on alloreactive rat natural killer cells. *J. Immunol. 160: 219-224*.
- 27. Galfre, G., C. Milstein, and B. Wright. 1979. Rat x rat hybrid myelomas and a monoclonal anti-Fd portion of mouse IgG. *Nature 277: 131-133*.
- Reynolds, C. W., E. W. Bere, Jr., and J. M. Ward. 1984. Natural killer activity in the rat. III. Characterization of transplantable large granular lymphocyte (LGL) leukemias in the F344 rat. J. Immunol. 132: 534-540.
- Silver, E. T., K. J. Lavender, D. E. Gong, B. Hazes, and K. P. Kane. 2002. Allelic variation in the ectodomain of the inhibitory Ly-49G2 receptor alters its specificity for allogeneic and xenogeneic ligands. *J. Immunol.* 169: 4752-4760.
- 30. Kane, K. P., E. T. Silver, and B. Hazes. 2001. Specificity and function of activating Ly-49 receptors. *Immunol. Rev. 181: 104-114*.

- Naper, C., K. Z. Dai, L. Kveberg, B. Rolstad, E. C. Niemi, J. T. Vaage, and J. C. Ryan. 2005. Two structurally related rat Ly49 receptors with opposing functions (Ly49 stimulatory receptor 5 and Ly49 inhibitory receptor 5) recognize nonclassical MHC class Ib-encoded target ligands. *J. Immunol. 174: 2702-2711*.
- Furukawa, H., K. Iizuka, J. Poursine-Laurent, N. Shastri, and W. M. Yokoyama.
   2002. A ligand for the murine NK activation receptor Ly-49D: activation of tolerized NK cells from beta 2-microglobulin-deficient mice. J. Immunol. 169: 126-136.
- Nakamura, M. C., S. Hayashi, E. C. Niemi, J. C. Ryan, and W. E. Seaman. 2000. Activating Ly-49D and inhibitory Ly-49A natural killer cell receptors demonstrate distinct requirements for interaction with H2-D<sup>(d)</sup>. J. Exp. Med. 192: 447-454.
- Rada, C., R. Lorenzi, S. J. Powis, J. van den Bogaerde, P. Parham, and J. C. Howard. 1990. Concerted evolution of class I genes in the major histocompatibility complex of murine rodents. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A 87: 2167-2171*.
- Rammensee, H., J. Bachmann, N. P. Emmerich, O. A. Bachor, and S. Stevanovic.
   1999. SYFPEITHI: database for MHC ligands and peptide motifs.
   *Immunogenetics 50: 213-219.*
- 36. Stevens, J., R. C. Jones, R. S. Bordoli, J. Trowsdale, S. J. Gaskell, G. W. Butcher, and E. Joly. 2000. Peptide specificity of RT1-A1(c), an inhibitory rat major histocompatibility complex class I natural killer cell ligand. J. Biol. Chem. 275: 29217-29224.
- Franksson, L., J. Sundback, A. Achour, J. Bernlind, R. Glas, and K. Karre. 1999.
   Peptide dependency and selectivity of the NK cell inhibitory receptor Ly-49C.
   *Eur. J. Immunol. 29: 2748-2758.*
- Stevens, J., K.-H. Wiesmuller, P. J. Barker, P. Walden, G. W. Butcher, and E. Joly. 1998. Efficient generation of major histocompatibility complex class I-peptide complexes using synthetic peptide libraries. J. Biol. Chem. 273: 2874-2884.

- Mason, L. H., J. Willette-Brown, S. K. Anderson, W. G. Alvord, R. L. Klabansky,
  H. A. Young, and J. R. Ortaldo. 2003. Receptor glycosylation regulates Ly-49
  binding to MHC class I. J. Immunol. 171: 4235-4242.
- 40. Williams, M. A., J. M. Goodfellow, and J. M. Thornton. 1994. Buried waters and internal cavities in monomeric proteins. *Protein Sci. 3: 1224-1235*.
- Matsumoto, N., W. M. Yokoyama, S. Kojima, and K. Yamamoto. 2001. The NK cell MHC class I receptor Ly49A detects mutations on H-2D<sup>d</sup> inside and outside of the peptide binding groove. *J. Immunol. 166: 4422-4428*.
- 42. Desrosiers, M. P., A. Kielczewska, J. C. Loredo-Osti, S. G. Adam, A. P. Makrigiannis, S. Lemieux, T. Pham, M. B. Lodoen, K. Morgan, L. L. Lanier, and S. M. Vidal. 2005. Epistasis between mouse Klra and major histocompatibility complex class I loci is associated with a new mechanism of natural killer cell-mediated innate resistance to cytomegalovirus infection. *Nat. Genet.* 37: 593-599.
- Borrego, F., J. Kabat, D. K. Kim, L. Lieto, K. Maasho, J. Pena, R. Solana, and J. E. Coligan. 2002. Structure and function of major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I specific receptors expressed on human natural killer (NK) cells. *Mol. Immunol.* 38: 637-660.
- Hansasuta, P., T. Dong, H. Thananchai, M. Weekes, C. Willberg, H. Aldemir, S. Rowland-Jones, and V. M. Braud. 2004. Recognition of HLA-A3 and HLA-A11 by KIR3DL2 is peptide-specific. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 34: 1673-1679.
- 45. Kurago, Z. B., K. D. Smith, and C. T. Lutz. 1995. NK cell recognition of MHC class I. NK cells are sensitive to peptide-binding groove and surface alpha-helical mutations that affect T cells. *J. Immunol.* 154: 2631-2641.
- Boyington, J. C., S. A. Motyka, P. Schuck, A. G. Brooks, and P. D. Sun. 2000. Crystal structure of an NK cell immunoglobulin-like receptor in complex with its class I MHC ligand. *Nature 405: 537-543*.
- Khakoo, S. I., R. Rajalingam, B. P. Shum, K. Weidenbach, L. Flodin, D. G. Muir, F. Canavez, S. L. Cooper, N. M. Valiante, L. L. Lanier, and P. Parham. 2000.
  Rapid evolution of NK cell receptor systems demonstrated by comparison of chimpanzees and humans. *Immunity 12: 687-698*.

- Kangueane, P., M. K. Sakharkar, G. Rajaseger, S. Bolisetty, B. Sivasekari, B. Zhao, M. Ravichandran, P. Shapshak, and S. Subbiah. 2005. A framework to sub-type HLA supertypes. *Front. Biosci.* 10: 879-886.
- 49. Stephens, H. A. 2005. HIV-1 diversity versus HLA class I polymorphism. *Trends Immunol. 26: 41-47.*
- 50. Gunther, E., and L. Walter. 2000. Comparative genomic aspects of rat, mouse and human MHC class I gene regions. *Cytogenet. Cell Genet.* 91: 107-112.
- 51. Rudolph, M. G., J. A. Speir, A. Brunmark, N. Mattsson, M. R. Jackson, P. A. Peterson, L. Teyton, and I. A. Wilson. 2001. The crystal structures of K(bm1) and K(bm8) reveal that subtle changes in the peptide environment impact thermostability and alloreactivity. *Immunity 14: 231-242*.
- Hengel, H., K. Burke, D. Kyburz, R. M. Zinkernagel, and U. H. Koszinowski.
   1995. Peptides control the gain and loss of allele specificity by mutated MHC class I molecules. *J. Immunol.* 154: 4557-4564.
- Gao, G. F., J. Tormo, U. C. Gerth, J. R. Wyer, A. J. McMichael, D. I. Stuart, J. I. Bell, E. Y. Jones, and B. K. Jakobsen. 1997. Crystal structure of the complex between human CD8alpha(alpha) and HLA-A2. *Nature 387: 630-634*.

#### **CHAPTER IV**

### DISTINCT INTERACTIONS WITH MULTIPLE SITE 2 SUBSITES BY ALLELE SPECIFIC RAT AND MOUSE LY49 DETERMINE BINDING AND CLASS I MHC SPECIFICITY<sup>1,2</sup>

Kerry J. Lavender, Heidi H. Chau and Kevin P. Kane

#### **A. Introduction**

Natural killer (NK) cells are large granular lymphocytes that play an important role in mediating innate resistance to transformed and virally infected cells, through both the secretion of soluble mediators and cytolytic activity (1). Interactions between NK cells and potential target cells occur through a myriad of activating and inhibitory receptors on the NK cell surface (2). In murine species, such as the rat and mouse, these include members of the Ly49 lectin-like receptor family (3-5).

Ly49 receptors belong to polygenic families comprised of numerous members both in the mouse and the rat (6, 7). Inbred rat and mouse strains each have a characteristic Ly49 haplotype (8-10), and allelic variation between Ly49 has been identified between mouse strains (11, 12). Within Ly49 gene families both activating and inhibitory receptor types are found, with some activating/inhibitory hybrid receptors

<sup>2</sup>This work was supported by an operating grant from the Canadian Institutes for Health Research (to K.P.K.). K.J.L. is supported by Canadian Institutes for Health Research and Alberta Heritage Foundation for Medical Research studentships. K.P.K. is an Alberta Heritage Foundation for Medical Research Scientist.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>A version of this chapter has been submitted for publication to the *Journal of Immunology. The American Association of Immunologists, Inc.* 

identified in the rat (7). Class I MHC (MHC I) is the demonstrated ligand for most well studied activating and inhibitory murine Ly49 (4, 13). Additionally, the viral MHC I homolog, m157 from mouse cytomegalovirus, is a ligand for the mouse activating Ly49H and inhibitory Ly49I receptors (14).

Recognition of MHC I by Ly49 is allele specific, with each Ly49 receptor able to recognize only one or a small repertoire of MHC I alleles. In inbred rodent strains, each NK cell expresses only a small subset of the available genes in its Ly49 haplotype (15) but often at least one inhibitory Ly49 capable of recognizing an autologous MHC I allele product, which then transmits a dominant suppressive signal to the NK cell, thereby maintaining NK cell tolerance to self (16). Loss or lack of self-MHC I through viral infection, or transformation would then release the NK cell from this dominant suppression, precipitating NK effector functions toward the target cell (17).

The molecular interaction between mouse Ly49 and MHC I has been studied by mutagenesis (18-24) and examination of co-crystal structures of Ly49A/H-2D<sup>d</sup> and Ly49C/H-2K<sup>b</sup> (25, 26), and occurs primarily at a large interface known as "site 2" that encompasses MHC I residues below the peptide binding groove, within the  $\alpha$ 3 domain, and on the  $\beta$ 2-microglobulin ( $\beta$ 2m). What has remained poorly understood is the mechanism by which this site 2 interface, which is highly conserved both within and between rat and mouse MHC I alleles, can engender the observed allele specificity of Ly49 receptors.

Recently, we demonstrated that one of the polymorphic pockets within the peptide binding groove of MHC I, that serves to secure the peptide in the groove through specific "anchor residues" in the peptide, and that defines the supertype of the MHC I molecule, can determine allele specific recognition of MHC I (27). We hypothesized that this may occur through conformational alterations in solvent exposed residues at site 2 that directly articulate with the anchor binding and supertype defining pockets of MHC I, thereby defining which polymorphic Ly49 would then be able to interact with critical residues at this site (27). This reliance on supertype defined conformations for allele specificity would allow NK cells to survey for the presence of MHC I supertypes on the cell surface, about nine of which are found in species as diverse as rodent and primate through

convergent evolution (28, 29), and which appear critical for CTL recognition and function (30, 31).

To investigate whether allele specific Ly49 differentially interact with solvent exposed residues at site 2, possibly due to conformational alterations caused by anchorbinding and supertype-defining pockets and to investigate if rat Ly49 recognition of MHC I occurs in a similar manner to mouse, we examined both a rat and a mouse Ly49/MHC I allele specific receptor and ligand combination, creating mutations of solvent exposed residues at site 2 that articulate directly with the anchor binding pockets of MHC I. Because co-crystal structures of Ly49A with H-2D<sup>d</sup> (25) and Ly49C with H-2K<sup>b</sup> (26) predict that each of these Ly49/MHC I alleles interact with different residues in the  $\alpha$ 3 domain of MHC I (Fig. 4-1*A* and *B*) we also mutated  $\alpha$ 3 domain residues to determine whether conformational differences in MHC I might also affect how Ly49 receptors are oriented in relation to the  $\alpha$ 3 domain, generating altered dependency on residues in this domain for recognition.

Our data leads us to present a model in which three heavy chain subsites, at the highly conserved site 2 of MHC I, function in combination to determine both rat and mouse Ly49 binding and allele specificity for MHC I. The F-subsite, which involves solvent exposed residues articulating with the more conserved anchor binding F-pocket, acts in both species as an anchor point and interacts with highly conserved residues in Ly49. The B-subsite, involving residues that articulate with the polymorphic, supertype defining and N-terminal peptide anchor binding pocket(s) on MHC I, directly interacts with the polymorphic L3 loop of Ly49 but may additionally contribute to allele specificity by altering placement of the Ly49 at site 2, likely owing to variable  $\beta 2m$  orientation. The altered positioning at site 2 then makes residues in the  $\alpha 3$  domain (C-subsite) of MHC I more or less available for interaction with polymorphic  $\beta 4-\beta 5$  and  $\beta 2-\beta 2'$  loops in Ly49. This model appears to apply in both the rat and mouse, and is consistent with convergent evolution in these two species to produce an innate recognition system capable of scrutinizing cells for the presence of MHC I supertypes, which are so crucial to CTL function and adaptive immunity.

#### **B.** Materials and Methods

#### Hybridomas and monoclonal antibodies

Hybridomas producing the antibodies 4D11 (rat IgG2a), anti-Ly49G<sup>BALB/c</sup> (32) and 34-5-8S (IgG2a), anti-H-2D<sup>d</sup> were obtained from American Type Culture Collection (Manassas, VA). Antibodies were prepared from ammonium sulfate precipitates as described (33). Purified STOK2 (rat IgG2a), anti-Ly49i2 antibody (34, 35) was purchased from BD Biosciences Pharmingen (San Diego, CA). RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> specific YR5/12 (rat IgG2b) hybridoma supernatant (36), was purchased from Serotec (Oxford, UK). The R-Phycoerythrin-conjugated secondary antibodies, AffinPure F(ab')<sub>2</sub> Fragment Donkey Anti-Rat IgG, and AffinPure F(ab')<sub>2</sub> Fragment Donkey Anti-Mouse IgG, were purchased from Jackson ImmunoResearch Laboratories Inc. (West Grove, PA).

#### Cell lines

YB2/0, a non-secreting rat myeloma, was obtained from American Type Culture Collection and was maintained in DMEM supplemented with 10% FCS, L-glutamine, penicillin, streptomycin, 1mM sodium pyruvate and 0.1mM non-essential amino acids. RNK-16, a spontaneous F344 rat strain NK cell leukaemia cell line (37), was maintained in RPMI supplemented with 10% FCS, L-glutamine, penicillin, streptomycin and 5 x 10<sup>-5</sup>M 2-mercaptoethanol. All transfected RNK-16 and YB2/0 cells were maintained under G418 selection. Transfected cells were grown in the absence of G418 for at least 48 hours prior to cytotoxicity assays.

#### Cloning and transfection of Ly49i2

Total RNA was isolated from  $1 \times 10^7$  PVG rat LAK cells using an RNAeasy Protect mini-kit (Qiagen, Valencia, USA). cDNA was produced using Powerscript reverse transcriptase (Clontech, Palo Alto, USA) with an oligo(dT) primer. Ly49i2 was amplified with Advantage-HF 2 polymerase mix using primers designed from the sequence NM\_152848 published by Naper et al. (35), digested with XhoI/XbaI and ligated into BSR $\alpha$ EN (Dr. A. Shaw, Washington University, St. Louis, USA). RNK-16 cells were transfected as previously described (38).

#### Mutagenesis of MHC I

RT1-A1<sup>c</sup>, previously cloned in this laboratory from PVG rat spleen (39) and H-2D<sup>d</sup> from S49.1 T lymphoma cells (33), were mutated using a QuikChange Mutagenesis Kit (Stratagene, La Jolla, USA). Mutagenic primers were designed to mutate to alanine, potential solvent exposed interaction residues directly below or near the B-pocket (residues 6, 8, 10, 23, 27 and 98), below the F-pocket (residues 115 and 122) and in the  $\alpha$ 3 domain of the MHC-CI heavy chain (residues 223, 232, 243, 262) as defined by Lv49A/H-2D<sup>d</sup> and Lv49C/H-2K<sup>b</sup> co-crystals (25, 26). Double mutants in the B-subsite (R6A F8A), F-subsite (Q115A D122A), C-subsite (E232AY262A, D223AK243A, E232AK243A, Y262AK243A) and between subsites R6AD122A, R6AK243A, D122AK243A) were generated through an additional round of mutagenesis on RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> constructs already containing the primary mutation. All mutations were verified by DNA sequencing. Mutagenesis was performed on RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> directly within the H-2D<sup>k</sup> leaderenhanced green fluorescence protein (EGFP) fusion vector that was previously generated in this laboratory (39). H-2D<sup>d</sup> was subcloned into the EGFP fusion vector with its native leader sequence intact and mutagenesis performed directly on this construct. YB2/0 cells were stably transfected with each construct as previously described (33).

#### Flow cytometric analysis

Successful transfection of MHC I/EGFP fusion constructs was determined by EGFP fluorescence intensity of transfected YB2/0 cells relative to untransfected YB2/0 cells in 96 well black walled plates using a FLA-5100 Imaging System (Fujifilm, Allendale, NJ). Proper folding and surface expression levels were determined using specific primary antibody to RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> (YR5/12) and H-2D<sup>d</sup> (34-5-8S) plus relevant PEconjugated secondary antibody. Expression of the Ly-49i2 and Ly49G<sup>BALB/c</sup> receptors by RNK-16 cells was monitored compared to untransfected RNK-16 cells using primary antibodies STOK2 and 4D11, respectively, followed by FITC-conjugated relevant secondary antibody. Surface expression was assessed using a FACScan flow cytometer (BD Biosciences, Mountain View, CA). Target cells were assayed on the same day as cytotoxicity assays for matched surface expression of mutant and control MHC I.

#### Cytotoxicity Assays

Target cells were labeled with 100-150 $\mu$ Ci of Na<sup>51</sup>CrO<sub>4</sub> (<sup>51</sup>Cr) (Mandel, Guelph, Canada) at 37°C for 1 hour. After washing targets three times with RPMI they were plated at 1 x 10<sup>4 51</sup>Cr –labelled cells per well and mixed with RNK-16 or transfected RNK-16 cells in V-bottom microtitre plates at indicated E:T ratios in triplicate. After a 4 hour incubation at 37°C, plates were centrifuged for 5 minutes at 1500 rpm and 25 $\mu$ l of supernatant was collected and counted in a MicroBeta TriLux liquid scintillation counter (PerkinElmer, Wellesley, USA). Percent specific lysis was determined as (experimental release – spontaneous release)/(maximal release – spontaneous release) x 100%.

#### C. Results

Ly49G recognition of  $H-2D^d$  is disrupted by mutagenesis of single residues articulating with anchor binding pockets at subsite-B, whereas Ly49i2 recognition of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> is unaffected

Solvent exposed residues at site 2 of the MHC I molecule are highly conserved between MHC I alleles in both mouse and rat, and even between the two species, making it difficult to understand how Ly49 receptors exhibit allele specificity for MHC I when interacting with this site. Recently, we demonstrated that the polymorphic, P2 peptide anchor residue binding and supertype defining B-pocket is important in determining Ly49 allele specificity for MHC I (27). We proposed that this may occur through polymorphism-induced conformational alterations of side chains on solvent exposed amino acids below and articulating with the B-pocket, thereby altering their availability for interaction with Ly49. In support of this, Ly49 recognition has been shown to be reliant on R6 of MHC I, a residue that lies below and articulates directly with the Bpocket, in a number of allele combinations (19, 27). These observations suggested that allele specific MHC I recognition by Ly49 may involve variable usage of solvent exposed MHC I residues below and articulating with the polymorphic B- (or N-terminal peptide anchor binding) pocket(s), at what we have designated as the B-subsite (Fig. 4-14).

When Dam et al. (26) solved the co-crystal of  $H-2K^{b}$  and Ly49C they showed that the Ly49C/H-2K<sup>b</sup> interface, while having some Ly49/MHC I residue interactions in

common with the Ly49A/H-2D<sup>d</sup> co-crystal interface (25), involves a unique set of residues on the MHC I molecule and unique Ly49/MHC I residue interactions to mediate recognition. This appears to be due to both the different orientation of Ly49C on H-2K<sup>b</sup> and polymorphisms in Ly49C. The unique orientation of Ly49C on H-2K<sup>b</sup> seemed to be due to a different mode of dimerization for Ly49C compared to Ly49A. In the Ly49C cocrystal, the Ly49C dimer was more "open" allowing one Ly49C receptor to symmetrically bind two H-2K<sup>b</sup> molecules simultaneously whereas in the Ly49A cocrystal, Ly49A dimerization was more "closed" resulting in an asymmetrical binding orientation on a single H-2D<sup>d</sup> molecule. Ly49A has since been crystallized in a similar "open" dimerization state, capable of binding two H-2D<sup>d</sup> molecules simultaneously (40), making variable Ly49 dimerization states unlikely mediators of allele specificity. Regardless, variable placement of the Ly49 receptor on the MHC I molecule and allele specific residue usage at the B-subsite and two other subsites that we have identified on the MHC I heavy chain (Fig. 4-1A and B), may contribute to allele specificity at the highly conserved site 2 of MHC I. These two additional subsites include subsite-C, involving interaction residues on the  $\alpha$ 3 domain of the MHC I heavy chain and subsite-F, involving solvent exposed residues beneath and articulating with the anchor binding Fpocket, which is typically more conserved in amino acid composition than the B-pocket (Fig. 4-1*A* and *B*).

We set out to investigate the usage of residues at each subsite by two different Ly49/MHC I allele combinations, for comparison with data previously collected on the Ly49A/H-2D<sup>d</sup> and Ly49C/H-2K<sup>b</sup> allele combinations, to determine if variable MHC I residue usage at one or more subsites could be mediating allele specificity of Ly49 for MHC I. One combination, H-2D<sup>d</sup> and the BALB/c allele of Ly49G2, allowed us to compare residue usage at each subsite by a Ly49 that is related to, but polymorphic from Ly49A, and exhibits similar specificity for the H-2D<sup>d</sup> allele. The other allele combination included a classical rat MHC I molecule, RT1-A1<sup>c</sup>, and the rat Ly49i2 inhibitory receptor. This combination allowed us to investigate whether rat, like mouse, showed similar reliance on site 2 for recognition and, for the first time, to map the residues mediating Ly49 recognition of MHC I in this species. RNK-16 cells transfected to express the rat Ly49i2 or mouse Ly49G inhibitory receptors (Fig. 4-1*C*) were used as

effector cells toward YB2/0 target cells and YB2/0 transfected to express their respective MHC I ligands, RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> and H-2D<sup>d</sup> (Fig. 4-1*D*) in 4-h cytotoxicity assays (Fig. 4-1*E*). RNK-16 effector cells expressing the inhibitory Ly49i2 or Ly49G receptors exhibit cytolysis toward untransfected YB2/0 cells but are inhibited from killing transfected YB2/0 targets through recognition of their respective RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> and H-2D<sup>d</sup> MHC I ligands (Fig. 4-1*E*), as previously reported (12, 35).

Alterations of the polymorphic and supertype defining B-pocket in MHC I disrupt Ly49 recognition (27), possibly by altering the conformation of solvent exposed resides that specifically articulate with the N-terminal peptide anchor binding pocket(s) of MHC I. We therefore mutated to alanine, individual solvent exposed residues that articulate directly with the anchor-binding B-pocket of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> (R6, F8) (Fig. 4-2A) and the anchor binding B- and C-pockets of H-2D<sup>d</sup> (R6, F8, M98) (Fig. 4-2B) along with residues that may also contribute to Ly49 interaction below the peptide-binding groove but that do not directly articulate with anchor binding pockets. For RT1-A1<sup>c</sup>, these residues included 110, I23, Y27 and M98 (Fig. 4-2A) and for H-2D<sup>d</sup>, residues T10, M23 and Y27 (Fig. 4-2B). Since both the B- and C-pockets act as the supertype defining and anchor binding pockets of H-2D<sup>d</sup> we have grouped/designated solvent exposed residues below and articulating with these pockets of H-2D<sup>d</sup> as the B-subsite. Each mutant was expressed on YB2/0 cells to similar levels compared to wild type RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> (Fig. 4-3A) and H-2D<sup>d</sup> (Fig. 4-3B) MHC I molecules. RT1-A1<sup>c</sup>, and each of its mutant forms, exhibited similar abilities to inhibit cytolysis of YB2/0 through Ly49i2 recognition of the transfected MHC I molecules (Fig. 4-3*C*). In contrast, Ly49G recognition of H-2D<sup>d</sup> was greatly reduced by the R6A mutant, as previously seen for Ly49A recognition of this molecule (19), and was completely disrupted by the F8A and M98A mutations of H-2D<sup>d</sup> (Fig. 4-3D). All of these residues lie directly beneath and normally articulate with the anchor-binding B- and Cpockets of H-2D<sup>d</sup> (Fig. 4-2B). The Y27A mutant of H-2D<sup>d</sup> exhibited a partial loss in ability to inhibit cytolysis in repeated assays (Fig. 4-3D and data not shown), possibly reflecting its position below but on the periphery of the B-pocket (Fig. 4-2B) and therefore a less crucial interaction residue at the B-subsite. Mutagenesis of residues T10 and M23, which are positioned in the middle of the peptide-binding platform and away from the anchor-binding B- and C-pockets, showed no effect on Ly49G recognition of H-

 $2D^{d}$  as would be expected if only residues below and articulating with the anchor-binding pockets were required for recognition at this subsite (Fig. 4-3*D*). In summary, Ly49i2 recognition of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> and Ly49G recognition of H-2D<sup>d</sup> differ in their reliance on solvent exposed residues at subsite-B with Ly49i2 recognition being resistant to single mutations at this subsite, despite a demonstrated reliance on the B-pocket for recognition (27), and Ly49G recognition being specifically sensitive to alterations in residues directly below and articulating with the anchor-binding B- and C-pockets of H-2D<sup>d</sup> (Fig. 4-2*A* and *B*).

# Ly49i2 and Ly49G both exhibit sensitivity to alterations in solvent exposed residues below and articulating with the F-pockets of $RT1-A1^c$ and $H-2D^d$ at subsite-F

Since we have shown that allele specific Ly49 recognition of MHC I appears to specifically rely on residues both within (27) and articulating with the anchor-binding and supertype-defining B-pocket, the latter at least for H-2D<sup>d</sup> recognition by Ly-49G (Fig. 4-3D) and since Ly49A/H-2D<sup>d</sup> and Ly49C/K<sup>b</sup> recognition is apparently highly dependent on the solvent exposed residues Q115 and D122 (19, 25, 26) located below the other peptide-anchoring F pocket at what we designated the F-subsite, we decided to investigate whether Q155 and D122 might also play a significant role in rat Ly49i2 and mouse Ly49G recognition of MHC I. RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> was mutated to alanine at Q115 and D122 (Fig. 4-2A) and each mutant was expressed to a similar level as wild-type  $RT1-A1^{\circ}$  on YB2/0 target cells (Fig. 4-4A). H-2D<sup>d</sup> was also mutated at residues Q115 and D122 (Fig. 4-2B) but only the Q115A mutant could be expressed to comparable levels compared to wild-type H-2D<sup>d</sup> (Fig. 4-4A and *data not shown*). The inability to express the D122A mutant was likely due to the previously demonstrated reliance of H-2D<sup>d</sup> on D122 for association with the peptide loading complex (41). The Q115A mutant of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> showed no loss of recognition by Ly49i2 compared to wild-type  $RT1-A1^{c}$  (Fig. 4-4B), whereas the single D122A mutant showed partial disruption of recognition by Ly49i2 in repeated assays using different clones, all with equivalent expression levels to wild-type RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> (Fig. 4-4B and *data not shown*). In contrast, Ly49G recognition of H-2D<sup>d</sup> was nearly completely disrupted through mutagenesis of the Q115 residue at subsite-F and exhibited similar levels of cytolysis to untransfected YB2/0 cells in the same assay (Fig.

4-4*C*). In contrast to the B-subsite, it is evident that both Ly49i2 and Ly49G, similar to Ly49A and C, rely on solvent exposed residues that articulate with the more conserved anchor binding F-pocket, at the F-subsite, for recognition of MHC I, with Ly49G recognition of H-2D<sup>d</sup> again exhibiting greater sensitivity to a single residue alteration at this subsite compared to Ly49i2 recognition of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> (Fig. 4-2*A* and *B*).

Specific single amino acid changes at subsite C in the MHC I  $\alpha$ 3 domain, can completely abolish Ly49G recognition of H-2D<sup>d</sup>, whereas Ly49i2 recognition of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> is relatively unaffected

The co-crystal structures of Lv49C/H-2K<sup>b</sup> (26) and Lv49A/H-2D<sup>d</sup> (25) predict that each of these Ly49/MHC I allele combinations interact with a different set of residues in the highly conserved  $\alpha$ 3 domain of MHC I. Therefore, we designated this as another potential subsite, subsite-C, for the discrimination of MHC I alleles by Lv49. We mutated H-2D<sup>d</sup> and RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> at amino acid positions corresponding to those previously identified in co-crystal structures and/or through mutagenesis as involved in either Lv49A recognition of H-2D<sup>d</sup> (E232, K243) or Lv49C recognition of H-2K<sup>b</sup> (Y262, E223, K243) (25, 26) to assess if Ly49i2 and Ly49G recognition of their respective MHC I ligands also depended on the same or different sets of residues at subsite-C. Each mutant in RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> (D223A, E232A, K243A and E262A) (Fig. 4-2A) was expressed in YB2/0 cells at similar cell surface levels compared to wild type RT1-A1<sup>c</sup>, as were the H-2D<sup>d</sup> Csubsite mutants (E223A, E232A, K234A, E262A) (Fig. 4-2B) compared to wild type H-2D<sup>d</sup> (Fig. 4-5A). Cytolysis by RNK-16 cells expressing Ly49i2 remained inhibited through recognition of each RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> single mutant at the C-subsite, compared to wild type RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> expressed on YB2/0 cells. One possible exception being YB2/0 cells expressing the E232A mutant, which consistently showed a modest increase in cytolysis compared to wild type RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> (Fig. 4-5B). In contrast, Ly49G recognition of H-2D<sup>d</sup> showed greater sensitivity to single mutants at this subsite. RNK-16 cells expressing Ly49G had continued, although slightly reduced, recognition and cytolytic inhibition of YB2/0 cells expressing the E223A and E262A H-2D<sup>d</sup> C-subsite mutants, compared to wild type H-2D<sup>d</sup> in the same assay (Fig. 4-5C). However, Ly49G recognition of H-2D<sup>d</sup> was totally disrupted by mutagenesis of either E232 or K243 residues to alanine (Fig. 4-

5*C*). Therefore, H-2D<sup>d</sup> recognition by Ly49G again shows different and greater sensitivity to single mutants at this subsite compared to Ly49i2 recognition of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup>, with Ly49i2 recognition of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> being slightly disrupted by mutagenesis at E232 and Ly49G recognition of H-2D<sup>d</sup> being slightly impaired through E223A and E262A mutations and completely disrupted by mutagenesis at E232 and K243 (Fig. 4-2*A* and *B*).

# Ly49i2 recognition of RTI-A1<sup>c</sup> is sensitive to combined alanine mutations at two different subsites

Since Ly49i2 recognition of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> showed little or no disruption by mutagenesis of single residues at each of the B-, F- and C-subsites there was the possibility that rat Ly49/MHC I interactions do not rely on the same interaction site, or subsites as mouse Ly49/MHC I. Based on our previous results showing that Ly49i2 recognition of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> relies on residues within the anchor binding B-pocket (27) and the partial loss of recognition seen with the D122A (Fig. 4-4B) and E232A mutants (Fig. (4-5B) it seemed unlikely that Ly49i2 recognition relied on entirely different subsites on MHC I compared to mouse Ly49. Therefore, we made combined alanine mutations in RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> at two different subsites. We chose the residues R6, D122 and K243 that Matsumoto et al. previously mutated in H-2D<sup>d</sup> demonstrating that Ly49A recognition occurs at site 2 (19) as these residues are found at subsite-B, -F and -C, respectively (Fig. 4-2A). The three double mutants generated, R6A D122A, D122A K243A and R6A K243A were expressed on YB2/0 cells to similar levels as wild type RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> (Fig. 4-6A). The R6A D122A mutant, which represents mutations at both the B- and F-subsites, completely disrupted recognition by Ly49i2 (Fig. 4-6B). This indicated that the partial loss of recognition seen with the single D122A mutant at subsite-F (Fig. 4-4B) could be augmented through mutagenesis of the B-subsite that previously appeared to have no effect. Similarly, pairing mutations at the F-subsite and C-subsite as with the D122A K243A mutant also produced an augmentation of the partial loss of recognition seen with the single D122A mutant (Fig. 4-4B) and resulted in near complete loss of recognition (Fig. 4-6B) indicating that, despite the ineffectiveness of single mutations at the Csubsite, that this subsite indeed plays a role in the recognition of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> by Ly49i2. The most compelling evidence for the importance of B- and C-subsites in mediating

recognition by Ly49i2 came with the B/C-subsite mutant R6A K243A, which was also able to disrupt recognition of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> (Fig. 4-6*B*) despite the inability of single mutations at either subsite to disrupt recognition individually (Figs. 4-3*C* and 5*B*). Therefore, rat Ly49i2 recognition, like mouse Ly49 recognition of MHC I, also occurs at site 2 and relies on the B-, F- and C-subsites in combination, for recognition of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> (Fig. 4-6*C*).

## Ly49i2 recognition of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> is sensitive to double alanine mutations at each individual subsite

Having established that Ly49i2 recognition of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup>, like mouse Ly49 recognition of MHC I, also relies on site 2 and the same B-, F- and C-subsites, we wanted to assess more fully the usage of residues at each individual subsite for comparison to the information already gathered for mouse alleles. Since we were able to detect partial loss of Ly49i2 recognition using single mutations at subsites-F and -C of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> (Figs. 4-2A, 4B and 5B) and since concurrent mutations at two different subsites were able to disrupt recognition (Fig. 4-6), it appeared that Ly49i2, while relying on similar subsites as mouse Ly49, might interact with greater overall affinity for its MHC I ligand.

In order to assess more fully the usage of residues at each subsite we produced double alanine mutations at each subsite of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> that could possibly then overcome this evidently greater affinity of Ly49i2 for its ligand, providing additional information on the usage of each individual subsite on RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> (Fig. 4-7*A*). At the B-subsite, we mutated residues R6 and F8 (Fig. 4-7*A*) since both these residues strongly affected Ly49G recognition of H-2D<sup>d</sup> (Fig. 4-3*D*) and because both articulate closely with the anchor binding B-pocket of the RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> molecule. Additionally, the R6 mutation was able to disrupt recognition in combination with mutants at other subsites (Fig. 4-6*B*). At the F-subsite we chose D122 as it has a partial effect as a single mutant in RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> (Fig. 4-4*B*) and combined it with Q115 (Fig. 4-7*A*), which had an effect on Ly49G recognition of H-2D<sup>d</sup> (Fig. 4-4*C*). Lastly, at the C-subsite we chose mutant combinations that would either have an effect in a Ly49A/H-2D<sup>d</sup> (25) or Ly49G/H-2D<sup>d</sup> type interaction, relying on residues E232A and K243A in the  $\alpha$ 3 domain for recognition (Fig. 4-7*B*) or in a

Ly49C/H-2K<sup>b</sup> type interaction (26) where residues D223A and E262A, and not E232, act in addition to K243 to mediate recognition (Fig. 4-7*C*).

Each double subsite mutant was expressed on YB2/0 cells to similar cell surface expression levels as wild type RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> (Fig. 4-8A) and used as targets in 4-h cytotoxicity assays with RNK-16 effector cells expressing the Ly49i2 inhibitory receptor (Fig. 4-8B). The B-subsite continued to show a reduced importance for recognition of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> by Ly49i2 as YB2/0 cells expressing the double B-subsite mutant, R6A F8A, showed only a partial loss of recognition compared to YB2/0 cells expressing wild type RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> in the same assay (Fig. 4-8B). In contrast, at the F-subsite, the partial disruption caused by the single D122A RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> mutant seen in Figure 4-4*B* was augmented by the addition of the Q115A mutation, that alone had no effect (Fig. 4-4B), resulting in complete loss of recognition by Ly49i2 expressing RNK-16 cells (Fig. 4-8B). Lastly, double RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> mutants at the C-subsite also demonstrated a role for this subsite for recognition by Ly49i2 (Fig. 4-8B). In examination of the Ly49C/H-2K<sup>b</sup> interaction type mutants, D223A E262A and D223A K243A, it appeared that Ly49i2 did not use this type of interaction for recognition of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup>, as YB2/0 cells expressing both of these C-subsite double mutants were recognized to a similar degree as wild type RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> expressing YB2/0 cells (Fig. 4-8B). Expression of the Ly49A,G/H-2D<sup>d</sup> interaction type mutant, E232A K243A on YB2/0 resulted in a loss of recognition by Ly49i2 expressing RNK-16 cells, suggesting that the Ly49i2 receptor may follow a similar pattern as Ly49A and G for recognition of MHC I at the C-subsite (Fig. 4-8B), and is substantiated by the partial loss of recognition of the single E232A mutant seen in Figure 4-5B. Further investigation with the Ly49C/H-2K<sup>b</sup> interaction type mutant, E262A K243A revealed that Ly49i2 also relies on this residue combination for recognition at the C-subsite, as YB2/0 cells expressing this mutant were lysed at similar levels to untransfected YB2/0 cells (Fig. 4-8B). Therefore, Ly49i2 recognition of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> appears to have a Ly49A/G and Ly49C hybrid-type dependence on residues at subsite-C (Fig. 4-7).

The use of double mutants at each subsite reveals that like the mouse Ly49/MHC I allele combinations, rat Ly49i2 also interacts with MHC I at site 2 and utilizes a combination of residues at the B-, F- and C-subsites in recognition of the RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> MHC I allele (Fig. 4-7*A*). Together, both mouse and rat Ly49 recognition of MHC I appears to

rely on a combination of three subsites on the MHC I heavy chain for recognition. Comparisons of the mutagenesis results for the Ly49/MHC I combinations investigated here, along with mutagenesis data and co-crystal structure predictions previously collected for additional Ly49/MHC I allele combinations, suggest that unique placement of the Ly49, possibly imposed by anchor pocket mediated conformational differences between MHC I, and the resulting variable residue usage at MHC I subsites, could be the mechanism mediating allele specificity between polymorphic Ly49 and the highly conserved recognition site 2 on MHC I.

#### **D.** Discussion

We demonstrate here that rat Ly49 recognition of a rat classical MHC I molecule occurs at site 2 in a manner resembling mouse Ly49/MHC I recognition. Additionally, we contribute extensive mutagenesis analyses of both a rat and a new mouse Ly49/MHC I allele combination, Ly49i2/RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> and Ly49G/H-2D<sup>d</sup>, respectively, to the mutagenesis and crystallographic data available for Ly49C recognition of H-2K<sup>b</sup> (26, 42-44) and Ly49A recognition of H-2D<sup>d</sup> (18-20, 22, 25, 45) allowing us to compare the usage of solvent exposed resides at three subsites of the conserved site 2 interaction site on MHC I in four different Ly49/MHC I allele combinations.

Rat Ly49i2 and mouse Ly49G recognition of MHC-I ligands showed differential degrees of dependence on subsite-B, which includes residues that extend below and articulate with the N-terminal peptide anchor binding and supertype defining pocket(s) of  $H-2D^d$  and RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> (Fig. 4-2). Ly49G was highly dependent on this site for recognition, being disrupted by mutations of individual amino acids that articulate solely with the anchor binding B- and C- pockets of the  $H-2D^d$  molecule. This included R6, which is also important in Ly49A recognition of  $H-2D^d$  (19, 25) and the previously unexamined F8 and M98 that also articulate with the supertype-defining B- and C-pockets but did not include solvent exposed residues that articulate with non-anchor binding regions within the peptide binding groove (Fig. 4-2*B*). In contrast, RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> recognition by the rat Ly49i2 recognition of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> shared at least some reliance on residues below and articulating with the anchor binding B-pocket of MHC I, as demonstrated through double

mutants at the B-subsite or a single mutation at this subsite in combination with a mutation at an additional subsite (Fig. 4-6C and 7A). Our results in conjunction with analysis of the Ly49A/D<sup>d</sup> (25) and Ly49C/K<sup>b</sup> (26) crystal structures (Fig. 4-9) suggest why Ly49G (like Ly49A) and Ly49i2 (like Ly49C) may behave somewhat differently in their recognition of this subsite. Both Ly49A and Ly49G share a highly similar sequence in the L3 loop region with 18 of 21 residues sharing identity. Of the three polymorphisms between Ly49A and Ly49G in L3 (residues R/G214, R/T223 and G/L231, respectively) only residue 223 appears potentially important since the NTT223 motif in Ly49G, as opposed to the NTR223 motif in Ly49A, introduces a carbohydrate attachment site on Ly49G. The absence of R223 and addition of carbohydrate on Ly49G could alter how Ly49G interacts with H-2D<sup>d</sup> compared to Ly49A in two ways. First, it would preclude the interaction seen between Ly49A and H-2D<sup>d</sup> through R223 on Ly49A and E104 on H- $2D^{d}(25)$  which is a minor interaction between Ly49A and H-2D<sup>d</sup> as demonstrated through mutagenesis (18, 20). Moreover, the addition of carbohydrate at the MHC I/Ly49 interface due to the presence of the NTT motif in Ly49G that is not found in Ly49A, has potential steric effects and has been shown to affect the affinity of Ly49G for H-2D<sup>d</sup> (46). What is in common between Ly49A and G in L3 is D229, which in combination with the overall identity in L3 between the two receptors, likely mediates the reliance of Ly49G/D<sup>d</sup> interaction on residue R6 in the MHC I molecule at subsite-B (22, 25) (Fig. 4-9A). In contrast, Ly49i2 differs from both Ly49A and G by 16 and 17 of 21 residues in L3. Ly49C is also significantly different from the Ly49A-like subfamily of Ly49 receptors (6) in L3, and is predicted from its co-crystal structure with H-2K<sup>b</sup> not to make a significant number of contacts using this loop (Fig. 4-9B), Ly49i2 may too rely only slightly, or differently, on the L3 loop for recognition requiring less direct contact with solvent exposed residues at subsite-B.

While the reliance of Ly49G and i2 on residue R6 at the B-subsite of MHC I, is likely due to direct interaction with the polymorphic L3 of the Ly49, inspection of crystal structures suggest that the reliance on additional residues articulating with the anchor binding pocket(s) would appear to be due to their interaction with  $\beta$ 2m, which has previously been demonstrated to be an important interface for recognition by Ly49 (22-26). Residue F8 of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> and both F8 and M98 of H-2D<sup>d</sup>, while articulating directly
with the N-terminal anchor binding and supertype defining pocket(s) of MHC I, also interact with the evolutionarily conserved F56 and W60 residues of  $\beta$ 2m (Fig. 4-10). This motif forms the major interface between  $\beta$ 2m and MHC I heavy chains and is responsible for the variable orientation of  $\beta$ 2m seen between MHC I alleles (47-51). Intriguingly, upon examination of the crystal structures of H-2D<sup>d</sup> and RT1-A1<sup>c</sup>, the main F56 and W60 interaction residues in  $\beta$ 2m lie directly below the anchor binding pockets of MHC I (Fig. 4-10), possibly explaining how the polymorphic anchor binding pockets of MHC I could affect Ly49 recognition through conformational changes; not only by making solvent exposed residues on the MHC I heavy chain more or less available for direct interaction with Ly49, as may be the case for R6, but also through positioning of the  $\beta$ 2m. In support of this,  $\beta 2m$  is known to rotate its core around its F56, W60 interaction loop, through interaction with polymorphic residues, particularly in anchor binding pockets of MHC I (26, 47, 52). In some cases,  $\beta$ 2m orientation depends on the loaded peptide's sequence (53, 54), and it has been suggested that this may explain the overt reliance of Ly49C/I on peptide sequence for recognition of MHC I (26, 55-57). This may also explain our previous observation that rat Ly49i2 and mouse Ly49G and W are sensitive to subtle changes both in the MHC I anchor binding pockets, and possibly in the usage of specific peptide anchor residues in peptides bound to  $RT1-A1^{c}(27)$ .

Beta-2 microglobulin also makes contact with residues that articulate with the anchor binding F-pocket of MHC I, including residue Q115 mutated in this study (26) (Fig. 4-10) and may also contribute somewhat to the loss of Ly49 recognition upon mutagenesis of this residue at subsite-F. Additionally, subsite-F residues are known to contribute directly to the interaction with mouse Ly49, particularly D122, which is responsible for the vast majority of atomic contacts, 23 in total, between H-2D<sup>d</sup> and Ly49A (22) (Fig. 4-9*A*). Both available co-crystals (25, 26) indicate that the interaction of Ly49A and C with H-2D<sup>d</sup> and K<sup>b</sup>, respectively, is reliant on a conserved 236, 238, 239 triad in mouse Ly49 (Fig. 4-9), and Dam et al. suggested that these residues provide the majority of free energy to the interaction (26, 58); a concept that is also supported through Ly49A mutagenesis studies (22). This triad is also conserved in many rat Ly49 and similarly, rat Ly49i2 recognition of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> was most strongly reliant on the F-

130

subsite, as the D122A mutant was the only single mutant able to produce a significant loss in recognition (Fig. 4-2A). In Ly49, S236 in particular is highly conserved between both mouse and rat Ly49 and is likely responsible, along with residue T238, for the reliance of Ly49i2 on residue D122. Although the D122A mutant of H-2D<sup>d</sup> remained untested with Ly49G due to expression difficulties, it is highly likely that this mutant would also have disrupted recognition, as it does Ly49A recognition of H-2D<sup>d</sup> (19), due to the highly conserved nature of the triad between these mouse Ly49. Ly49C and A are predicted to be reliant on Q115 of their MHC I ligands solely through interaction with R239 (25, 26) (Fig. 4-9), which is also highly conserved in rat and mouse Ly49, including Ly49G that we demonstrated required Q115 for recognition, but interestingly is polymorphic in Ly49i2. This R239G polymorphism in Ly49i2 may explain both the inability to disrupt recognition by the single Q115A mutant of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> as well as the only partial disruption of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> recognition by mutation of D122, a residue that also forms bonds with R239 in both available co-crystals (Fig. 4-9). The very close association of Q115 in RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> with W60 in  $\beta$ 2m may be the additional means by which the double mutant of O115A D122A was able to completely disrupt Ly49i2 recognition at this subsite (Fig. 4-10).

The third heavy chain subsite we investigated was subsite-C in the  $\alpha$ 3 domain of MHC I. We again made mutants in this subsite on H-2D<sup>d</sup> and RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> based on the predictions of Ly49C and A co-crystals (25, 26) and tested their effects on Ly49G and i2 recognition. Ly49i2 again showed resistance to single mutations at this subsite with the exception of a slight decrease in recognition of the E232A mutant of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> (Fig. 4-2*A*). Despite this, Ly49i2, like mouse Ly49, appeared reliant on interactions at this subsite, being disrupted by double mutations between subsite-C and another subsite (Fig. 4-6*C*) or within the  $\alpha$ 3 domain (Fig. 4-7*A*). In particular, Ly49i2 required residues 232, 243 and 262 for recognition of MHC I (Fig. 4-7*A*) exhibiting a hybrid-type reliance on residues at the C-subsite compared to residues 223, 243, 262 predicted for Ly49C (26) and 232, 243 for Ly49A (Fig. 4-9) (19, 25). The region(s) of Ly49 that primarily interact with subsite-C, the  $\beta$ 2- $\beta$ 2' loop (Fig. 4-9*B* residues 203, 204) and the  $\beta$ 4- $\beta$ 5 loop (Fig. 4-9*A* residues 244, 246, 247), are polymorphic, particularly the  $\beta$ 4- $\beta$ 5 loop. Interestingly, Ly49G and Ly49i2 share the identical DCGK  $\beta$ 4- $\beta$ 5 loop sequence previously shown to 131

be important for recognition at this site (59) and share a demonstrated reliance on residues 232 and 243 of MHC I for recognition (Fig. 4-2*B* and 7*A*), likely through K247 and D244 of this sequence, respectively. Why Ly49i2 shows an additional reliance on E262 in RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> is difficult to explain without a co-crystal structure but could be mediated by the variable positioning of the  $\alpha$ 3 domain seen between MHC I alleles (50, 54, 60), by the variable orientation of  $\beta$ 2m discussed previously, or variable interaction with  $\beta$ 2m through polymorphic Ly49i2 residues at the  $\beta$ 2m interface, such that the polymorphic  $\beta$ 2- $\beta$ 2' loop that mediates this interaction between Ly49C/K<sup>b</sup> (Fig. 4-9*B*) becomes positioned to mediate an interaction between lysine residues in the  $\beta$ 2- $\beta$ 2' loop of Ly49i2 and E262 of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup>.

The possibility that Ly49 become variably oriented on the  $\alpha$ 3 domain of MHC I to mediate interactions at subsite-C is further supported by the differential sensitivities of Ly49G and Ly49A to H-2D<sup>d</sup> mutants and comparison of the  $\beta$ 2- $\beta$ 2' and  $\beta$ 4- $\beta$ 5 loop motifs of each Ly49. We demonstrate Ly49G sensitivity to alanine mutations of K243 and E232 and to a slight degree on E223 and E262 (Fig. 4-2B) while Ly49A exhibits primary reliance on K243 and despite its predicted importance in the Ly49/H-2D<sup>d</sup> cocrystal, is not disrupted by E232 mutation (19) (Fig. 4-9A). These sensitivities are potentially explainable by the substitution of the DcGK  $\beta$ 4- $\beta$ 5 motif of Ly49G for the NcDQ motif of Ly49A and a very slight rotation of Ly49G in relation to Ly49A on H- $2D^{d}$  such that K243 and E232 of H-2D<sup>d</sup> form interactions with D244 and K247 of Ly49G, respectively. Additionally, the Ly49A/H-2D<sup>d</sup> co-crystal demonstrates that the  $\beta$ 2- $\beta$ 2' loop, which is identical between Ly49A and G, is not available for Ly49A interaction with residues E262 or D223 on H-2D<sup>d</sup> (Fig. 4-9A), whereas the slight rotation of Ly49G required to place D244 in contact with K243 of H-2D<sup>d</sup> in a manner similar to the predicted D244 usage by Ly49C (Fig. 4-9B), could bring the Ly49G  $\beta$ 2- $\beta$ 2' loop into closer range for interaction at E262 and D223, similar to the interaction seen in the Ly49C/H-2K<sup>b</sup> co-crystal (Fig. 4-9*B*). Since orientation of the H-2D<sup>d</sup>  $\alpha$ 3 domain and  $\beta$ 2m is likely to be identical in both scenarios, the slight rotation suggested in Ly49G recognition could occur through the addition of carbohydrate at T223 and/or polymorphisms that exist between Ly49G and A at the β2m interface. Ly49C also

interacts with a unique set of residues at the C-subsite (26, 44) and this appears to occur through a differential orientation of the Ly49 to  $\beta$ 2m and the  $\alpha$ 3 domain (26, 48) (Fig. 4-9*B*).

It has been suggested through domain substitution (4, 18, 61, 62) and mutagenesis (18-21, 45) studies that the  $\alpha 2\alpha 3$  domain and peptide binding groove are particularly important for allele specific Ly49 recognition of MHC I through undefined conformational differences in the MHC I heavy chain. Additionally, it has been suggested that peptide specificity of Lv49C for H-2K<sup>b</sup> (56) may occur though subtle effects on floor residues in H-2K<sup>b</sup> that are transmitted to Ly49C through  $\beta$ 2m (26). To date no one has proposed a clearly defined mechanism by which this could occur. We propose that the conformational change in MHC I could be mediated primarily through the highly polymorphic anchor pocket(s) in MHC I that bind the N-terminal peptide anchor residue(s) (27). This would not only alter the direct availability of solvent exposed residues below the pocket(s) for interaction at subsite-B (27) but would variably orientate  $\beta 2m$  (26, 47, 52), altering the placement of polymorphic Ly49 loops on the  $\alpha 3$  domain of MHC I, and possibly on  $\beta$ 2m itself. Such a mechanism would put particular emphasis on the polymorphic L3,  $\beta$ 2- $\beta$ 2' and  $\beta$ 4- $\beta$ 5 regions of Ly49 (Fig. 4-9) in mediating allele specificity, whereas the conserved 236, 238, 239 triad of Ly49 (Fig. 4-9) would provide a stable interaction with the more conserved F-pocket and solvent exposed residues of the F-subsite. This is consistent with our findings here showing that mutagenesis of F8 and M98, residues that articulate specifically with both the N-terminal anchor binding pockets of H-2D<sup>d</sup> and  $\beta$ 2m and could have a large impact on  $\beta$ 2m orientation (Fig. 4-10), affect Ly49G recognition of H-2D<sup>d</sup>. Additionally, our findings along with previous findings indicate that each of the four Ly49 examined use a different "set" of residues at the Csubsite of MHC I for recognition, indicating differential placement of Ly49 on the  $\alpha$ 3 domain of MHC I. This is also in agreement with the suggestion of Dam et al. (26) that the conserved triad of Ly49 mediates primary recognition of all MHC I alleles through contacts with Q155 and/or D122, contributing most of the binding free energy, while variable and polymorphic regions of Ly49 might determine allele specificity (26, 58). Such a mechanism provides an explanation not only for the overt peptide selectivity seen

for Ly49C/I recognition of MHC I (55-57), since peptide has been demonstrated to change the orientation of  $\beta$ 2m on the ligands for these receptors (53, 54), but also for the loss of MHC I recognition by Ly49 upon subtle changes in the anchoring B-pocket or anchor residue dominance of peptides bound to RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> molecules (27). It may also explain the xenoreactivity we saw between Ly49G and RT1-A1<sup>c</sup>, but not other rat MHC I (39), as RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> is unique among the molecules we tested in that it shares a similar supertype and  $\beta$ 2m orientation with H-2D<sup>d</sup> (Fig. 4-2 and 10). Furthermore, Ly49G and Ly49i2 have similar  $\beta$ 4- $\beta$ 5 loop motifs that upon similar, possibly supertype and  $\beta$ 2m mediated, placement on the  $\alpha$ 3 domain of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> could mediate similar subsite-C interactions.

While we are able to demonstrate with a high degree of certainty that rat Ly49, like mouse, interacts at the highly conserved site 2 interface of MHC I and relies on a combination of the B- F- and C-subsites for recognition, one has to take note that Ly49i2 recognition was much more resilient to single mutations in MHC I compared to Ly49G, A or C (18-20, 22, 42-45). Ly49i2 shows significant polymorphisms, at all potential interfaces with RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> compared to Ly49A/G recognition of H-2D<sup>d</sup> or Ly49C recognition of H-2K<sup>b</sup> that could account for the inability of single mutations designed from available mouse crystal structures to disrupt recognition in a rat system. This may have resulted in the mutagenesis of residues only secondary in importance for recognition at each subsite, similar to E232 usage depicted in the Ly49A/H-2D<sup>d</sup> co-crystal that has no effect on recognition in mutagenesis studies (19, 25). Despite this, we were particularly able to show a similar strong reliance of rat recognition on the F-subsite, which appears so pivotal to mouse Ly49/MHC I interactions. Like the highly conserved S236, T238, R239 triad in mouse, rat Ly49 either have this same triad or slightly altered triads such as the S236, T238, G239 triad that is found in Ly49i2 (7), which could slightly modify the usage of key residues at this subsite. Interestingly, the presence of two different triads for interaction with the F-subsite on rat MHC I may reflect the presence of two different TAP alleles in the rat capable of loading two different types of P9 anchor in the, therefore, slightly more polymorphic F-pocket of rat MHC I (63). This could possibly affect MHC I conformation and how Ly49 can interact with solvent exposed residues at the F-subsite, much like the conformational changes suggested for the more polymorphic 134

N-terminal peptide anchor binding pocket(s) at the B-subsite. This would be in contrast to mouse, which has a single TAP allele, restricted peptide P9 anchor residue repertoire and, therefore, likely a conserved F-subsite conformation (64). Ly49i2 and rat MHC I have other characteristics that may have affected overall Ly49i2 affinity for MHC I or reliance on specific "primary" residues capable of disrupting recognition as single heavy chain mutants. These include a much greater number of potential glycosylation sites on Ly49i2 compared to mouse Ly49, absence of carbohydrate on residue 176 of rat MHC I (55, 65), polymorphism in the  $\beta$ 0 domain, important for Ly49 dimerization and allele specificity (22, 43), and Ly49 polymorphism at the interface with  $\beta 2m$  (22-26). Despite these differences, we show that rat and mouse Ly49 share a similar interaction site and reliance on these 3 subsites, particularly the primacy of the F-subsite in mediating recognition for all rat and mouse Ly49/MHC I combinations examined. With no clear orthologs between the rat and mouse Ly49 and MHC I molecules examined here, and an evolutionary gap of 20-40 million years, this mode of recognition clearly appears to have occurred through convergent evolution. It has been suggested that the conservation of key residues between rat and mouse  $\beta 2m$  has occurred through selective pressure to maintain  $\beta 2m$  residues important for Ly49 and CD8 interactions (24, 48). What would drive the convergent evolution of rat and mouse Ly49/MHC I recognition systems based on heavy chain conformations and  $\beta$ 2m orientations, possibly determined by polymorphic and supertype defining anchor pockets of MHC I, may be a similar requirement in both species to destroy cells that are unable to present a recognizable MHC I supertype to cytolytic T cells.

In summary, we demonstrate that mouse Ly49G and rat Ly49i2 rely on differential usage of residues at different subsites within the site 2 interface of MHC I molecules and in comparison with the co-crystals of Ly49A/H-2D<sup>d</sup> and Ly49C/H-2K<sup>b</sup>, demonstrate that variable residue usage at site 2 may be more than a by-product of differential modes of Ly49 dimerization between the Ly49A-like and C-like subfamilies (6). This becomes particularly probable upon the recent isolation of Ly49A in the "open" dimerization state, once thought only to be relevant for Ly49C-like receptors (40). Instead, the demonstrated differential interaction with residues at site 2 of the MHC I heavy chain by Ly49, likely along with variable Ly49 placement on  $\beta$ 2m and the  $\alpha$ 3

135

domain, imposed by conformations dictated by anchor-binding and supertype-defining pocket(s), may be the mechanism by which allele specific Ly49 survey MHC I alleles, possibly for the presence of viable supertypes on the cell surface for recognition by TCR. This is a plausible evolutionary pressure where the convergent evolution of MHC I supertypes (28), fundamental to adaptive effector functions and crucial to a species' survival, may require simultaneous and rapid convergent evolution of the MHC I dependent innate effector functions that support them.

# E. Acknowledgments

We thank Dong-Er Gong for excellent technical assistance.

# F. Author Contribution to Data

Kerry Lavender generated the majority of data for this study. Heidi Chau assisted in the mutagenesis of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> and H-2D<sup>d</sup> and transfection of YB2/0 cells. Heidi Chau also produced killing assay data used in Figures 4-3*D* and 4-5*B* and for the RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> D122A mutant in Figure 4-4*B*.



Figure 4-1. Designation of site 2 subsites and MHC I recognition by Ly49i2 and Ly49G. A, Co-crystal of Ly49A-2 (*navy*) with H-2D<sup>d</sup> (*blue*) and  $\beta$ 2m (*grey*) showing Ly49 residues interacting at subsites-B (yellow spheres), -C (green spheres) and -F (cyan spheres). B, Co-crystal of Ly49C-2 (navy) with H-2K<sup>b</sup> (blue) and  $\beta$ 2m (grey) showing Ly49 residues interacting primarily at subsites-C (green spheres) and -F (cyan spheres). Each subsite is demarcated by a grey ellipse and includes for subsites-B and -F, both anchor pocket and solvent exposed residues. N- and C-terminal peptide anchor residues are labelled and shown as pink and magenta spheres, respectively. C, RNK-16 cells transfected with Ly49i2 or Ly49G (shaded histograms), were stained with Ly49 specific Abs plus FITC-conjugated secondary Ab and compared to untransfected RNK-16 cells (open histograms). D, Surface expression of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> and H-2D<sup>d</sup> on YB2/0 cells was assessed using MHC I allele specific Abs plus secondary PE-conjugated Ab (shaded histograms) and compared to untransfected YB2/0 cells (open histograms). E, YB2/0 cells and YB2/0 cells transfected with RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> or H-2D<sup>d</sup> were used as targets for RNK-16 cells expressing the inhibitory Ly49i2 or Ly49G receptor, respectively, in 4-h cytotoxicity assays. Data represent the mean of triplicate wells ±SD and are representative of three independent experiments.



**Figure 4-2.** Mutagenesis of single residues at three MHC I subsites differentially effect Ly49i2 and Ly49G recognition of their ligands. Locations and effect of single alanine mutations at each subsite on Ly49i2 recognition of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> (A) or Ly49G recognition of H-2D<sup>d</sup> (B). Subsites are demarcated by grey ellipses, complete disruption is indicated by red, partial disruption by shades of orange (darker shade indicates more disruption), and no disruption by green. The untested D122 residue in H-2D<sup>d</sup> is violet.



**Figure 4-3.** Ly49i2 recognition of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> is unaffected by single B-subsite mutants whereas Ly49G recognition of H-2D<sup>d</sup> is disrupted by single mutants beneath the anchor binding B- and C-pockets at the B-subsite. *A*, RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> and H-2D<sup>d</sup> (*B*) or their respective single B-subsite mutants were expressed to similar levels on YB2/0 cells (*shaded histograms*) compared to untransfected YB2/0 cells (*open histograms*). YB2/0 cells expressing RT1-A1<sup>c</sup>, H-2D<sup>d</sup> (*D*) or their single B-subsite mutants were compared for their ability to inhibit cytolysis through recognition by RNK-16 cells expressing Ly49i2 (*C*) and Ly49G (*D*), respectively. Percent inhibition was calculated compared to untransfected YB2/0 in the same 4-h cytotoxicity assay. Percent specific lysis of YB2/0 by Ly49i2 and Ly49G RNK transfectants ranged between 20 and 40%. Data represent the mean of triplicate wells ±SD and are representative of three independent experiments.



**Figure 4-4.** Single residue mutagenesis at the F-subsite completely disrupts Ly49G recognition of H-2D<sup>d</sup> and partially disrupts Ly49i2 recognition of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> when at residue D122. *A*, YB2/0 cells expressing RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> and H-2D<sup>d</sup> were matched for expression with YB2/0 cells expressing their respective F-subsite mutants (*shaded histograms*) compared to untransfected YB2/0 cells (*open histograms*). F-subsite mutants of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> (*B*) or H-2D<sup>d</sup> (*C*) were assayed for recognition by Ly49i2 and Ly49G, respectively, compared to untransfected and wild-type MHC I transfected YB2/0 cells in 4-h cytotoxicity assays. Data represent the mean of triplicate wells ±SD and are representative of three independent experiments.



**Figure 4-5.** RT1-A1<sup>°</sup> recognition by Ly49i2 is relatively unaffected by single C-subsite mutations, while Ly49G recognition of H-2D<sup>d</sup> is sensitive to specific C-subsite point mutations. *A*, YB2/0 cells expressing RT1-A1<sup>°</sup> and H-2D<sup>d</sup> C-subsite mutants were matched for expression with YB2/0 cells expressing their respective wild-type molecule (*shaded histograms*) compared to untransfected YB2/0 (*open histograms*). *B*, Ly49i2 recognition of RT1-A1<sup>°</sup> single C-subsite mutants and *C*, Ly49G recognition of H-2D<sup>d</sup> single C-subsite mutants in 4-h cytotoxicity assays. Results with respective wild-type MHC I and untransfected YB2/0 controls are also indicated. Data represent the mean of triplicate wells ±SD and are representative of three independent experiments.



**Figure 4-6.** Recognition of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> by Ly49i2 is completely disrupted by combined mutations at any two subsites. *A*, Double subsite mutants of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> were expressed to similar levels as wild-type RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> on YB2/0 cells (*shaded histograms*) compared to untransfected YB2/0 cells (*open histograms*). *B*, YB2/0 cells expressing double subsite mutants of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup>, double B/F-subsite mutant, R6AD122A; double F/C-subsite mutant, D122AK243A and double B/C-subsite mutant, R6AK243A, were compared to untransfected or wild-type RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> expressing YB2/0 cells for recognition by Ly49i2 in 4-h cytotoxicity assays. Data represent the mean of triplicate wells ±SD and are representative of three independent experiments. *C*, Location and effect of double alanine mutations at two separate subsites on Ly49i2 recognition of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup>. Complete disruption by a residue pair is depicted by shading of the residue pair in red ellipses. Anchor residues in the bound peptide are depicted as violet spheres.



Figure 4-7. Ly49i2 recognition of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> relies on each individual subsite at site 2, relying on a Ly49A/C hybrid-type residue usage at the C-subsite. A, Location and effect of double alanine mutations within a single subsite on Ly49i2 recognition of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup>. Complete disruption by a residue pair is depicted by shading of the residue pair in red ellipses, partial disruption by a residue pair by shading in orange. Anchor residues in the bound peptide are depicted as violet spheres. Close-up of subsite-C depicting the partially overlapping but distinct residues used in Ly49A recognition of H-2D<sup>d</sup> (B) compared to Ly49C recognition of H-2K<sup>b</sup> (C). For clarity, all potential subsite-C residues are shown as ball and stick in both B and C but only those residues involved in recognition for the MHC I/Ly49 ligand pair are colored red on MHC I and mauve and lime green in the  $\beta$ 4- $\beta$ 5 and  $\beta$ 2- $\beta$ 2' loops of Ly49, respectively.



Figure 4-8. Double mutants at each subsite show that Ly49i2 recognition of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> is completely dependent on subsite-F, less so on residues at the B-subsite and occurs in a unique manner at the C-subsite. *A*, YB2/0 cells expressing double mutants of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> at the B- (R6AF8A), F- (Q115AD122A) and C-subsites (D223AE262A, D223AK243A, E232AK243A and E262AK243A) were matched for surface expression to YB2/0 cells expressing wild-type RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> (*shaded histograms*) compared to untransfected YB2/0 cells (*open histograms*). *B*, YB2/0 cells expressing B-, F- and C-subsite double mutants of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> were assayed for recognition by Ly49i2 expressing RNK-16 cells compared to untransfected or wild-type RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> expressing YB2/0 cells in 4-h cytotoxicity assays. Data represent the mean of triplicate wells ±SD and are representative of three independent experiments.



**Figure 4-9.** Location of key residues discussed in this study that were previously predicted to mediate recognition in the Ly49A/H-2D<sup>d</sup> and Ly49C/H-2K<sup>b</sup> co-crystals. MHC I residues that are important for Ly49A recognition of H-2D<sup>d</sup> (*A*) and Ly49C recognition of H-2K<sup>b</sup> (*B*) and correspond to residues mutated in this study are red; the conserved Ly49 triad consisting of residues 236, 238, 239 are orange;  $\beta$ 4- $\beta$ 5 loop residues are violet;  $\beta$ 2- $\beta$ 2' loop resides are lime green and L3 loop residues are yellow. Residues on MHC I are numbered in black, those on Ly49 in green.



Figure 4-10. Polymorphisms in the anchor binding pocket(s) of MHC I may affect Ly49 recognition through conformational changes in solvent exposed residues that articulate simultaneously with the anchor binding pocket(s) of MHC I and with conserved  $\beta$ 2m residues that affect its orientation on MHC I. *A* and *B*, Solvent exposed residues of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> directly articulating with the peptide anchoring B- and F-pockets of MHC I (*A*) and those of H-2D<sup>d</sup> directly articulating with the peptide anchoring B/C- and F-pockets of MHC I (*B*) all articulate with the conserved F56 and W60 residues that align  $\beta$ 2m on MHC I. Peptide anchor residues (*violet spheres*), B- and C- pocket residues (*grey spheres*). Residues articulating with the B- (*red*), C- (*yellow*) and F- (*orange*) pocket and conserved  $\beta$ 2m residues (*blue*) are depicted as spheres on the MHC I heavy chain (*grey*) and  $\beta$ 2m molecule (*blue*), respectively.

## **G.** References

- 1. Stewart, C. A., E. Vivier, and M. Colonna. 2006. Strategies of natural killer cell recognition and signaling. *Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunol.* 298: 1-21.
- 2. Lodoen, M. B., and L. L. Lanier. 2006. Natural killer cells as an initial defense against pathogens. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* 18: 391-398.
- 3. Ortaldo, J. R., and H. A. Young. 2005. Mouse Ly49 NK receptors: balancing activation and inhibition. *Mol. Immunol.* 42: 445-450.
- Rolstad, B., C. Naper, G. Lovik, J. T. Vaage, J. C. Ryan, E. Backman-Petersson,
   R. D. Kirsch, and G. W. Butcher. 2001. Rat natural killer cell receptor systems and recognition of MHC class I molecules. *Immunol. Rev.* 181: 149-157.
- 5. Kane, K. P., K. J. Lavender, and B. J. Ma. 2004. Ly-49 receptors and their functions. *Crit. Rev. Immunol.* 24: 321-348.
- 6. Kane, K. P., E. T. Silver, and B. Hazes. 2001. Specificity and function of activating Ly-49 receptors. *Immunol. Rev. 181: 104-114*.
- Nylenna, O., C. Naper, J. T. Vaage, P. Y. Woon, D. Gauguier, E. Dissen, J. C. Ryan, and S. Fossum. 2005. The genes and gene organization of the Ly49 region of the rat natural killer cell gene complex. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 35: 261-272.
- Kveberg, L., K. Z. Dai, E. Dissen, J. C. Ryan, B. Rolstad, J. T. Vaage, and C. Naper. 2006. Strain-dependent expression of four structurally related rat Ly49 receptors; correlation with NK gene complex haplotype and NK alloreactivity. *Immunogenetics 58: 905-916.*
- Proteau, M. F., E. Rousselle, and A. P. Makrigiannis. 2004. Mapping of the BALB/c Ly49 cluster defines a minimal natural killer cell receptor gene repertoire. *Genomics* 84: 669-677.
- Wilhelm, B. T., L. Gagnier, and D. L. Mager. 2002. Sequence analysis of the ly49 cluster in C57BL/6 mice: a rapidly evolving multigene family in the immune system. *Genomics* 80: 646-661.
- Mehta, I. K., J. Wang, J. Roland, D. H. Margulies, and W. M. Yokoyama. 2001. Ly49A allelic variation and MHC class I specificity. *Immunogenetics* 53: 572-583.

- Silver, E. T., K. J. Lavender, D. E. Gong, B. Hazes, and K. P. Kane. 2002. Allelic variation in the ectodomain of the inhibitory Ly-49G2 receptor alters its specificity for allogeneic and xenogeneic ligands. *J. Immunol.* 169: 4752-4760.
- 13. Anderson, S. K., J. R. Ortaldo, and D. W. McVicar. 2001. The ever-expanding Ly49 gene family: repertoire and signaling. *Immunol. Rev.* 181: 79-89.
- Arase, H., E. S. Mocarski, A. E. Campbell, A. B. Hill, and L. L. Lanier. 2002. Direct recognition of cytomegalovirus by activating and inhibitory NK cell receptors. *Science 296: 1323-1326*.
- Saleh, A., G. E. Davies, V. Pascal, P. W. Wright, D. L. Hodge, E. H. Cho, S. J. Lockett, M. Abshari, and S. K. Anderson. 2004. Identification of probabilistic transcriptional switches in the Ly49 gene cluster: a eukaryotic mechanism for selective gene activation. *Immunity 21: 55-66*.
- Raulet, D. H., W. Held, I. Correa, J. R. Dorfman, M. F. Wu, and L. Corral. 1997. Specificity, tolerance and developmental regulation of natural killer cells defined by expression of class I-specific Ly49 receptors. *Immunol. Rev. 155: 41-52*.
- 17. Ljunggren, H. G., and K. Karre. 1990. In search of the 'missing self': MHC molecules and NK cell recognition. *Immunol. Today 11: 237-244*.
- Nakamura, M. C., S. Hayashi, E. C. Niemi, J. C. Ryan, and W. E. Seaman. 2000. Activating Ly-49D and inhibitory Ly-49A natural killer cell receptors demonstrate distinct requirements for interaction with H2-D(d). J. Exp. Med. 192: 447-454.
- Matsumoto, N., M. Mitsuki, K. Tajima, W. M. Yokoyama, and K. Yamamoto.
   2001. The Functional Binding Site for the C-type Lectin-like Natural Killer Cell Receptor Ly49A Spans Three Domains of Its Major Histocompatibility Complex Class I Ligand. J. Exp. Med. 193: 147-158.
- Matsumoto, N., W. M. Yokoyama, S. Kojima, and K. Yamamoto. 2001. The NK cell MHC class I receptor Ly49A detects mutations on H-2D<sup>d</sup> inside and outside of the peptide binding groove. *J. Immunol. 166: 4422-4428*.
- Chung, D. H., K. Natarajan, L. F. Boyd, J. Tormo, R. A. Mariuzza, W. M. Yokoyama, and D. H. Margulies. 2000. Mapping the ligand of the NK inhibitory receptor Ly49A on living cells. *J. Immunol.* 165: 6922-6932.

- Wang, J., M. C. Whitman, K. Natarajan, J. Tormo, R. A. Mariuzza, and D. H. Margulies. 2002. Binding of the natural killer cell inhibitory receptor Ly49A to its major histocompatibility complex class I ligand. Crucial contacts include both H-2D<sup>d</sup> AND beta 2-microglobulin. J. Biol. Chem. 277: 1433-1442.
- Michaelsson, J., A. Achour, A. Rolle, and K. Karre. 2001. MHC class I recognition by NK receptors in the Ly49 family is strongly influenced by the beta 2-microglobulin subunit. *J. Immunol.* 166: 7327-7334.
- Mitsuki, M., N. Matsumoto, and K. Yamamoto. 2004. A species-specific determinant on beta2-microglobulin required for Ly49A recognition of its MHC class I ligand. *Int. Immunol. 16: 197-204.*
- 25. Tormo, J., K. Natarajan, D. H. Margulies, and R. A. Mariuzza. 1999. Crystal structure of a lectin-like natural killer cell receptor bound to its MHC class I ligand. *Nature 402: 623-631*.
- 26. Dam, J., R. Guan, K. Natarajan, N. Dimasi, L. K. Chlewicki, D. M. Kranz, P. Schuck, D. H. Margulies, and R. A. Mariuzza. 2003. Variable MHC class I engagement by Ly49 natural killer cell receptors demonstrated by the crystal structure of Ly49C bound to H-2K(b). *Nat. Immunol. 4: 1213-1222.*
- Lavender, K. J., and K. P. Kane. 2006. Cross-species dependence of Ly49 recognition on the supertype defining B-pocket of a class I MHC molecule. J. Immunol. 177: 8578-8586.
- Sette, A., J. Sidney, B. D. Livingston, J. L. Dzuris, C. Crimi, C. M. Walker, S. Southwood, E. J. Collins, and A. L. Hughes. 2003. Class I molecules with similar peptide-binding specificities are the result of both common ancestry and convergent evolution. *Immunogenetics* 54: 830-841.
- McKinney, D. M., A. L. Erickson, C. M. Walker, R. Thimme, F. V. Chisari, J. Sidney, and A. Sette. 2000. Identification of five different Patr class I molecules that bind HLA supertype peptides and definition of their peptide binding motifs. *J. Immunol. 165: 4414-4422.*
- 30. Sette, A., and J. Sidney. 1998. HLA supertypes and supermotifs: a functional perspective on HLA polymorphism. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* 10: 478-482.

- 31. Stephens, H. A. 2005. HIV-1 diversity versus HLA class I polymorphism. *Trends Immunol.* 26: 41-47.
- Mason, L. H., J. R. Ortaldo, H. A. Young, V. Kumar, M. Bennett, and S. K. Anderson. 1995. Cloning and functional characteristics of murine large granular lymphocyte-1: a member of the Ly-49 gene family (Ly-49G2). J. Exp. Med. 182: 293-303.
- 33. Silver, E. T., D. E. Gong, C. S. Chang, A. Amrani, P. Santamaria, and K. P. Kane.
  2000. Ly-49P activates NK-mediated lysis by recognizing H-2D<sup>d</sup>. J. Immunol.
  165: 1771-1781.
- Naper, C., J. C. Ryan, M. C. Nakamura, D. Lambracht, B. Rolstad, and J. T. Vaage. 1998. Identification of an inhibitory MHC receptor on alloreactive rat natural killer cells. *J. Immunol. 160: 219-224*.
- Naper, C., S. Hayashi, E. Joly, G. W. Butcher, B. Rolstad, J. T. Vaage, and J. C. Ryan. 2002. Ly49i2 is an inhibitory rat natural killer cell receptor for an MHC class Ia molecule (RT1-A1<sup>c</sup>). *Eur. J. Immunol. 32: 2031-2036*.
- 36. Galfre, G., C. Milstein, and B. Wright. 1979. Rat x rat hybrid myelomas and a monoclonal anti-Fd portion of mouse IgG. *Nature* 277: 131-133.
- 37. Reynolds, C. W., E. W. Bere, Jr., and J. M. Ward. 1984. Natural killer activity in the rat. III. Characterization of transplantable large granular lymphocyte (LGL) leukemias in the F344 rat. J. Immunol. 132: 534-540.
- Silver, E. T., D. Gong, B. Hazes, and K. P. Kane. 2001. Ly-49W, an activating receptor of nonobese diabetic mice with close homology to the inhibitory receptor Ly-49G, recognizes H-2D(k) and H-2D(d). *J. Immunol. 166: 2333-2341*.
- Lavender, K. J., B. J. Ma, E. T. Silver, and K. P. Kane. 2004. The rat RT1-A1° MHC molecule is a xenogeneic ligand recognized by the mouse activating Ly-49W and inhibitory Ly-49G receptors. *J. Immunol.* 172: 3518-3526.
- Dam, J., J. Baber, A. Grishaev, E. L. Malchiodi, P. Schuck, A. Bax, and R. A. Mariuzza. 2006. Variable dimerization of the Ly49A natural killer cell receptor results in differential engagement of its MHC class I ligand. J. Mol. Biol. 362: 102-113.

- Paquet, M.-E., and D. B. Williams. 2002. Mutant MHC class I molecules define interactions between components of the peptide-loading complex. *Int. Immunol.* 14: 347-358.
- Brennan, J., G. Mahon, D. L. Mager, W. A. Jefferies, and F. Takei. 1996.
   Recognition of class I major histocompatibility complex molecules by Ly- 49: specificities and domain interactions. J. Exp. Med. 183: 1553-1559.
- Lian, R. H., Y. Li, S. Kubota, D. L. Mager, and F. Takei. 1999. Recognition of class I MHC by NK receptor Ly-49C: identification of critical residues. *J. Immunol.* 162: 7271-7276.
- Sundback, J., A. Achour, J. Michaelsson, H. Lindstrom, and K. Karre. 2002. NK cell inhibitory receptor Ly-49C residues involved in MHC class I binding. J. *Immunol. 168: 793-800.*
- 45. Waldenstrom, M., J. Sundback, M. Y. Olsson-Alheim, A. Achour, and K. Karre.
  1998. Impaired MHC class I (H-2D<sup>d</sup>)-mediated protection against Ly-49A+ NK cells after amino acid substitutions in the antigen binding cleft. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 28: 2872-2881.
- Mason, L. H., J. Willette-Brown, S. K. Anderson, W. G. Alvord, R. L. Klabansky,
  H. A. Young, and J. R. Ortaldo. 2003. Receptor glycosylation regulates Ly-49
  binding to MHC class I. J. Immunol. 171: 4235-4242.
- 47. Ribaudo, R. K., and D. H. Margulies. 1995. Polymorphism at position nine of the MHC class I heavy chain affects the stability of association with beta 2-microglobulin and presentation of a viral peptide. J. Immunol. 155: 3481-3493.
- Achour, A., J. Michaelsson, R. A. Harris, H. G. Ljunggren, K. Karre, G. Schneider, and T. Sandalova. 2006. Structural basis of the differential stability and receptor specificity of H-2D<sup>b</sup> in complex with murine versus human beta2-microglobulin. *J. Mol. Biol.* 356: 382-396.
- 49. Dimasi, N., and R. Biassoni. 2005. Structural and functional aspects of the Ly49 natural killer cell receptors. *Immunol. Cell. Biol.* 83: 1-8.
- 50. Li, H., K. Natarajan, E. L. Malchiodi, D. H. Margulies, and R. A. Mariuzza. 1998. Three-dimensional structure of H-2D<sup>d</sup> complexed with an immunodominant

peptide from human immunodeficiency virus envelope glycoprotein 120. J. Mol. Biol. 283: 179-191.

- 51. Madden, D. R. 1995. The three-dimensional structure of peptide-MHC complexes. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 13: 587-622.
- Smith, R. A., N. B. Myers, M. Robinson, T. H. Hansen, and D. R. Lee. 2002. Polymorphism at position 97 in MHC class I molecules affects peptide specificity, cell surface stability, and affinity for beta2-microglobulin. J. Immunol. 169: 3105-3111.
- 53. Fremont, D. H., E. A. Stura, M. Matsumura, P. A. Peterson, and I. A. Wilson. 1995. Crystal structure of an H-2K<sup>b</sup>-ovalbumin peptide complex reveals the interplay of primary and secondary anchor positions in the major histocompatibility complex binding groove. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 92: 2479-2483.*
- 54. Fremont, D. H., M. Matsumura, E. A. Stura, P. A. Peterson, and I. A. Wilson.
  1992. Crystal structures of two viral peptides in complex with murine MHC class I H-2K<sup>b</sup>. Science 257: 919-927.
- 55. Hanke, T., H. Takizawa, C. W. McMahon, D. H. Busch, E. G. Pamer, J. D.
  Miller, J. D. Altman, Y. Liu, D. Cado, F. A. Lemonnier, P. J. Bjorkman, and D.
  H. Raulet. 1999. Direct assessment of MHC class I binding by seven Ly49 inhibitory NK cell receptors. *Immunity 11: 67-77*.
- Franksson, L., J. Sundback, A. Achour, J. Bernlind, R. Glas, and K. Karre. 1999.
   Peptide dependency and selectivity of the NK cell inhibitory receptor Ly-49C.
   *Eur. J. Immunol.* 29: 2748-2758.
- Michaelsson, J., A. Achour, M. Salcedo, A. Kase-Sjostrom, J. Sundback, R. A. Harris, and K. Karre. 2000. Visualization of inhibitory Ly49 receptor specificity with soluble major histocompatibility complex class I tetramers. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 30: 300-307.
- 58. Dimasi, N., M. W. Sawicki, L. A. Reineck, Y. Li, K. Natarajan, D. H. Margulies, and R. A. Mariuzza. 2002. Crystal structure of the Ly49I natural killer cell receptor reveals variability in dimerization mode within the Ly49 family. J. Mol. Biol. 320: 573-585.

- 59. Ma, B. J., E. T. Silver, B. Hazes, and K. P. Kane. 2003. Reciprocal transfer of class I MHC allele specificity between activating Ly-49P and Ly-49W receptors by exchange of beta 4-beta 5 loop residues. J. Immunol. 171: 5337-5344.
- 60. Achour, A., K. Persson, R. A. Harris, J. Sundback, C. L. Sentman, Y. Lindqvist, G. Schneider, and K. Karre. 1998. The crystal structure of H-2D<sup>d</sup> MHC class I complexed with the HIV-1-derived peptide P18-I10 at 2.4 A resolution: implications for T cell and NK cell recognition. *Immunity 9: 199-208*.
- Johansson, M. H., E. Hoglund, M. C. Nakamura, J. C. Ryan, and P. Hoglund.
   1998. Alpha1/alpha2 domains of H-2D(d), but not H-2L(d), induce "missing self" reactivity in vivo--no effect of H-2L(d) on protection against NK cells expressing the inhibitory receptor Ly49G2. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 28: 4198-4206.
- Sundback, J., M. C. Nakamura, M. Waldenstrom, E. C. Niemi, W. E. Seaman, J. C. Ryan, and K. Karre. 1998. The alpha2 domain of H-2D<sup>d</sup> restricts the allelic specificity of the murine NK cell inhibitory receptor Ly-49A. *J. Immunol. 160: 5971-5978*.
- Joly, E., A. F. Le Rolle, A. L. Gonzalez, B. Mehling, J. Stevens, W. J. Coadwell, T. Hunig, J. C. Howard, and G. W. Butcher. 1998. Co-evolution of rat TAP transporters and MHC class I RT1-A molecules. *Curr. Biol. 8: 169-172.*
- Momburg, F., J. Roelse, J. C. Howard, G. W. Butcher, G. J. Hammerling, and J. J. Neefjes. 1994. Selectivity of MHC-encoded peptide transporters from human, mouse and rat. *Nature 367: 648-651*.
- 65. Lian, R. H., J. D. Freeman, D. L. Mager, and F. Takei. 1998. Role of conserved glycosylation site unique to murine class I MHC in recognition by Ly-49 NK cell receptor. J. Immunol. 161: 2301-2306.

## **CHAPTER V**

# **DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION**

#### A. Summary of Contributions

Allele specific Ly49 recognition of MHC I has been documented in mouse (1-4), rat (5-9) and xenogeneic (2, 10-17) systems. Previous extensive mutagenesis (18-24) and co-crystallization studies (25, 26) isolated the Ly49 interaction at what is known as site 2 on mouse MHC I. Unfortunately, this site involves highly conserved solvent exposed residues below the peptide-binding groove on all three heavy chain domains and on the  $\beta$ 2m and provides no immediately identifiable means of mediating allele specific recognition by Ly49. While studies identifying polymorphisms between Ly49 receptors partially explained why Ly49 demonstrate allele specificity for their MHC I ligands (2, 26-30), it remained unsolved for some time how polymorphisms in Ly49 could distinguish between mouse MHC I alleles at a recognition site that is so highly conserved. To address this problem, we isolated a xenogeneic rat MHC I ligand, RT1-A1<sup>c</sup>, for the mouse inhibitory Ly49G and activating Ly49W receptors (31). In addition to being an interesting and useful finding for the study of NK cell involvement in xenotransplantation, the identification of a xenogeneic ligand allowed us to identify a motif on MHC I, shared between rat and mouse, which mediates recognition by these receptors. What we found to be a common motif between ligands was a similarity of supertype, with MHC I ligands for Ly49G, W and i2 receptors fitting best into the B7-supertype family, binding proline as an anchor at the P2 position of peptide within the B-pocket of the MHC I molecule, or in the case of the H-2D<sup>d</sup> ligand, binding glycine at P2 and proline at P3 within its double anchoring B- and C-pockets. In contrast, non-ligands for Ly49G and W were all of a different supertype with distinct anchor residues.

This was an interesting finding as a great deal of previous work on mouse Ly49 interaction with mouse MHC I highlighted the significance of the  $\alpha 1\alpha 2$  domains of the MHC I molecule in mediating recognition (32-34). The swapping of a recognized MHC I allele's  $\alpha 2$  domain for an  $\alpha 2$  domain from a non-recognized allele signified the importance of this domain in mediating interactions (35-37), an observation that was later

confirmed by co-crystallization of H-2D<sup>d</sup> with Ly49A (25). Mutagenesis studies also implicated the peptide-binding domains in mediating interactions, including residues within the peptide-binding groove (18, 20), but no one was ever able to establish precisely how the conformation of the  $\alpha 1 \alpha 2$  domains and how polymorphic residues buried within the peptide-binding groove, which made no direct contact with the Ly49 receptor, were able to affect allele specificity. It wasn't until we identified the similarity of supertype between allelic MHC I ligands for Ly49G and Ly49W that a possible mechanism by which the residues buried within the peptide-binding groove of the  $\alpha 1\alpha 2$ domains, in the supertype-defining pocket, could be mediating Ly49 allele specificity for MHC I (31). This finding suggested that the allele specific recognition of MHC I by Ly49 receptors of innate immunity was intrinsically linked to structures important to adaptive immunity and implicated NK cells in immune surveillance for cells not just capable of expressing MHC I but expressing MHC I of a recognizable supertype.

Upon the identification of the natural syngeneic rat Ly49i2 receptor for RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> by Naper et al. (5) we were then able to demonstrate, not only in a xenogeneic rat/mouse system but also in a syngeneic rat system, that alterations specifically within the polymorphic and supertype-defining B-pocket of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup>, and not in non-anchoring pockets within the groove, could disrupt recognition (38). We also suggested a mechanism for how this could be occurring. Through comparison of crystal structures of ligands vs. non-ligands for Ly49G, W and i2 we found that the conformation of conserved solvent exposed residues below and articulating with this anchor-binding and supertype-defining pocket were identical for ligands whereas non-ligands had very different conformations. It was possible then, that the side chain conformations of residues articulating with the B-pocket were being affected by polymorphisms in the pocket, making them more or less available for interaction with different Ly49.

Peptide elution profiles from the B-pocket mutants of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> indicated that mutagenesis of the polymorphic anchor-binding pocket might affect recognition on two levels. First, by modifying the structure of the MHC I heavy chain making solvent exposed residues at site 2 more or less available for interaction with polymorphic Ly49 as just mentioned. Second, through conformational effects upon the binding of peptides with anchor residues of a different supertype, or of a less preferred anchor type, in the anchor-

binding pocket. This gave insight into previously contradictory work showing that Ly49A recognition of H-2D<sup>d</sup> was peptide dependent but not usually peptide specific (34, 39), while Ly49C recognition of H-2K<sup>b</sup> was both peptide dependent and specific (40). Our elution profiles suggested that the peptide dependence previously seen for Ly49A recognition of H-2D<sup>d</sup> (34) was likely due to the requirement for the presence of peptides having anchor residues of the correct supertype but no requirement for specific peptide sequence beyond these anchor residues. Furthermore, upon examination of the peptides used in the investigation of the peptide dependence of Ly49C recognition of  $H-2K^{b}$  (40), recognition appears to have been disrupted due to the loading of peptides with both subtle and overt alterations in anchor residues. Therefore, our work provided for the first time, a viable mechanism by which the structure and peptide content of the  $\alpha 1 \alpha 2$  domains of MHC I, specifically the anchor binding B-pocket, could be mediating allele specificity at a highly conserved interaction site. Additionally, by examining the interaction of Ly49i2 with RT1-A1<sup>c</sup>, we provided the first evidence that rat Ly49/MHC I interactions occur in a manner similar to mouse, taking place at the site 2 interface and relying on supertype motifs.

We then established that both mouse Ly49G recognition of H-2D<sup>d</sup> and rat Ly49i2 recognition of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> indeed relied specifically on residues articulating with the polymorphic N-terminal anchor binding pocket(s) at what we called the B-subsite, supporting our hypothesis that the conformation of the polymorphic anchor-binding pocket affected the availability of the solvent exposed residues that articulate with it, thereby affecting allele specific recognition by Ly49. In addition to a reliance on the B-pocket, we then demonstrated that, like the Ly49A/H-2D<sup>d</sup> and Ly49C/H-2K<sup>b</sup> allele combinations, Ly49G/H-2D<sup>d</sup> and rat Ly49i2/RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> specifically rely on a conserved "anchoring point" involving residues articulating with the other supertype defining, but more conserved, C-terminal peptide anchor-binding pocket at what we called the F-subsite.

Further examination of residues required for recognition by these rat and mouse Ly49/MHC I allele combinations allowed us to demonstrate that Ly49 also exhibit altered dependency on residues in the  $\alpha$ 3 domain of MHC I, at what we called the C-subsite. This supported previous work in our laboratory demonstrating that polymorphic residues

157

in the  $\beta$ 4- $\beta$ 5 loop of Ly49 are important for both syngeneic (29) and xenogeneic (31) allele specific recognition of MHC I, with Ly49G, W and i2 all having the DcGK motif in this loop, which may contribute to the common recognition of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> by these receptors. We were then able to propose that the variable placement of Ly49 on the  $\alpha$ 3 domain of MHC I, and therefore the varied ability to interact with MHC I alleles due to polymorphisms in the interaction loops of Ly49, could be due to direct anchor pocket mediated conformational changes in the  $\alpha$ 1 $\alpha$ 2 domains of MHC I (Fig. 5-1).

Upon examination of crystal structures, we observed that the  $\alpha$ 3 domain and  $\beta$ 2m orientations vary between MHC I alleles and previous mutagenesis work demonstrated that the B-pocket can affect  $\beta$ 2m orientation (41, 42). This allowed us to theorize that not only could conformational changes in the polymorphic N-terminal anchor-binding pocket(s) of MHC I directly affect Ly49 placement but the variable orientation of  $\beta$ 2m on different MHC I alleles could also be having an effect (Fig. 5-1). That peptides could also affect recognition through positional effects in the  $\alpha$ 3 domain and  $\beta$ 2m is suggested by the observation of Achour et al. (43) that identical alleles of MHC I, containing varied peptides, also demonstrate a variability of  $\beta 2m$  and  $\alpha 3$  domain orientation. This seemed to explain the similar sensitivity of Ly49i2 to changes in the B-pocket compared to Ly49G, while having reduced reliance on solvent exposed residues at the B-subsite. Since  $\beta$ 2m association with MHC I is influenced by residues in the B-pocket (41, 42) it is possible that mutagenesis in the B-pocket of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> disrupted Ly49i2 recognition primarily through alterations in  $\beta$ 2m placement and to a lesser degree on conformational changes of solvent exposed residues at subsite-B. To this end, we provided for the first time a comprehensive model for how both mouse and rat Ly49 may mediate allele specificity at the highly conserved site 2 of MHC I (Fig. 5-1).

## **B.** Xeno-transplantation

The limited supply of allogeneic organs for transplantation has made xenotransplantation, specifically the transplantation of organs from animals specially raised for this purpose into humans, an attractive potential alternative. The immunological barriers to xeno-transplantation are formidable but studies involving the creation of xenogeneic mixed chimeras have brought hope to the future success of xenotransplantation without the need for long-term immunosuppression.

The creation of mixed chimeras involves the transfer of donor hematopoietic stem cells (HSC) to a host that has been made receptive through conditioning regimens involving the eradication or blocking of donor reactive lymphocytes and creation of "space" for the incoming donor cells without the eradication of the hosts own hematopoietic compartment. Both donor and host pluripotent hematopoietic stem cells can then contribute to the reestablishment of the host immune system post transplant. Studies demonstrate that successful chimerism involves the repopulation of the thymus with both donor and host APC capable of negatively selecting thymocytes that are reactive to donor or host epitopes. In this way, the production of a mixed chimera creates an immune system receptive to concurrent or consequent organ and tissue transplants from the same donor without the need for immunosuppressive drugs (44) (Fig 5-2A).

Conditioning regimens have been established in the study of xeno-transplantation of rat HSC and tissues into mouse. These regimens require the depletion of mature T cells from the donor HSC graft to prevent GvHD, depletion of both  $\alpha\beta$  and  $\gamma\delta$  T cells from the host to prevent rejection of the incoming HSC and both thymic (TI) and total body (TBI) irradiation to deplete xeno-reactive host cells and make "space" for incoming donor HSC (45). In contrast to allogeneic mixed chimeras, depletion of NK cells is additionally required for the successful engraftment of rat HSC in mice with greater chimerism being achieved in NK depleted recipients (45, 46). Although the original depletion of host NK cells prior to HSC transplant can facilitate successful engraftment and greater levels of chimerism (45, 46), longer-term chimerism and tissue graft acceptance appears impeded by the presence of newly developing NK cells incapable of recognizing inhibitory ligands on donor tissue (47) (Fig. 5-2*A*).

Previous studies suggested that xeno-reactivity between mouse activating Ly49 and rat MHC was responsible for NK cell mediated rejection (45, 48). This was due to examples of the activating Ly49D receptor recognizing targets from particular rat haplotypes (15, 16) along with the absence of a demonstrable mouse inhibitory receptor capable of mediating rat MHC I recognition (45). By finding that Ly49G recognizes the RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> MHC I allele of PVG rat (31), we are able to contribute to studies into the ability of inhibitory Ly49, upon recognition of xenogeneic MHC I, to facilitate HSC and tissue graft acceptance in rat to mouse mixed chimeras. The presence of an inhibitory Ly49 receptor in mouse, capable of recognizing a rat MHC I molecule on rat donor HSC and tissue grafts, would potentially facilitate HSC engraftment, greater levels of chimerism and long term tissue graft acceptance without the need for NK cell depletion (Fig. 5-2*B*). Additionally, the recognition of RT1-A1° by mouse Ly49W (31) and the further identification of additional xenogeneic ligands through what is now a better understanding of the mechanisms mediating allele specificity, could facilitate the intelligent design of multi-ligand studies determining the ratio of activating to inhibitory signals required for optimal xenograft acceptance.

Clinically, the pig is considered the most likely candidate for xeno-transplantation into humans. Currently xenogeneic mixed chimerism experiments transferring pig HSC into primate recipients are under investigation, including investigation of concurrent or consequent tissue graft acceptance from the same donor (48). Although hyperacute rejection, primarily through pre-formed antibody recognition of  $\alpha(1,3)$ Gal moieties on porcine tissues (49), that are absent from primate tissues, is a major barrier to xenotransplantation between these species, successful mixed chimerism has been shown to facilitate the tolerization of cells producing xenogeneic antibody (50, 51). Additionally, transgenic expression of human HLA-Cw3 on porcine tissues has proven to be a successful means of blocking human NK cell recognition of these xenogeneic targets (52), likely through engagement of inhibitory KIR, and could possibly eliminate NK cell mediated rejection of pig tissues transplanted into humans.

One wonders, considering our demonstration that Ly49 receptors share a similar reliance on supertype mediated conformations for recognition across species, whether species with similarly expanded KIR repertoires may also share similar reliance on supertypes or other pan-species motifs for recognition. Previous work has demonstrated that KIR may too rely on structures related to supertypes (53, 54), and previous demonstrations of reciprocal KIR recognition of MHC I between human and chimpanzee (55) suggest that xenoligands could potentially exist in pig since they also express an expanded repertoire of KIR receptors. Finding such a ligand in pig would be an enormous advancement in porcine to human mixed chimeras and xeno-transplantation, potentially

160

eliminating the costly requirement of transgenic HLA expressing pigs as sources of HSC and tissue grafts.

# C. Orphan Ly49 Receptors

The importance of allele specific inhibitory Ly49 receptors in the elimination of cells incapable of presenting peptide/MHC I to CTL, due to the down-regulation of MHC I upon viral infection or cellular transformation, is well established. Early work with mouse Ly49 receptors focussed mainly on identifying different Ly49 genes and identifying their allelic specificity for MHC I (3, 4, 56-58). While only one ligand has been identified for a rat Ly49 a number of mouse Ly49 ligands are known. Despite this, many, particularly activating Ly49, remain either orphan receptors or are found in strains where an activating MHC I ligand appears absent, leaving their role in innate immunity unresolved. Understanding the mechanism by which allele specific Ly49 recognize MHC I may facilitate the identification of potential ligands for these Ly49, such as viral MHC I homologues or rat ligands within the extensive RT1-C/E/U region, and help to better delineate the role of these receptors in innate immune responses.

#### Viral Ligands

A number of viral resistance loci map to the NKC including in CMV infection, Cmv1, 3 and 4, in herpes simplex infection, Hrl (59) and in ectromelia infection, Rmp1(60). Work with HSV has identified a NKC encoded non-Ly49 gene as potentially mediating this resistance (59) while Clr homologues in ectromelia (and rat CMV) may be responsible for NKC mediated (Rmp1) resistance to these viruses through Nkrp1 receptors, since Clr have been shown to be the natural ligands for these receptors in mouse (61). To date only Cmv1 has mapped to the Ly49 cluster, with CMV resistance being mediated by activating Ly49H receptor recognition of the CMV encoded viral MHC I homologue, m157 (62). Different alleles of the inhibitory Ly49I receptor have also been demonstrated to differentially recognize m157, mediating susceptibility to the virus by strains expressing Ly49I alleles that can recognize this virally encoded MHC Ilike "decoy" molecule. Additionally, not all Ly49H alleles have been found to recognize m157 (63) and many wild MCMV strains contain mutated m157 molecules (64). Interestingly, F-pocket like motifs in m157 closely resemble those found in some mouse MHC I alleles whereas another MHC I homologue in MCMV, m144, shows little similarity at either anchor binding pocket, possibly suggesting why m157 can be recognized by Ly49 and that a non-Ly49 NK cell receptor may mediate recognition for m144. It appears then, that whatever mediates the m157 interaction and the observed Ly49 allele specificity for m157 may be similar to the mechanisms mediating Ly49 specificity for MHC I. Therefore, our now greater understanding of how Ly49 mediate allele specificity may assist in the identification of additional candidate viral ligands for Ly49 receptors in rat and mouse. For example, the Cmv4 locus, recently identified in the new inbred PWK strain derived from wild mice, also maps very closely to the Ly49 region of the NKC. Although the PWK NKC haplotype appears similar to that of C57BL/6 mice, this strain does not mediate resistance to MCMV through activating Ly49H recognition of m157. Since at least seven other MHC I like genes have been identified in murine and rat CMV, the PWK strain may encode a novel activating Ly49 for another MHC I homologue in MCMV thereby mediating resistance (64). Our now greater understanding of the mechanisms mediating MHC I allele specificity by Ly49 may assist in identification of this ligand pair.

Ly49 mediated resistance to viruses does not appear to solely rely on direct interaction with a virally encoded MHC I homologue. Desrosiers et al. (65) demonstrated that the Ly49P<sup>MA/My</sup> activating receptor could acquire specificity for H-2D<sup>k</sup> upon infection of H-2D<sup>k</sup> expressing targets with MCMV, possibly through the binding of H-2D<sup>k</sup> to virally derived peptides. This is supported by our findings and those of Franksson et al. (40) that Ly49 recognition of MHC I may be affected by the bound peptide. Although we demonstrated loss of recognition associated with alterations in the dominantly bound anchor residue, this implies that alteration of preferred anchor residues could also induce gain of function. This may be the reason why highly homologous activating and inhibitory Ly49 pairs exist, where very small polymorphisms between pairs could cause loss of inhibitory recognition and but gain of activating recognition of the same MHC I allele upon changes in the bound peptide repertoire upon infection or transformation.

Viral MHC I homologues are also found in human viruses, and include UL18 in HCMV (66) and MC080R in *molluscum contagiosum* (67). While direct binding of UL18

occurs through the inhibitory LILRB1 (68) and not KIR, KIR receptors are possible candidates for interaction with MC080R and other MHC I homologues. Additionally, both activating and inhibitory KIR show sensitivity to bound peptide with examples of inhibitory KIR recognizing a specific HLA supertype only in the context of peptides from Epstein-Barr virus (54). Additionally, the presence of the activating KIR3DS1 with HLA-Bw4 is associated with delayed progression to Acquired Immunodeficiency Syndrome (AIDS) (69) suggesting this activating KIR may also recognizes MHC I alleles preferentially in the context of viral peptide. Therefore, the identification of virally encoded or induced ligands for Ly49 receptors may facilitate understanding of and serve as models for human KIR interactions with viruses.

### Rat Ly49 Ligands

The Ly49 repertoire in the rat has only recently been extensively characterized (70-72). Despite many historical clues involving ALC experiments that point towards the presence of activating and inhibitory rat Ly49 pairs that functioned similarly to mouse Ly49 in the allele specific recognition of MHC I (9, 73-78), only RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> has been demonstrated as a discernible MHC I ligand for one rat receptor, Ly49i2 (5). At least 25 functional rat Ly49 have been described to date with many receptors demonstrating allelic differences between strains similar to mouse Ly49 (2, 27, 70). Close homology of rat Ly49 to mouse Ly49 and the demonstration that rat Ly49i2 mediates recognition and allele specificity for RT1-A1<sup>e</sup> similarly to how mouse Ly49 recognize MHC I alleles indicates that rat receptors may in general similarly rely on subsites at site 2 and supertype-defined conformations to mediate allele specificity for MHC I ligands. This suggests that scrutiny of the anchor binding pockets and peptide anchor preferences of rat MHC I could identify potential candidate ligands for rat Ly49. The pre-selection of candidate ligands for activating rat Ly49 would be of particular use as rat activating receptors have typically been implicated in the recognition of MHC Ia-like Ib molecules in the RT1-C/E/U region (76, 79), which encodes a much larger repertoire of potential ligands than is found in the mouse (80), and would otherwise make ligand identification difficult and time consuming.

The examination of anchor binding pockets for the identification of ligands is most likely to assist in the identification of RT1-A ligands that are preferentially recognized by rat inhibitory Ly49 (74, 78, 81-83) since they are the major loci recognized by CTL and are therefore most likely to be of recognisable supertypes. Despite this, examination of MHC Ia-like Ib molecules in the rat indicate that many bind peptide and  $\beta$ 2m, have similarly conserved  $\alpha$ 3 domains, can act as ligands for CTL (80, 84, 85) and therefore may also be discriminated between by Ly49 via recognizable supertype motifs. Additionally, preliminary alignments of RT1-C, E2, E, U and the recently characterized Ia-like RT1-L MHC Ib molecules (86) indicates that despite reduced overall polymorphism in these molecules compared to the RT1-A loci, anchor binding pocket polymorphism is found within RT1-C, E and U alleles. Therefore anchor-binding pocket conformation may also act as determinants of Ly49 allele specificity for these Ib molecules at the conserved site 2. Considering the importance of *rattus norvegicus* as a widely used model for human disease and transplantation studies (87, 88), the linkage of the RT1-C/E/U locus to many of these diseases (89-91) and the involvement of NK cells (92-94), it would be of great profit if our findings describing Ly49 discrimination of MHC I alleles could aid in the identification of additional RT1 ligands for rat Ly49.

### **D.** Convergent Evolution

Convergent evolution is the independent evolution of the same motifs at multiple times in evolution. Such convergently evolving motifs tend to be selected for based on structure or function and not sequence (95). For example, the independent expansion of the structurally and sequentially unrelated KIR and Ly49 receptors in two distinct chromosomal gene complexes in primate and rodent lineages, respectively, appears to be an example of functional convergent evolution to produce NK cell receptors capable of monitoring MHC I expression in an allele specific manner. In contrast, when comparing the anchor binding pockets of MHC I alleles of a similar supertype, but from different species with no apparent MHC I orthologues, one finds that although the residue sequence lining the anchor binding pockets of each molecule is divergent, that the overall structure of the pocket is nearly identical and is an example of structural convergent evolution between species to produce peptide binding pockets capable of binding particular supertype-defining peptide anchor residues.

That Ly49 receptors, examples of convergent evolution themselves, appear to have evolved to recognize supertype-defined motifs on MHC I that also appear to be a product of convergent evolution, leads one to consider what the selective driving advantage might be. With our findings that a rat inhibitory Ly49, which is nonorthologous to mouse Ly49G and W, but similarly depends on supertype-defined motifs in a rat MHC I molecule that is also non-orthologous to mouse MHC I, raises the possibility that the convergent evolution of supertypes in these two species may also be the driving force behind the convergent evolution of rat and mouse Ly49 receptors that recognize supertype-defined conformations. Finally, since KIR are the functionally equivalent receptors in humans to Ly49 receptors in rodents, it is worthy of consideration that the same evolutionary forces driving Ly49 expansion, diversification and allele specific recognition in rodents may similarly play a role in the expansion, diversification and function of KIR.

## Ly49 Receptor Surveillance and CTL Function

T cell receptor recognition of MHC I is dependent on two main factors, the recognition of the peptide by TCR residues primarily in the complimentarity determining region (CDR) 3 loops of the TCR and MHC I recognition primarily by the CDR1 and CDR2 loops of the TCR (96). This combined requirement of peptide in the context of a recognizable "self" MHC I allele for TCR recognition is known as MHC restriction. The TCR interacts with MHC I directly from above, sampling both the bound peptide and residues on the  $\alpha 1 \alpha 2$  domains of MHC I and is typically oriented diagonally across the top of the peptide binding groove so that the CDR loops are interacting with residues nearer to the F-pocket (97) (Fig. 5-3). Although co-crystals of MHC I and TCR complexes show variability in the exact angle of orientation of the TCR and usage of residues in MHC I for interaction, CDR1 $\alpha$  and CDR2 $\alpha$  loops interact predominantly with residue 65 in the  $\alpha 1$  helix and to a lesser degree with residues 62 and 158 (Fig. 5-3) while the CDR1 $\beta$  and CDR2 $\beta$  chains interact primarily with residue 155 in the  $\alpha 2$  helix and to a lesser degree
with residues 69, 72, 150 and 151 (96). Although there has, to date, been no demonstrated reason for this fairly conserved TCR/MHC I docking arrangement or basis for MHC restriction it may be related to MHC I supertypes.

Because the CDR1 and CDR2 loops of TCR are generated from V gene segments and are less diverse compared to the highly variable CDR3 loops that are made up of V, J and, in the  $\beta$  chain, D $\beta$  segments that contact peptide and because MHC I and TCR genes are unlinked, it may be possible that MHC restriction is a driving factor behind the convergent evolution of MHC I supertypes to maintain a repertoire of about nine or 10 conformations recognizable by TCR despite the high degree of MHC I polymorphism that permits the binding of a diverse peptide repertoire. This possibility is supported by evidence that syngeneic recognition appears to rely primarily on contributions from the CDR1 $\alpha$  and CDR2 $\alpha$  loops that typically interact with  $\alpha$  helix residues affected by the supertype defining B-pocket (98) (Fig. 5-3). Interestingly, TCR recognition of xenogeneic MHC I also appears to rely predominantly on the B-pocket associated loops (99) raising the possibility that xenogeneic TCR interactions, like Ly49 xenogeneic recognition of MHC I, are possibly mediated through MHC restriction motifs related to shared supertype conformations across species. That MHC I supertypes may be important for MHC restriction is further supported by experiments showing that even very minor alterations in the peptide binding groove can affect CTL recognition of an otherwise identical peptide, possibly due to conformational changes in the MHC I domains mediating restriction (100, 101). Additionally, although viral escape mutants of exposed peptide residues can abolish direct CDR3 recognition of peptide, alterations in buried peptide residues can also affect the conformation of the  $\alpha 1\alpha 2$  domains and TCR recognition potentially through altered MHC restriction (102).

Supertype motifs appear important for successful adaptive immune responses, whether they are important for MHC restriction or not (103). The similar frequency of different supertypes across ethnicities, despite the highly variable allele representation within each supertype (104, 105), indicates that there is strong selective pressure to maintain nine or 10 supertype conformations, presumably for immune fitness against a battery of pathogens. That there are some identical supertypes in species as divergent from humans as rat and mouse could be explained by similarities in the peptide loading

machinery in all three species that produces peptides with C-terminal residues typical of proteasome cleavage patterns (106) or P2 residues produced by the cleavage patterns of aminopeptidases (107). That there is not a completely overlapping repertoire of supertypes in rodents and primates may also be partially explained by differences in the peptide loading machinery, for example the presence of the TAP-A allele found in rat that preferentially transport peptides into the endoplasmic reticulum with positively charged C-terminal residues (108), may allow for a different supertype containing a charged residue in the F-pocket of rat MHC I that would not be possible in mice since they have a TAP incapable of transporting this type of peptide. Partially overlapping supertype repertoires in divergent species could also reflect the species-specific evolution of TCR genes to recognize immunodominant epitopes in species specific pathogens, resulting in CDR1 and 2 loops requiring a potentially different, but still limited, repertoire of species-specific supertypes. It would be interesting to examine the peptide elution profiles from the MHC I of geographically distinct wild rats or mice for the presence of a limited repertoire of species-specific supertypes amid extensive allelic polymorphism.

The presence of innate immune receptors in both mouse and rat, which appear to mediate allele specificity based on supertype motifs found in MHC I, is understandable based on the apparent importance of supertypes for immune fitness. That mouse and rat Ly49 can detect the presence of supertype conformations may ensure that cells incapable of binding a specific repertoire of immunodominant peptides in the context of a recognizable self MHC supertype for MHC restriction, and therefore TCR recognition, will be cleared by NK cells. Inhibitory Ly49 may specifically bind MHC I alleles bound to self-peptides or pathogen derived peptides that are of specific supertypes and therefore recognizable by CTL. Upon prolonged infection or transformation this bound repertoire may derive escape mutants. Although some escape mutants include peptides altered such that they no longer mediate direct TCR recognition through the CDR3 loops (109), escape mutants are also seen with alterations in buried and supertype-defining peptide residues (102, 110). Alterations in buried peptide residues may abolish structures important for MHC restriction resulting in loss of CTL recognition but this may also disrupt supertype conformations recognized by inhibitory Ly49, allowing NK cell

clearance of infected cells presenting these mutants. In support of this possibility, the peptides used in the experiments by Franksson et al. (40) that disrupted Ly49C recognition of H-2K<sup>b</sup> were all derived from viral sources and contained slight alterations in anchor binding residues. Such altered peptides may also result in slight alterations in conformation such that activating Ly49, highly homologous to the previously engaged inhibitory receptor, gain recognition for a slightly altered supertype structure.

Genetic expansion is a common feature of pathogen resistance genes (111, 112). The evolution of highly polymorphic MHC that maintain nine or 10 supertype conformations may allow organisms that evolve much more slowly than their infecting pathogens to "keep up" with pathogens while maintaining a minimal number of structures capable of mediating MHC restriction. The expansion of the Ly49 receptor repertoire is thought to be driven by the polymorphic nature of their MHC I ligands (113) but this was previously irreconcilable with the knowledge that Ly49 interact with a highly conserved interaction site on MHC I. If polymorphisms defining supertype-defined conformations on MHC I are responsible for mediating Ly49 allele specificity, then supertype motifs may also be mediating Ly49 gene expansion. The evolution of receptors that can distinguish between MHC I supertype motifs would be an efficient way for non-rearranging receptors such as Ly49 to differentiate between an extremely large repertoire of alleles expressed from an unlinked locus.

KIR may also have some reliance on supertype motifs since mutations in the Bpocket of HLA-B7 disrupted KIR recognition (53) and KIR3DL2 appears to recognize HLA of specific supertypes (54). Despite this, the interaction site between KIR and HLA does not occur near the B-pocket but nearer to the F-pocket although P7 and P8, not P9, residues are critical for KIR recognition of HLA alleles (54, 114, 115). Despite these apparent contradictions, KIR interaction near the TCR CDR2 $\beta$  interaction site with MHC I and KIR may have evolved to survey for MHC restriction motifs at the TCR V $\beta$ interaction site in combination with peptide.

The apparent convergent evolution of rat and mouse Ly49 to recognize MHC I alleles at site 2, which involves not only residues articulating with the supertype-defining pockets of the  $\alpha 1\alpha 2$  domains but also with residues in the  $\alpha 3$  domain and  $\beta 2m$ , suggests that these receptors may have an additional role in surveying for MHC I capable of

interacting with the co-stimulatory CD8 molecule that acts in concert with the TCR for optimal activation of CTL. Indeed, Ly49 receptors and CD8 share a number of residues in common for recognition of MHC I (116) and loss of residues critical to CD8 binding may also disrupt protection through inhibitory Ly49, thereby eliminating cells with defective ability to interact with CD8. In contrast, human KIR do not interact at this site and cannot survey for MHC I capable of interacting with CD8. Instead, LILRB1 that interacts with a number of MHC I alleles through their conserved  $\alpha$ 3 domain and  $\beta$ 2m, appears to mediate this function in human systems (117). Interestingly,  $\beta 2m$  in murine species contain conserved residues critical for Ly49 recognition that are not found in the  $\beta$ 2m of species that have not expanded the Ly49 locus (24). Additionally, mouse  $\beta$ 2m has been shown to have a uniquely flexible S4 strand compared to human and it is this strand that contains residues that articulate with the supertype-defining pockets of mouse MHC I, resulting in the variable orientation of  $\beta$ 2m between MHC I alleles (118). That mouse and not human  $\beta$ 2m contains this flexible motif resulting in allelic variation in  $\beta$ 2m positioning on MHC I, may add credence to our model that murine Ly49 rely on variable positioning of  $\beta 2m$  in the mediation of allele specificity whereas human KIR mediate allele specificity at a site distinct from  $\beta 2m$ . Whether rat shows this similar flexibility of  $\beta$ 2m between MHC I alleles, or alleles loaded with variable peptides, will require the examination of numerous MHC I alleles in this species and could provide additional support for our model.

## Functional Divergence in Rodents

Mouse and rat inhibitory Ly49 may have convergently evolved to recognize MHC I alleles based on supertype-defined conformations for the surveillance of MHC I capable of being recognized by MHC restricted TCR. It is unclear though, whether activating rat Ly49 receptors, which appear to predominantly recognize MHC Ia-like Ib molecules in the rat RT1-C/E/U, will be similarly restricted by supertype structures since only a limited number of Ib molecules have been demonstrated to present peptide to CTL (80, 84, 85). Some MHC Ib molecules in the rat have been shown to be expressed at reduced levels compared to MHC Ia due to the usage of promoter sequences similar to those found in the mouse H2-Q and H2-T Ib genes (86) that can be upregulated by paracrine

mediators (119). Therefore, rat activators may only come in to play upon upregulation of their ligands due to paracrine indicators of infection. This is in contrast to mouse activating Ly49 that appear to overcome dominate inhibitory signals upon paracrine stimulation without visible alteration in their ligands' density (120). There is also the possibility that rat activating Ly49 may recognize some MHC Ib molecules solely in the context of pathogen derived peptides through peptide induced  $\alpha 1\alpha 2$  domain conformations that determine Ly49 specificity. This of course is all speculative until more specific ligands can be identified for rat Ly49 and their ability to mediate CTL recognition is determined.

Rat and mouse Ly49 additionally appear to have diverged somewhat in their usage of residues at the Ly49 236, 238, 239 triad that interacts with residues at the Fsubsite of the MHC I molecule, seemingly anchoring the Ly49 into position. This could be due to the presence of two TAP alleles in the rat that can load a more diverse repertoire of residues into the F-pocket of MHC I and therefore potentially cause more conformational variability at the F-subsite. Additionally, the inability of identical single residue alterations in MHC I to disrupt recognition by Ly49i2, compared to Ly49G and other mouse alleles, indicates that rat Ly49 while similarly binding site 2 and relying on supertype conformations in the  $\alpha 1 \alpha 2$  domains, may rely more heavily on different residues at site 2 for recognition. If this is a consistent finding in rat Ly49 it will be further evidence for convergent evolution between Ly49 receptors of these two species to produce receptors capable of recognizing supertype motifs and MHC I capable of interacting with CD8, but relying on different overall orientations and/or residues in Ly49 to mediate this recognition.

While most of the possibilities mentioned here are somewhat speculative, they are worthy of consideration based on information both we and others have gathered and could form the basis for future work in the field to define the specific roles of, and mechanisms behind, Ly49 surveillance of "healthy" and "unhealthy" MHC I in two evolutionarily divergent rodent species.

#### **E.** Future Directions

While theories on convergent evolution can never be proven, many of the possibilities that our work on Ly49 allele specificity raises are indeed readily testable. These include such topics as the role of Ly49 in the surveillance of recognizable supertypes for CTL function, the roles of peptide and  $\beta$ 2m in mediating allele specific recognition and further characterization of rat Ly49 and their ligands. Additionally, the identification of a xenogeneic rat MHC I ligand for mouse Ly49 receptors allows further investigation into the role of NK cells in xenogeneic mixed chimerism.

#### Xeno-transplantation Studies

The possibility that natural xenogeneic MHC I ligands on donor HSC and tissues may mediate NK cell tolerance through recognition by allele specific donor Ly49 or KIR (depending on the species) is possibly best first examined through the ability of mice naturally expressing either the inhibitory Ly49G or activating Ly49W to reject interperitoneally introduced RT1-A1<sup>e</sup> expressing mouse derived tumour cells either more slowly or quickly, respectively, compared to identical but non-RT1-A1<sup>e</sup> expressing tumour cells. Additionally, it would be interesting to determine if a mouse concurrently expressing inhibitory Ly49G and activating Ly49W would demonstrate dominant inhibition toward RT1-A1<sup>e</sup> expressing tumour targets.

Harvesting HSC from PVG rats that naturally express RT1-A1<sup>e</sup> for implantation in Ly49G expressing BALB/c mice receiving a xenogeneic pre-conditioning regimen that does not include depletion of host NK cells, would determine if the Ly49G expressing subset in BALB/c is capable of facilitating acceptance of RT1-A1<sup>e</sup> expressing HSC and the generation of high levels of mixed chimerism in the absence of NK cell depletion. Although the initial subset of Ly49G expressing NK cells in BALB/c mice may be too small to facilitate the high levels of mixed chimerism seen with NK cell depletion regimens, NK depleted host mice should be assessed to see if the expression of RT1-A1<sup>e</sup> within a PVG/BALB/c mixed hematopoietic compartment would stimulate the production of a larger repertoire of Ly49G<sup>+</sup> NK cells through the stochastic expression of *Ly49* genes that appears to occur until a receptor capable of recognizing a "self" MHC I

ligand, RT1-A1<sup>°</sup> in this case, is expressed (121-124). BALB/c mice chimeric for PVG donor HCS could then be assessed for their ability to mediate long-term tolerance to subsequent RT1-A1<sup>°</sup> expressing tissue grafts compared to secondary grafts in traditional mixed chimerism experiments that use NK cell depletion instead of xenogeneic recognition to mediate NK tolerance.

As more xenogeneic ligands are identified, possibly through our now better understanding of mechanisms mediating allele specificity, mixed chimeras could be designed to determine what percentage of the NK cell repertoire needs to express an inhibitory receptor vs. activating receptors for the greatest induction of mixed chimerism and long-term tissue graft acceptance without immunosuppression. Xenogeneic ligands for KIR may also be found through closer examination of MHC I motifs shared between other KIR expressing species, through conservation of sequence or convergent evolution, allowing similar studies to those we propose in rat and mouse to occur between porcine and primate subjects that may apply to clinical studies in the future.

### Peptide Loading Studies

Our finding that the supertype-defining pockets of MHC I affect allele specific recognition by Ly49 generates additional questions that need to be answered. First, it would be interesting to examine the ligand repertoires of other Ly49 to see if they too fit into supertype groupings or if specificity relies on residues exclusively in the polymorphic anchor binding pocket of the MHC I. Additionally, complete "swapping" of anchor binding pockets between differentially recognized MHC I alleles to see if it results in a concurrent "swapping" of supertype, defined by peptide elution experiments, and transfer of Ly49 specificity from one MHC I allele to the other would lend further support to our model.

Second, since mutations deep in the B-pocket of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> created a shift toward the binding of secondary anchor residues or anchor residues of a completely different supertype in the B-pocket of these mutant molecules, it would interesting to artificially load peptides with variable anchors to cells expressing 'empty' RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> molecules and assess for their ability to mediate recognition by Ly49. Such an experiment would involve surface cleavage of endogenous RT1-A1<sup>c</sup>, proteasome inhibition and cellular growth at 26°C to permit assembly of RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> molecules at the cell surface that are receptive to added peptide. Since Orihuela et al. (34) were able to demonstrate Ly49A recognition of H-2D<sup>d</sup> loaded with the minimal anchor residue containing AGPAAAAAL peptide, it would be interesting to assess if minimal peptides capable of similarly stabilizing RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> at the cell surface but containing either dominant, secondary or even non-typicial residues at the P2 anchor position results in similar, reduced or disrupted Ly49 recognition. Such experiments would need to include the addition of murine serum instead of foetal calf serum to ensure that artefacts due to exchange of murine for bovine  $\beta$ 2m on MHC I did not obscure results as they may have previously for Ly49A recognition of H-2D<sup>b</sup> (21, 125). Such artefacts are due to the absence of Ly49 interaction residues in bovine  $\beta$ 2m and may include the potentially non-flexible nature of bovine  $\beta$ 2m in adopting the supertype and peptide mediated orientations that are seen in mouse and not human MHC I structures (118). Should such peptide loading experiments result in variable levels of Ly49 recognition it would be valuable to produce crystal structures (or Ly49/MHC I co-crystal structures where possible) of MHC I folded with minimal peptide to analyse if differences in the  $\beta 2m$  and  $\alpha 3$  domain orientation could explain the change in recognition. Furthermore, the creation of more co-crystals of variable MHC I/Ly49 allele combinations, starting with  $H-2D^{d}$  and  $H-2D^{k}$  with Ly49G, would allow us to assess more directly the differences in  $\beta 2m$  and  $\alpha 3$  domain orientation and Ly49 docking orientation compared to the co-crystals that are already in existence.

The activating Ly49P receptor, which is highly homologous to Ly49A but only recognizes H-2D<sup>d</sup> and not H-2D<sup>k</sup> under normal physiological conditions, can gain recognition of H-2D<sup>k</sup> upon MCMV infection (65). It would be interesting to elute peptides from both healthy non-recognized and recognized MCMV infected H-2D<sup>k</sup> expressing targets for comparison of the dominant anchor residues found in each scenario. Should a pattern be evident, similar loading experiments such as those described for RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> recognition in the previous paragraph, could provide the first evidence of a pathogenic peptide repertoire-induced gain of recognition by an activating Ly49 receptor. Additionally, assessment of whether H-2D<sup>k</sup>/MCMV peptide structures mediating Ly49P recognition simultaneously result in loss of Ly49A recognition would support the theory that homologous activating receptors gain recognition of their

homologous inhibitory counterpart's ligands upon pathogen-induced alterations of the peptide repertoire.

Finally, viral escape mutants have been identified for murine TCR that involve alterations in peptide residues buried within the peptide binding groove and inaccessible to the TCR (102, 126). It would be interesting to assess whether such escape mutants, particularly those involving resides within main or secondary anchor binding pockets, also result in the loss of recognition by inhibitory Ly49, or gain of recognition by their homologous activating counterparts. Such experiments would test the hypothesis that Ly49 receptors survey for changes in MHC I conformations that affect TCR recognition, particularly those pertaining to supertype-defining pockets.

#### Rat Studies

While we have produced the first, and extensive, analysis of the molecular mechanisms mediating rat Ly49 allele specific recognition of a rat MHC I molecule, there are many questions remaining to be addressed in this species. Although we unequivocally show that rat Ly49 interact with MHC I at site 2, the fact that we were unable to totally disrupt recognition of RT1-A1° by Ly49i2 through the same single mutants that disrupt mouse Ly49 recognition of MHC I, suggests that rat Ly49 may either be of greater affinity for MHC I, or that they have a slightly altered reliance on key residues for recognition at site 2. Biacore studies comparing the binding constants of rat Ly49i2 with RT1-A1<sup>e</sup> could determine if this Ly49, and perhaps rat Ly49 in general, interact with their ligands with greater affinity. Elimination of the extensive glycosylation found on Ly49i2 compared to mouse Ly49 by generation of these molecules in a bacterial system may obscure results and production of wild-type Ly49i2 and glycosylation mutants from a mammalian pituitary cell line would likely yield more interesting and physiologically relevant results. Additional mutagenesis studies may define more critical residues mediating rat Ly49 recognition at site 2 and clues to these residues may be gleaned from examination of the slightly altered Ly49 236, 238, 239 triads found in rat Ly49 that interact at the F-subsite of MHC I and the variable  $\beta 2$ - $\beta 2$ ' and  $\beta 4$ - $\beta 5$  loop sequences found in rat Ly49 that may differentially interact with conserved residues in the  $\alpha$ 3 domain. Additionally, although little is known of the interaction between rat Ly49

and  $\beta$ 2m the presence of the conserved K3 and Q29 residues found solely in rodent  $\beta$ 2m molecules and the altered orientation seen between the two known allele structures of RT1-A (127) hints that like mouse, rat Ly49 may too rely on residues in  $\beta$ 2m and  $\beta$ 2m orientation for recognition. While mutagenesis of  $\beta$ 2m residues implicated in mouse Ly49 recognition would determine whether rats and mice similarly rely on residues in  $\beta$ 2m for Ly49 recognition, co-crystal structures of Ly49i2 and RT1-A1° and other rat allele combinations as they are identified, would be of greatest value in understanding the role of  $\beta$ 2m orientation in rat and mouse systems.

The discovery of more rat Ly49/MHC I allele combinations, possibly with the aid of our findings describing the motifs mediating recognition, and the development of additional rat Ly49 and MHC Ib specific antibodies will facilitate additional functional experiments in this species similar to those already described for mouse and with Ly49i2 and RT1-A1<sup>c</sup>. Such experiments could include describing whether rat Ly49 that recognize MHC Ib do so in the context of supertype surveillance for CTL recognition, as may be the case for mouse and rat Ly49 recognition of MHC Ia, or if recognition is mediated solely by up-regulation of Ib ligands during infection. Elution of peptides from MHC Ib molecules in the rat may also define a role for Ly49 in recognizing MHC Ib molecules solely in the context of pathogenic peptide.

## **F.** Conclusion

By identifying a xenogeneic MHC I ligand for mouse Ly49, we were not only able to contribute to the field of Ly49 allele specificity but also to the field of xenogeneic mixed chimerism in studies of transplantation. Additionally, we map in detail for the first time, the interaction site mediating rat Ly49 recognition of rat MHC I. Not only have we clearly demonstrated the role of the polymorphic anchor-binding and supertype-defining B-pocket in mediating allele specific recognition we have also demonstrated variable reliance by Ly49 on residues at site 2 and have been able to propose a viable and comprehensive mechanism, substantiated by examination of previously published work and our own findings, mediating allele specific interactions between Ly49 and MHC I both in mouse and rat systems.



FIGURE 5-1. Cartoon depiction of how conformational changes in the  $\alpha 1 \alpha 2$  domains, particularly in the supertype-defining B-pocket, may alter MHC I recognition by allele specific Ly49 at a highly conserved interaction site. Polymorphic anchor binding pockets (B1 and B2) articulate with  $\beta 2m$  altering its orientation on MHC I ( $\beta 2m1$  and  $\beta 2m2$ , respectively) and may also affect the orientation of the  $\alpha 3$  domain (C1 and C2, respectively). The conserved 236, 238, 239 triad in Ly49 anchors receptors at subsite F (yellow) but Ly49 are differentially placed at subsite B and C due to differential  $\beta 2m$  and  $\alpha 3$  domain orientations. Ly491 has polymorphic loops capable of interacting specifically with the MHC I allele 1 orientation while Ly492 has the polymorphic loops required to interact specifically with the MHC I allele 2 orientation.

А



FIGURE 5-2. Creation of xenogeneic mixed chimeras. A, Generation of mixed chimerism using mouse strains that do no express an inhibitory Ly49 capable of interacting with rat MHC I is possible by using NK cell depletion in the pre-transplant regimen but does not result in long term graft acceptance or high levels of chimerism likely due to re-emergence of NK cells incapable of recognizing MHC I on donor tissues. B, The expression of inhibitory Ly49G in BALB/c mice may induce NK cell tolerance and facilitate greater levels of chimerism and long-term tissue graft acceptance from PVG donor rats through recognition of the RT1-A1° MHC I molecule on rat cells without the need for NK cell depletion.



**FIGURE 5-3.** T cell receptor (TCR) interaction with MHC I. A, Side view of the TCR interaction with MHC I (slate blue) showing how it contacts the  $\alpha 1\alpha 2$  domains from above with the TCR V $\alpha$  domain (*red*) interacting with residues associated with the P2 peptide anchor-binding B-pocket (*pink spheres*). *B*, Top view of the TCR interacting with MHC I showing the TCR V $\alpha$  domain (*red*) position directly above the B-pocket. *C*, Transverse view along the length of the peptide-binding groove showing how the CDR1 $\alpha$  (*navy*) and CDR2 $\alpha$  (*purple*) loops predominantly interact with B-pocket associated residues in MHC and the CDR3 $\alpha$  (*orange*) loop with peptide (*yellow*). Only the V $\alpha$  (*red*) and V $\beta$  (*green*) domains of TCR are shown.  $\beta$ 2-microglobulin ( $\beta$ 2m) is shown in grey. The dominant TCR interaction residue in MHC I is depicted in dark pink.

# **G. References**

- Dimasi, N., and R. Biassoni. 2005. Structural and functional aspects of the Ly49 natural killer cell receptors. *Immunol. Cell Biol.* 83: 1-8.
- Silver, E. T., K. J. Lavender, D. E. Gong, B. Hazes, and K. P. Kane. 2002. Allelic variation in the ectodomain of the inhibitory Ly-49G2 receptor alters its specificity for allogeneic and xenogeneic ligands. *J. Immunol.* 169: 4752-4760.
- Silver, E. T., D. Gong, B. Hazes, and K. P. Kane. 2001. Ly-49W, an activating receptor of nonobese diabetic mice with close homology to the inhibitory receptor Ly-49G, recognizes H-2D(k) and H-2D(d). *J. Immunol. 166: 2333-2341*.
- Silver, E. T., D. E. Gong, C. S. Chang, A. Amrani, P. Santamaria, and K. P. Kane.
   2000. Ly-49P activates NK-mediated lysis by recognizing H-2D<sup>d</sup>. J. Immunol.
   165: 1771-1781.
- Naper, C., S. Hayashi, E. Joly, G. W. Butcher, B. Rolstad, J. T. Vaage, and J. C. Ryan. 2002. Ly49i2 is an inhibitory rat natural killer cell receptor for an MHC class Ia molecule (RT1-A1<sup>°</sup>). *Eur. J. Immunol. 32: 2031-2036*.
- Petersson, E., R. Holmdahl, G. W. Butcher, and G. Hedlund. 1999. Activation and selection of NK cells via recognition of an allogeneic, non-classical MHC class I molecule, RT1-E. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 29: 3663-3673.
- Kveberg, L., K. Z. Dai, E. Dissen, J. C. Ryan, B. Rolstad, J. T. Vaage, and C. Naper. 2006. Strain-dependent expression of four structurally related rat Ly49 receptors; correlation with NK gene complex haplotype and NK alloreactivity. *Immunogenetics*.
- Rolstad, B., C. Naper, G. Lovik, J. T. Vaage, J. C. Ryan, E. Backman-Petersson,
   R. D. Kirsch, and G. W. Butcher. 2001. Rat natural killer cell receptor systems and recognition of MHC class I molecules. *Immunol. Rev.* 181: 149-157.
- Vaage, J. T., C. Naper, G. Lovik, D. Lambracht, A. Rehm, H. J. Hedrich, K. Wonigeit, and B. Rolstad. 1994. Control of rat natural killer cell-mediated allorecognition by a major histocompatibility complex region encoding nonclassical class I antigens. J. Exp. Med. 180: 641-651.
- 10. Lotzova, E., K. A. Dicke, J. J. Trentin, and M. T. Gallagher. 1977. Genetic control of bone marrow transplantation in irradiated mice: classification of mouse

strains according to their responsiveness to bone marrow allografts and xenografts. *Transplant Proc. 9: 289-292.* 

- Trentin, J. J., J. M. Rauchwerger, and M. T. Gallagher. 1973. Genetic resistance to marrow transplantation. *Biomedicine* 18: 86-88.
- Datta, S. K., M. T. Gallagher, J. J. Trentin, R. Kiessling, and H. Wigzell. 1979. Apparent identity of mechanisms of genetic resistance to marrow transplantation and natural killer cell activity. *Biomedicine 31:* 62-66.
- Mason, L. H. 2000. Recognition of CHO cells by inhibitory and activating Ly-49 receptors. J. Leukoc. Biol. 68: 583-586.
- Furukawa, H., K. Iizuka, J. Poursine-Laurent, N. Shastri, and W. M. Yokoyama.
   2002. A ligand for the murine NK activation receptor Ly-49D: activation of tolerized NK cells from beta 2-microglobulin-deficient mice. J. Immunol. 169: 126-136.
- Idris, A. H., H. R. Smith, L. H. Mason, J. R. Ortaldo, A. A. Scalzo, and W. M. Yokoyama. 1999. The natural killer gene complex genetic locus Chok encodes Ly-49D, a target recognition receptor that activates natural killing. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 96: 6330-6335.*
- Nakamura, M. C., C. Naper, E. C. Niemi, S. C. Spusta, B. Rolstad, G. W. Butcher, W. E. Seaman, and J. C. Ryan. 1999. Natural killing of xenogeneic cells mediated by the mouse Ly-49D receptor. *J. Immunol. 163: 4694-4700*.
- Naper, C., S. Hayashi, L. Kveberg, E. C. Niemi, L. L. Lanier, J. T. Vaage, and J. C. Ryan. 2002. Ly-49s3 is a promiscuous activating rat NK cell receptor for nonclassical MHC class I-encoded target ligands. *J. Immunol. 169: 22-30.*
- Nakamura, M. C., S. Hayashi, E. C. Niemi, J. C. Ryan, and W. E. Seaman. 2000. Activating Ly-49D and inhibitory Ly-49A natural killer cell receptors demonstrate distinct requirements for interaction with H2-D<sup>(d)</sup>. *J. Exp. Med. 192:* 447-454.
- Matsumoto, N., M. Mitsuki, K. Tajima, W. M. Yokoyama, and K. Yamamoto.
   2001. The Functional Binding Site for the C-type Lectin-like Natural Killer Cell Receptor Ly49A Spans Three Domains of Its Major Histocompatibility Complex Class I Ligand. J. Exp. Med. 193: 147-158.

- Matsumoto, N., W. M. Yokoyama, S. Kojima, and K. Yamamoto. 2001. The NK cell MHC class I receptor Ly49A detects mutations on H-2D<sup>d</sup> inside and outside of the peptide binding groove. *J. Immunol. 166: 4422-4428*.
- Chung, D. H., K. Natarajan, L. F. Boyd, J. Tormo, R. A. Mariuzza, W. M. Yokoyama, and D. H. Margulies. 2000. Mapping the ligand of the NK inhibitory receptor Ly49A on living cells. *J. Immunol. 165: 6922-6932*.
- Wang, J., M. C. Whitman, K. Natarajan, J. Tormo, R. A. Mariuzza, and D. H. Margulies. 2002. Binding of the natural killer cell inhibitory receptor Ly49A to its major histocompatibility complex class I ligand. Crucial contacts include both H-2D<sup>d</sup> AND beta 2-microglobulin. J. Biol. Chem. 277: 1433-1442.
- Michaelsson, J., A. Achour, A. Rolle, and K. Karre. 2001. MHC class I recognition by NK receptors in the Ly49 family is strongly influenced by the beta 2-microglobulin subunit. *J. Immunol. 166: 7327-7334*.
- Mitsuki, M., N. Matsumoto, and K. Yamamoto. 2004. A species-specific determinant on beta2-microglobulin required for Ly49A recognition of its MHC class I ligand. *Int. Immunol. 16: 197-204*.
- 25. Tormo, J., K. Natarajan, D. H. Margulies, and R. A. Mariuzza. 1999. Crystal structure of a lectin-like natural killer cell receptor bound to its MHC class I ligand. *Nature 402: 623-631*.
- 26. Dam, J., R. Guan, K. Natarajan, N. Dimasi, L. K. Chlewicki, D. M. Kranz, P. Schuck, D. H. Margulies, and R. A. Mariuzza. 2003. Variable MHC class I engagement by Ly49 natural killer cell receptors demonstrated by the crystal structure of Ly49C bound to H-2K(b). *Nat. Immunol.* 4: 1213-1222.
- Mehta, I. K., J. Wang, J. Roland, D. H. Margulies, and W. M. Yokoyama. 2001. Ly49A allelic variation and MHC class I specificity. *Immunogenetics* 53: 572-583.
- Lian, R. H., Y. Li, S. Kubota, D. L. Mager, and F. Takei. 1999. Recognition of class I MHC by NK receptor Ly-49C: identification of critical residues. J. *Immunol.* 162: 7271-7276.

- 29. Ma, B. J., E. T. Silver, B. Hazes, and K. P. Kane. 2003. Reciprocal transfer of class I MHC allele specificity between activating Ly-49P and Ly-49W receptors by exchange of beta 4-beta 5 loop residues. *J. Immunol.* 171: 5337-5344.
- Sundback, J., A. Achour, J. Michaelsson, H. Lindstrom, and K. Karre. 2002. NK cell inhibitory receptor Ly-49C residues involved in MHC class I binding. J. Immunol. 168: 793-800.
- Lavender, K. J., B. J. Ma, E. T. Silver, and K. P. Kane. 2004. The rat RT1-A1<sup>c</sup> MHC molecule is a xenogeneic ligand recognized by the mouse activating Ly-49W and inhibitory Ly-49G receptors. *J. Immunol.* 172: 3518-3526.
- Karlhofer, F. M., R. K. Ribaudo, and W. M. Yokoyama. 1992. MHC class I alloantigen specificity of Ly-49+ IL-2-activated natural killer cells. *Nature 358:* 66-70.
- 33. Kane, K. P. 1994. Ly-49 mediates EL4 lymphoma adhesion to isolated class I major histocompatibility complex molecules. *J. Exp. Med.* 179: 1011-1015.
- Orihuela, M., D. H. Margulies, and W. M. Yokoyama. 1996. The natural killer cell receptor Ly-49A recognizes a peptide-induced conformational determinant on its major histocompatibility complex class I ligand. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 93: 11792-11797.
- Sundback, J., M. C. Nakamura, M. Waldenstrom, E. C. Niemi, W. E. Seaman, J. C. Ryan, and K. Karre. 1998. The alpha2 domain of H-2D<sup>d</sup> restricts the allelic specificity of the murine NK cell inhibitory receptor Ly-49A. *J. Immunol. 160: 5971-5978*.
- Matsumoto, N., R. K. Ribaudo, J. P. Abastado, D. H. Margulies, and W. M. Yokoyama. 1998. The lectin-like NK cell receptor Ly-49A recognizes a carbohydrate- independent epitope on its MHC class I ligand. *Immunity 8: 245-254*.
- Sentman, C. L., M. Y. Olsson, M. Salcedo, P. Hoglund, U. Lendahl, and K. Karre. 1994. H-2 allele-specific protection from NK cell lysis in vitro for lymphoblasts but not tumor targets. Protection mediated by alpha1/alpha2 domains. J. Immunol. 153: 5482-5490.

- Lavender, K. J., and K. P. Kane. 2006. Cross-species dependence of Ly49 recognition on the supertype defining B-pocket of a class I MHC molecule. J. Immunol. 177: 8578-8586.
- Correa, I., and D. Raulet. 1995. Binding of diverse peptides to MHC class I molecules inhibits target cell lysis by activated natural killer cells. *Immunity 2:* 61-71.
- Franksson, L., J. Sundback, A. Achour, J. Bernlind, R. Glas, and K. Karre. 1999.
   Peptide dependency and selectivity of the NK cell inhibitory receptor Ly-49C.
   *Eur. J. Immunol.* 29: 2748-2758.
- Smith, R. A., N. B. Myers, M. Robinson, T. H. Hansen, and D. R. Lee. 2002.
  Polymorphism at position 97 in MHC class I molecules affects peptide specificity, cell surface stability, and affinity for beta2-microglobulin. *J. Immunol. 169: 3105-3111*.
- Ribaudo, R. K., and D. H. Margulies. 1995. Polymorphism at position nine of the MHC class I heavy chain affects the stability of association with beta 2-microglobulin and presentation of a viral peptide. J. Immunol. 155: 3481-3493.
- Achour, A., J. Michaelsson, R. A. Harris, H. G. Ljunggren, K. Karre, G. Schneider, and T. Sandalova. 2006. Structural basis of the differential stability and receptor specificity of H-2D<sup>b</sup> in complex with murine versus human beta2-microglobulin. *J. Mol. Biol.* 356: 382-396.
- 44. Sykes, M. 2001. Mixed chimerism and transplant tolerance. *Immunity 14: 417-424*.
- 45. Nikolic, B., D. T. Cooke, G. Zhao, and M. Sykes. 2001. Both gamma delta T cells and NK cells inhibit the engraftment of xenogeneic rat bone marrow cells and the induction of xenograft tolerance in mice. *J. Immunol.* 166: 1398-1404.
- Sharabi, Y., I. Aksentijevich, T. M. Sundt, 3rd, D. H. Sachs, and M. Sykes. 1990. Specific tolerance induction across a xenogeneic barrier: production of mixed rat/mouse lymphohematopoietic chimeras using a nonlethal preparative regimen. *J. Exp. Med.* 172: 195-202.
- 47. Manilay, J. O., and M. Sykes. 1998. Natural killer cells and their role in graft rejection. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* 10: 532-538.

- 48. Sykes, M., and D. H. Sachs. 2001. Mixed chimerism. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B. Biol. Sci. 356: 707-726.*
- Good, A. H., D. K. Cooper, A. J. Malcolm, R. M. Ippolito, E. Koren, F. A. Neethling, Y. Ye, N. Zuhdi, and L. R. Lamontagne. 1992. Identification of carbohydrate structures that bind human antiporcine antibodies: implications for discordant xenografting in humans. *Transplant Proc.* 24: 559-562.
- 50. Yang, Y. G., E. deGoma, H. Ohdan, J. L. Bracy, Y. Xu, J. Iacomini, A. D. Thall, and M. Sykes. 1998. Tolerization of anti-Galalpha1-3Gal natural antibody-forming B cells by induction of mixed chimerism. *J. Exp. Med.* 187: 1335-1342.
- Ohdan, H., Y. G. Yang, A. Shimizu, K. G. Swenson, and M. Sykes. 1999. Mixed chimerism induced without lethal conditioning prevents T cell- and anti-Gal alpha 1,3Gal-mediated graft rejection. J. Clin. Invest. 104: 281-290.
- 52. Seebach, J. D., C. Comrack, S. Germana, C. LeGuern, D. H. Sachs, and H. DerSimonian. 1997. HLA-Cw3 expression on porcine endothelial cells protects against xenogeneic cytotoxicity mediated by a subset of human NK cells. J. Immunol. 159: 3655-3661.
- 53. Kurago, Z. B., K. D. Smith, and C. T. Lutz. 1995. NK cell recognition of MHC class I. NK cells are sensitive to peptide-binding groove and surface alpha-helical mutations that affect T cells. J. Immunol. 154: 2631-2641.
- Hansasuta, P., T. Dong, H. Thananchai, M. Weekes, C. Willberg, H. Aldemir, S. Rowland-Jones, and V. M. Braud. 2004. Recognition of HLA-A3 and HLA-A11 by KIR3DL2 is peptide-specific. *Eur. J. Immunol. 34: 1673-1679.*
- Khakoo, S. I., R. Rajalingam, B. P. Shum, K. Weidenbach, L. Flodin, D. G. Muir, F. Canavez, S. L. Cooper, N. M. Valiante, L. L. Lanier, and P. Parham. 2000.
   Rapid evolution of NK cell receptor systems demonstrated by comparison of chimpanzees and humans. *Immunity 12: 687-698*.
- Mason, L. H., J. R. Ortaldo, H. A. Young, V. Kumar, M. Bennett, and S. K. Anderson. 1995. Cloning and functional characteristics of murine large granular lymphocyte-1: a member of the Ly-49 gene family (Ly-49G2). J. Exp. Med. 182: 293-303.

- 57. Hanke, T., H. Takizawa, C. W. McMahon, D. H. Busch, E. G. Pamer, J. D.
  Miller, J. D. Altman, Y. Liu, D. Cado, F. A. Lemonnier, P. J. Bjorkman, and D.
  H. Raulet. 1999. Direct assessment of MHC class I binding by seven Ly49
  inhibitory NK cell receptors. *Immunity 11: 67-77*.
- Nakamura, M. C., P. A. Linnemeyer, E. C. Niemi, L. H. Mason, J. R. Ortaldo, J. C. Ryan, and W. E. Seaman. 1999. Mouse Ly-49D recognizes H-2D<sup>d</sup> and activates natural killer cell cytotoxicity. *J. Exp. Med.* 189: 493-500.
- 59. Lundberg, P., P. Welander, H. Openshaw, C. Nalbandian, C. Edwards, L. Moldawer, and E. Cantin. 2003. A locus on mouse chromosome 6 that determines resistance to herpes simplex virus also influences reactivation, while an unlinked locus augments resistance of female mice. J. Virol. 77: 11661-11673.
- Brown, M. G., S. Fulmek, K. Matsumoto, R. Cho, P. A. Lyons, E. R. Levy, A. A. Scalzo, and W. M. Yokoyama. 1997. A 2-Mb YAC contig and physical map of the natural killer gene complex on mouse chromosome 6. *Genomics* 42: 16-25.
- Iizuka, K., O. V. Naidenko, B. F. Plougastel, D. H. Fremont, and W. M. Yokoyama. 2003. Genetically linked C-type lectin-related ligands for the NKRP1 family of natural killer cell receptors. *Nat. Immunol. 4: 801-807*.
- Arase, H., E. S. Mocarski, A. E. Campbell, A. B. Hill, and L. L. Lanier. 2002. Direct recognition of cytomegalovirus by activating and inhibitory NK cell receptors. *Science 296: 1323-1326*.
- 63. Voigt, V., C. A. Forbes, J. N. Tonkin, M. A. Degli-Esposti, H. R. Smith, W. M. Yokoyama, and A. A. Scalzo. 2003. Murine cytomegalovirus m157 mutation and variation leads to immune evasion of natural killer cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 100: 13483-13488.*
- 64. Adam, S. G., A. Caraux, N. Fodil-Cornu, J. C. Loredo-Osti, S. Lesjean-Pottier, J. Jaubert, I. Bubic, S. Jonjic, J. L. Guenet, S. M. Vidal, and F. Colucci. 2006.
  Cmv4, a new locus linked to the NK cell gene complex, controls innate resistance to cytomegalovirus in wild-derived mice. J. Immunol. 176: 5478-5485.
- Desrosiers, M. P., A. Kielczewska, J. C. Loredo-Osti, S. G. Adam, A. P.
   Makrigiannis, S. Lemieux, T. Pham, M. B. Lodoen, K. Morgan, L. L. Lanier, and
   S. M. Vidal. 2005. Epistasis between mouse Klra and major histocompatibility

complex class I loci is associated with a new mechanism of natural killer cellmediated innate resistance to cytomegalovirus infection. *Nat. Genet.* 37: 593-599.

- 66. Beck, S., and B. G. Barrell. 1988. Human cytomegalovirus encodes a glycoprotein homologous to MHC class-I antigens. *Nature 331: 269-272*.
- Senkevich, T. G., J. J. Bugert, J. R. Sisler, E. V. Koonin, G. Darai, and B. Moss.
   1996. Genome sequence of a human tumorigenic poxvirus: prediction of specific host response-evasion genes. *Science* 273: 813-816.
- Cosman, D., N. Fanger, L. Borges, M. Kubin, W. Chin, L. Peterson, and M. L. Hsu. 1997. A novel immunoglobulin superfamily receptor for cellular and viral MHC class I molecules. *Immunity 7: 273-282*.
- Martin, M. P., X. Gao, J. H. Lee, G. W. Nelson, R. Detels, J. J. Goedert, S. Buchbinder, K. Hoots, D. Vlahov, J. Trowsdale, M. Wilson, S. J. O'Brien, and M. Carrington. 2002. Epistatic interaction between KIR3DS1 and HLA-B delays the progression to AIDS. *Nat. Genet.* 31: 429-434.
- Nylenna, O., C. Naper, J. T. Vaage, P. Y. Woon, D. Gauguier, E. Dissen, J. C. Ryan, and S. Fossum. 2005. The genes and gene organization of the Ly49 region of the rat natural killer cell gene complex. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 35: 261-272.
- 71. Wilhelm, B. T., and D. L. Mager. 2004. Rapid expansion of the Ly49 gene cluster in rat. *Genomics* 84: 218-221.
- 72. Hao, L., and M. Nei. 2004. Genomic organization and evolutionary analysis of Ly49 genes encoding the rodent natural killer cell receptors: rapid evolution by repeated gene duplication. *Immunogenetics* 56: 343-354.
- Dissen, E., J. C. Ryan, W. E. Seaman, and S. Fossum. 1996. An autosomal dominant locus, Nka, mapping to the Ly-49 region of a rat natural killer (NK) gene complex, controls NK cell lysis of allogeneic lymphocytes. *J. Exp. Med.* 183: 2197-2207.
- 74. Naper, C., B. Rolstad, K. Wonigeit, G. W. Butcher, and J. T. Vaage. 1996. Genes in two MHC class I regions control recognition of a single rat NK cell allodeterminant. *Int. Immunol.* 8: 1779-1785.

- Naper, C., J. T. Vaage, D. Lambracht, G. Lovik, G. W. Butcher, K. Wonigeit, and B. Rolstad. 1995. Alloreactive natural killer cells in the rat: complex genetics of major histocompatibility complex control. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 25: 1249-1256.
- Naper, C., J. C. Ryan, M. C. Nakamura, D. Lambracht, B. Rolstad, and J. T. Vaage. 1998. Identification of an inhibitory MHC receptor on alloreactive rat natural killer cells. *J. Immunol. 160: 219-224*.
- 77. Rolstad, B., J. T. Vaage, C. Naper, D. Lambracht, K. Wonigeit, E. Joly, and G.
  W. Butcher. 1997. Positive and negative MHC class I recognition by rat NK cells. *Immunol. Rev. 155: 91-104.*
- Naper, C., J. C. Ryan, R. Kirsch, G. W. Butcher, B. Rolstad, and J. T. Vaage.
   1999. Genes in two major histocompatibility complex class I regions control selection, phenotype, and function of a rat Ly-49 natural killer cell subset. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 29: 2046-2053.
- 79. Ryan, J. C., and W. E. Seaman. 1997. Divergent functions of lectin-like receptors on NK cells. *Immunol. Rev. 155: 79-89.*
- Leong, L. Y., A. F. Le Rolle, E. V. Deverson, S. J. Powis, A. P. Larkins, J. T. Vaage, A. Stokland, D. Lambracht-Washington, B. Rolstad, E. Joly, and G. W. Butcher. 1999. RT1-U: identification of a novel, active, class Ib alloantigen of the rat MHC. J. Immunol. 162: 743-752.
- Backman-Petersson, E., G. W. Butcher, and G. Hedlund. 2000. Self-MHC class Ia (RT1-A(n)) protects cells co-expressing the activatory allogeneic MHC class Ib molecule (RT1-E(u)) from NK lysis. *Int. Immunol. 12: 843-850*.
- Kraus, E., D. Lambracht, K. Wonigeit, and T. Hunig. 1996. Negative regulation of rat natural killer cell activity by major histocompatibility complex class I recognition. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 26: 2582-2586.
- 83. Jonges, L. E., K. M. Giezeman-Smits, R. L. van Vlierberghe, N. G. Ensink, M. Hagenaars, E. Joly, A. M. Eggermont, C. J. van de Velde, G. J. Fleuren, and P. J. Kuppen. 2000. NK cells modulate MHC class I expression on tumor cells and their susceptibility to lysis. *Immunobiology 202: 326-338*.

- 84. Kohoutava, M., E. Gunther, and O. Stark. 1980. Genetic definition of a further gene region and identification of at least three different histocompatibility genes in the rat major histocompatibility system. *Immunogenetics 11: 483-490*.
- 85. Stephenson, S. P., and G. W. Butcher. 1984. The new recombinant haplotypes r19 and r20 in RT1, the MHC of the rat. *Transplantation 38: 71-75*.
- 86. Lambracht-Washington, D., H. Duvel, L. Hanisch, A. Dinkel, and K. Wonigeit.
  2004. RT1.L: a family of MHC Ib genes of the rat major histocompatibility complex with a distinct promoter structure. *Immunogenetics 56: 28-37*.
- 87. Gill, T. J., 3rd, G. J. Smith, R. W. Wissler, and H. W. Kunz. 1989. The rat as an experimental animal. *Science* 245: 269-276.
- Jacob, H. J. 1999. Functional genomics and rat models. *Genome Res. 9: 1013-1016.*
- Mattsson, L., L. Klareskog, and J. C. Lorentzen. 1999. Susceptibility of rats to homologous collagen-induced arthritis depends on MHC genes in the class II region. *Transplant Proc.* 31: 1594-1596.
- Weissert, R., E. Wallstrom, M. K. Storch, A. Stefferl, J. Lorentzen, H. Lassmann,
   C. Linington, and T. Olsson. 1998. MHC haplotype-dependent regulation of MOG-induced EAE in rats. J. Clin. Invest. 102: 1265-1273.
- 91. Stefferl, A., U. Brehm, M. Storch, D. Lambracht-Washington, C. Bourquin, K. Wonigeit, H. Lassmann, and C. Linington. 1999. Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein induces experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in the "resistant" Brown Norway rat: disease susceptibility is determined by MHC and MHC-linked effects on the B cell response. J. Immunol. 163: 40-49.
- Parfrey, N. A., G. J. Prud'homme, E. Colle, A. Fuks, T. A. Seemayer, R. D. Guttmann, and S. J. Ono. 1989. Immunologic and genetic studies of diabetes in the BB rat. *Crit. Rev. Immunol. 9: 45-65.*
- 93. Smeltz, R. B., N. A. Wolf, and R. H. Swanborg. 1999. Inhibition of autoimmune T cell responses in the DA rat by bone marrow-derived NK cells in vitro: implications for autoimmunity. J. Immunol. 163: 1390-1397.
- 94. Johansson, S., H. Hall, L. Berg, and P. Hoglund. 2006. NK cells in autoimmune disease. *Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunol.* 298: 259-277.

- 95. Sette, A., J. Sidney, B. D. Livingston, J. L. Dzuris, C. Crimi, C. M. Walker, S. Southwood, E. J. Collins, and A. L. Hughes. 2003. Class I molecules with similar peptide-binding specificities are the result of both common ancestry and convergent evolution. *Immunogenetics* 54: 830-841.
- 96. Rudolph, M. G., R. L. Stanfield, and I. A. Wilson. 2006. How TCRs bind MHCs, peptides, and coreceptors. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 24: 419-466.
- 97. Rudolph, M. G., and I. A. Wilson. 2002. The specificity of TCR/pMHC interaction. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* 14: 52-65.
- 98. Garcia, K. C., M. Degano, L. R. Pease, M. Huang, P. A. Peterson, and e. al. 1998. Structural basis of plasticity in T cell receptor recognition of a self peptide-MHC antigen. *Science* 279: 1166-1172.
- 99. Buslepp, J., H. Wang, W. E. Biddison, E. Appella, and E. J. Collins. 2003. A correlation between TCR Valpha docking on MHC and CD8 dependence: implications for T cell selection. *Immunity* 19: 595-606.
- Hengel, H., K. Burke, D. Kyburz, R. M. Zinkernagel, and U. H. Koszinowski.
   1995. Peptides control the gain and loss of allele specificity by mutated MHC class I molecules. *J. Immunol.* 154: 4557-4564.
- 101. Rudolph, M. G., J. A. Speir, A. Brunmark, N. Mattsson, M. R. Jackson, P. A. Peterson, L. Teyton, and I. A. Wilson. 2001. The crystal structures of K(bm1) and K(bm8) reveal that subtle changes in the peptide environment impact thermostability and alloreactivity. *Immunity* 14: 231-242.
- 102. Velloso, L. M., J. Michaelsson, H. G. Ljunggren, G. Schneider, and A. Achour.
   2004. Determination of structural principles underlying three different modes of lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus escape from CTL recognition. J. Immunol. 172: 5504-5511.
- 103. Sette, A., and J. Sidney. 1998. HLA supertypes and supermotifs: a functional perspective on HLA polymorphism. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* 10: 478-482.
- Sidney, J., M. F. del Guercio, S. Southwood, V. H. Engelhard, E. Appella, H. G. Rammensee, K. Falk, O. Rotzschke, M. Takiguchi, R. T. Kubo, and et al. 1995.
  Several HLA alleles share overlapping peptide specificities. *J. Immunol. 154:* 247-259.

- Sette, A., and J. Sidney. 1999. Nine major HLA class I supertypes account for the vast preponderance of HLA-A and -B polymorphism. *Immunogenetics 50: 201-212*.
- 106. Niedermann, G., E. Geier, M. Lucchiari-Hartz, N. Hitziger, A. Ramsperger, and K. Eichmann. 1999. The specificity of proteasomes: impact on MHC class I processing and presentation of antigens. *Immunol. Rev. 172: 29-48*.
- Brouwenstijn, N., T. Serwold, and N. Shastri. 2001. MHC class I molecules can direct proteolytic cleavage of antigenic precursors in the endoplasmic reticulum. *Immunity* 15: 95-104.
- Joly, E., A. F. Le Rolle, A. L. Gonzalez, B. Mehling, J. Stevens, W. J. Coadwell, T. Hunig, J. C. Howard, and G. W. Butcher. 1998. Co-evolution of rat TAP transporters and MHC class I RT1-A molecules. *Curr. Biol. 8: 169-172*.
- Dong, T., G. Stewart-Jones, N. Chen, P. Easterbrook, X. Xu, L. Papagno, and e. al. 2004. HIV-specific cytotoxic T cells from long-term survivors select a unique T cell receptor. J. Exp. Med. 200: 1547-1557.
- 110. Jones, N. A., X. Wei, D. R. Flower, M. Wong, F. Michor, M. S. Saag, B. H. Hahn, M. A. Nowak, G. M. Shaw, and P. Borrow. 2004. Determinants of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 escape from the primary CD8+ cytotoxic T lymphocyte response. J. Exp. Med. 200: 1243-1256.
- Nei, M., and A. P. Rooney. 2005. Concerted and birth-and-death evolution of multigene families. *Annu. Rev. Genet.* 39: 121-152.
- Michelmore, R. W., and B. C. Meyers. 1998. Clusters of resistance genes in plants evolve by divergent selection and a birth-and-death process. *Genome Res.* 8: 1113-1130.
- 113. Barten, R., M. Torkar, A. Haude, J. Trowsdale, and M. J. Wilson. 2001. Divergent and convergent evolution of NK-cell receptors. *Trends Immunol.* 22: 52-57.
- Peruzzi, M., K. C. Parker, E. O. Long, and M. S. Malnati. 1996. Peptide sequence requirements for the recognition of HLA-B\*2705 by specific natural killer cells. *J. Immunol. 157: 3350-3356.*

- 115. Rajagopalan, S., and E. O. Long. 1997. The direct binding of a p58 killer cell inhibitory receptor to human histocompatibility leukocyte antigen (HLA)-Cw4 exhibits peptide selectivity. J. Exp. Med. 185: 1523-1528.
- 116. Kern, P. S., M. K. Teng, A. Smolyar, J. H. Liu, J. Liu, R. E. Hussey, R. Spoerl, H. C. Chang, E. L. Reinherz, and J. H. Wang. 1998. Structural basis of CD8 coreceptor function revealed by crystallographic analysis of a murine CD8αα ectodomain fragment in complex with H-2K<sup>b</sup>. *Immunity 9: 519-530*.
- 117. Willcox, B. E., L. M. Thomas, and P. J. Bjorkman. 2003. Crystal structure of HLA-A2 bound to LIR-1, a host and viral major histocompatibility complex receptor. *Nat. Immunol.* 4: 913-919.
- 118. Shields, M. J., R. K. Hodgson, and R. K. Ribaudo. 1999. Differential association of beta-2 microglobulin mutants with MHC class I heavy chains and structural analysis demonstrate allele-specific interations. *Mol. Immunol.* 36: 561-573.
- Chun, T., C. J. Aldrich, M. E. Baldeon, L. V. Kawczynski, M. J. Soloski, and H. R. Gaskins. 1998. Constituitive and regulated expression of the class IB molecule Qa-1 in pancreatic beta cells. *Immunology 94: 64-71*.
- 120. Ortaldo, J. R., and H. A. Young. 2003. Expression of IFN-gamma upon triggering of activating Ly49D NK receptors in vitro and in vivo: costimulation with IL-12 or IL-18 overrides inhibitory receptors. J. Immunol. 170: 1763-1769.
- 121. Fahlen, L., U. Lendahl, and C. L. Sentman. 2001. MHC class I-Ly49 interactions shape the Ly49 repertoire on murine NK cells. *J. Immunol.* 166: 6585-6592.
- 122. Hanke, T., H. Takizawa, and D. H. Raulet. 2001. MHC-dependent shaping of the inhibitory Ly49 receptor repertoire on NK cells: evidence for a regulated sequential model. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 31: 3370-3379.
- 123. Held, W., J. R. Dorfman, M. F. Wu, and D. H. Raulet. 1996. Major histocompatibility complex class I-dependent skewing of the natural killer cell Ly49 receptor repertoire. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 26: 2286-2292.
- 124. Williams, N. S., A. Kubota, M. Bennett, V. Kumar, and F. Takei. 2000. Clonal analysis of NK cell development from bone marrow progenitors in vitro: orderly acquisition of receptor gene expression. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 30: 2074-2082.

- 125. Michaelsson, J., A. Achour, M. Salcedo, A. Kase-Sjostrom, J. Sundback, R. A. Harris, and K. Karre. 2000. Visualization of inhibitory Ly49 receptor specificity with soluble major histocompatibility complex class I tetramers. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 30: 300-307.
- 126. Achour, A., J. Michaelsson, R. A. Harris, J. Odeberg, P. Grufman, J. K. Sandberg, V. Levitsky, K. Karre, T. Sandalova, and G. Schneider. 2002. A structural basis for LCMV immune evasion: subversion of H-2D(b) and H-2K(b) presentation of gp33 revealed by comparative crystal structure analysis. *Immunity 17: 757-768.*
- Rudolph, M. G., J. Stevens, J. A. Speir, J. Trowsdale, G. W. Butcher, E. Joly, and I. A. Wilson. 2002. Crystal structures of two rat MHC class Ia (RT1-A) molecules that are associated differentially with peptide transporter alleles TAP-A and TAP-B. J. Mol. Biol. 324: 975-990.